UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Contextualizing risk: examining the impact of substance use on HIV transmission dynamics among a cohort of men who have sex with men

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1771b3wj

Author Blair, Cherie

Publication Date 2021

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Contextualizing risk: examining the impact of substance use on HIV transmission

dynamics among a cohort of men who have sex with men

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Health Policy and Management

by

Cheríe Savine Blair

2021

© Copyright by

Cheríe Savine Blair

2021

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Contextualizing risk: examining the impact of substance use on HIV transmission dynamics among a cohort of men who have sex with men

by

Cheríe Savine Blair

Doctor of Philosophy in Health Policy and Management

University of California, Los Angeles, 2021

Professor Jack Needleman, Chair

Men who have sex with men (MSM) are disproportionately affected by the HIV epidemic and represent 70% of incident HIV cases in the United States, despite constituting 3.9% of the population. These disparities are particularly relevant in the context of the burgeoning stimulant use epidemic, as stimulant use is associated with increased HIV and sexually transmitted infection (STT) prevalence among MSM. Given these contexts, this dissertation consists of three studies that explored the impacts of stimulant use on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among a diverse cohort of MSM in Los Angeles, California. Study one examined the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal STIs using path analysis. Study two consisted of a latent class analysis to determine risk behaviors associated with patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use. Study three used machine learning techniques, specifically least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) and elastic net, for variable selection to determine characteristics associated with increased stimulant use and whether these factors differed in relation to HIV status. This dissertation demonstrated that the factors surrounding stimulant use and HIV/STI transmission dynamics are both nuanced and complex. Our findings reinforced the known associations between syndemic health conditions, such as depression, unstable housing, polysubstance use, and transactional sex, with stimulant use and sexual risk behaviors. However, our results highlight that the factors and contexts surrounding stimulant use and sexual risk behaviors likely differ between MSM subpopulations. For example, Black/Latinx MSM who engaged in stimulant use were more likely to experience syndemic health conditions (e.g., STIs, depressive symptoms) than their Black/Latinx counterparts who did not engage in sexualized stimulant use. Similar differences in stimulant use patterns were observed based on HIV status. Among MSM living with HIV, increased stimulant use correlated highly with reported co-substance use whereas sexual risk behaviors and sexual partnership contexts were correlated with increased stimulant use among HIV-negative MSM. This dissertation demonstrates that the contexts and factors which contribute to stimulant use patterns likely differ between MSM subpopulations and suggest that these differences should be accounted for in the design of HIV prevention and treatment interventions.

The dissertation of Cheríe Savine Blair is approved.

W. Scott Comulada

Pamina Gorbach

Marjan Javanbakht

Jack Needleman, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	ix
Acknowledgements	Х
Vita	xi
Chapter 1. Introduction to the Dissertation	1
Sexual Risk Behavior and STIs	1
Stimulant Use and HIV Transmission Among MSM	
Dissertation Aims	
Motivations and Contributions to the Field	6
Chapter 2. Data Source	8
The mSTUDY Cohort	
Study Population Descriptive Statistics	
Tables and Figures	
Chapter 3. Examining the relative contributions of methamphe	etamine use, depression, and
with men in Los Angeles. California.	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Conceptual Model	
Methods	
Data Source	
Study Procedures	
Measures	
Statistical Analysis	
Results	
Selection of Final Path Model	
Path Models	
Discussion	
Stratification by HIV status	
Conducions	
Tables and Figures	
Appendix	
Chapter 4. Risk behaviors associated with patterns of sexualized	ed stimulant and alcohol use
Abstract	
Introduction	
Methods	40 ΛΩ
Data Source	
Study Procedures	48
Measures	

Statistical Analysis	
Results	55
Class Selection for Final Model	
Final LCA Model and Predictions of Class Membership	
Predicted Class Membership Stratified by Race/Ethnicity	
Discussion	59
Limitations	64
Conclusions	66
Tables and Figures	
Chapter 5. Comparing factors associated with increased stimulant use in	relation to HIV
status using a machine learning and prediction modelling approach	76
Abstract	76
Introduction	
Methods	
Data Source and Study Procedures	
Statistical Analysis	
Results	
Goodness of Fit and Selection of Final Models	
Findings	
Discussion	
Limitations	
Conclusions	
Tables and Figures	
Chapter 6. Conclusions	
References	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Baseline characteristics of participants in the mSTUDY cohort stratified by HIV status 12
Table 2.2 Visit-level STI screening results and self-reported sexual risk behaviors amongparticipants in the mSTUDY cohort stratified by HIV status
Table 3.1 Descriptive statistics and baseline characteristics of mSTUDY cohort stratified by HIV status
Table 3.2 Unstandardized path coefficients of final model, model with both lags and contemporaneous paths (cross-lagged panel mediation model), and model with lags only
Table 3.3 Unstandardized path coefficients of path model evaluating the association of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia41
Table 3.4 Unstandardized path coefficients of lagged panel model evaluating the association of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia stratified by HIV status
Supplemental Table 3.1 Descriptive statistics and baseline characteristics of mSTUDY cohort across timepoints
Supplemental Table 3.2 Pairwise correlation of variables across timepoints43
Table 4.1 Participant characteristics, sexual risk behaviors, mental health, and sexualizedsubstance use reported at mSTUDY visits
Table 4.2 Sexual activities occurring in last 3 months reported at mSTUDY visits
Table 4.3 Descriptive statistics and frequencies of participant characteristics stratified by type of anal intercourse in last 3 months
Table 4.4 LCA goodness of fit indices according to number of classes
Table 4.5 Item response probabilities of each latent class (5-class model)72
Table 4.6 Item response and membership probabilities of the 6-class model
Table 4.7 Multivariable adjusted associations of predicted LCA class membership73
Table 4.8 Multivariable adjusted associations of predicted LCA class membership stratified by race/ethnicity
Table 5.1 Predictors included in lasso and elastic net models
Table 5.2 Goodness of fit indices for lasso and elastic net models for entire cohort 104
Table 5.3 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final lasso model of the entire cohort

Table 5.4 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increasedstimulant use for final lasso model of the entire cohort
Table 5.5 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final elastic net model of the entire cohort
Table 5.6 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increasedstimulant use for final elastic net model of the entire cohort
Table 5.7 Goodness of fit indices for lasso and elastic net models for participants living with HIV 111
Table 5.8 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final lasso model for participants living with HIV
Table 5.9 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increasedstimulant use for final lasso model for participants living with HIV
Table 5.10 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final elastic net model for participants living with HIV
Table 5.11 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increasedstimulant use for final elastic net model for participants living with HIV
Table 5.12 Goodness of fit indices for lasso and elastic net models for HIV-negative participants
Table 5.13 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final lasso model for HIV-negative participants
Table 5.14 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increasedstimulant use for final lasso model for HIV-negative participants118
Table 5.15 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final elastic net model for HIV-negative participants
Table 5.16 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final elastic net model for HIV-negative participants
Table 5.17 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by decreased stimulant use forfinal lasso model for the entire cohort
Table 5.18 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with decreasedstimulant use for final lasso model for the entire cohort
Table 5.18 Unadjusted and adjusted regression coefficients of factors associated with last 6 month reported stimulant use frequency for final lasso model for the entire cohort 126

LIST OF FIGURES

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without my amazing dissertation committee. I sincerely thank Dr. Scott Comulada, Dr. Pamina Gorbach, Dr. Marjan Javanbakht, and my wonderful chair Dr. Jack Needleman for providing their endless support and expertise in the preparation of this dissertation. They have been more than generous with their time over the last few months. I am immensely grateful for their mentorship, and it has been such a pleasure to work with them. I would also like to thank my partner, family, friends, mentors, and colleagues who have been an amazing source of support and encouragement throughout this entire process.

The UCLA Fielding School of Public Health, UCLA Division of Infectious Diseases, and UCLA Specialty Training and Advanced Research (STAR) Program for facilitating and supporting the opportunity to pursue this research. While performing this research, I received tuition and salary support through the STAR program and a T32 post-doctoral training grant through the NIH/National Institutes of Mental Health (NIH/NIMH T32 MH080634). I also received support from NIH/National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) loan repayment program award (L30 AI147119). The mSTUDY is supported by the NIH/National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIH/NIDA U01 DA036267).

VITA

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

2003-2007	Bachelor of Science; Microbiology Bachelor of Arts; Chemistry, Political Science (Double major) Indiana University, Bloomington, IN
2008-2010	Master of Public Health Indiana University, Bloomington, IN
2010-2014	Doctor of Medicine David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA, Los Angeles, CA
2014-2017	Residency in Internal Medicine Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center, Los Angeles, CA
2017-2020	Fellowship in Infectious Diseases University of California, Los Angeles, CA
2018-present	Post-Doctoral Fellow UCLA Specialty Training & Advanced Research (STAR) Program UCLA Department of Medicine, Los Angeles, CA

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

2020-present	Health Sciences Clinical Instructor
	Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases
	David Geffen School of Medicine at UCLA

RESEARCH GRANTS AND FELLOWSHIPS RECEIVED

7/2018-6/2021	 T32 Post-Doctoral Fellowship Funder: NIMH (T32 MH080634-12) Title: Post-doctoral training in global AIDS prevention research Role: post-doctoral fellow (PI: J. Currier)
7/2017-6/2021	 NIH Loan Repayment Program Funder: NIAID Title: Evaluating health disparities toward the development of clinical interventions designed to reduce STI incidence and increase uptake of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis within high-risk populations Role: Principle Investigator
9/2020-4/2022	 UCLA Center for HIV Identification, Prevention and Treatment Services (CHIPTS) Mentored Pilot Grant Funder: CHIPTS, NIMH (P30 MH28107) Title: Evaluating the joint effects of methamphetamine use, HIV, and STIs on inflammation and mucosal HIV shedding Role: Principal Investigator

PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS

Blair, C.S., E. Segura, A. Perez-Brumer, J. Sanchez, J. Lama, J. Clark. Sexual orientation, gender identity and perceived source of infection among men who have sex with men (MSM) and transgender women (TW) recently diagnosed with HIV and/or STI in Lima, Peru. *AIDS Behav.* 2016;20(10):2178-2185. PMID: 26767533.

Blair, C.S., R.C. Passaro, E.R. Segura, J.E. Lake, A.G. Perez-Brumer, J. Sanchez, J.R. Lama, J.L. Clark. Sexual network characteristics of men who have sex with men with syphilis and/or gonorrhoea/chlamydia in Lima, Peru: Network patterns as roadmaps for STI prevention interventions. *Sex Transm Infect.* 2019;95(5):336-341. PMID: 31010954.

Blair, C.S., O.B. Garner, B. Pedone, S. Elias, W.S. Comulada, R.J. Landovitz. Factors associated with repeat rectal *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Chlamydia trachomatis* screening following inconclusive nucleic acid amplification testing: A potentially missed opportunity for screening. *PLoS One.* 2019;14(12). PMID: 31830129.

Blair, C.S., M.R. Beymer, R.M. Kofron, R. Bolan, W.C. Jordan, J.F. Rooney, A.R. Wohl, R.J. Landovitz. PrEP non-adherence, white coat dosing, and HIV risk among a high-risk cohort of men who have sex with men. *Open Forum Infect Dis.* 2020;7(8). PMID: 32851110.

Blair, C.S., M. Javanbakht, W.S. Comulada, E.I. Richter, R. Bolan, S. Shoptaw, P.M. Gorbach. Lubricants and rectal douching: associations with rectal gonorrhea, chlamydia, and/or syphilis infection among men who have sex with men. *Int J STD AIDS*. 2020;31(11):1040-1046. PMID: 32753001.

Blair, C.S., S. Li, G. Chau, L. Cottle, P. Richardson, M.A. Marzinke, S.H. Eschleman, A. Adeyeye, A.R. Rhinehart, D. Margolis, C.W. Hendrix, R.J. Landovitz, and HPTN 077 Study Team. Hormonal contraception use and cabotegravir pharmacokinetics in HIV-uninfected women enrolled in HIV Prevention Trials Network Study 077. *J Aquir Immune Defic Syndr.* 2020;85(1):93-97. PMID: 32452972.

Blair, C.S., S. Dunlap, M. Tzen, C.A. Castro, J.T. Goldbach, I.W. Holloway. Mental health, sexual orientation, and perceived social network support with hazardous alcohol consumption among active duty military men. *Am J Mens Health*. Nov-Dec 2020;14(6). PMID: 33267728.

Blair, C.S., J.E. Lake, R.C. Passaro, S. Chavez-Gomez, E.R. Segura, J. Elliott, J.A. Fulcher, S. Shoptaw, R. Cabello, J.L. Clark. HIV-1 seroconversion is not associated with prolonged rectal mucosal inflammation. acquisition on levels of inflammatory cytokines in the rectal mucosa. *J Aquir Immune Defic Syndr.* 2020;86(5):e134-e138. PMID: 33351532.

Blair, C.S., I.W. Holloway, J.B. Fletcher, C.J. Reback. Network characteristics associated with HIV testing conversations among transgender women in Los Angeles County, California. *AIDS Behav.* 2021 Feb 20;PMID: 33609204.

Inkelas M, **Blair CS**, Furukawa D, Manuel VG, Malenfant JH, Martin E, Emeruwa I, Kuo T, Arangua L, Robles B, Provost LP. Using control charts to understand community variation in COVID-19. *PLoS One*. 2021;16(4):e0248500. PMID: 33930013.

Chapter 1.

Introduction to the Dissertation

Men who have sex with men (MSM) are disproportionately affected by the HIV epidemic and account for approximately 70% of incident HIV cases in the United States, despite representing only 3.9% of the U.S. population.^{1, 2} MSM of color experience significant disparities with regard to HIV, representing 45% of new HIV diagnoses.¹ Furthermore, while overall HIV incidence among MSM has decreased by 7% since 2014, HIV incidence among MSM of color has remained stable,³ suggesting that HIV prevention efforts are either not reaching certain high-risk groups or that the underlying mechanisms that contribute to ongoing HIV transmission are not being adequately addressed by current efforts. To bridge this gap, this dissertation seeks to understand factors that contribute to ongoing HIV transmission among MSM by evaluating the impact of sexually transmitted infections (STIs), risk behavior, and stimulant use on HIV transmission dynamics among a longitudinal cohort of MSM in Los Angeles, California who are living with or at high-risk for HIV.

Sexual Risk Behavior and STIs

Sexual risk behavior, STIs, and substance use are considered to be key factors that contribute to ongoing HIV transmission among MSM.⁴⁻⁷ Condomless anal intercourse, particularly receptive condomless anal intercourse, represents a dominant epidemic driver for HIV within sexual networks that comprise MSM.⁸⁻¹⁰ Receptive anal intercourse has an extremely high per-act and per-partner probability for HIV transmission, which is 18 times higher than vaginal intercourse.¹¹ This high transmission probability is due to the efficient transmission of HIV across the rectal mucosa, which contains high numbers of CD4 T-lymphocytes and dendritic cells that are key target cells for HIV.¹² Furthermore, unlike heterosexual networks, MSM can engage in both insertive (high risk for transmission) and receptive (high risk for acquisition) anal intercourse, which contributes to the rapid and efficient spread of HIV within sexual networks that comprise MSM.^{9,13}

In addition to condomless anal intercourse, STIs, particularly rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia (GC/CT) and syphilis, are independently associated with HIV transmission.^{7, 14-17} STI prevalence in the U.S. has been steadily rising in recent years, with the U.S. experiencing an increase of 19%, 63%, and 71% in prevalence of chlamydia, gonorrhea, and infectious syphilis, respectively, since 2014.¹⁸ STIs promote HIV transmission through two routes: increased susceptibility of the HIV-uninfected person and increased viral shedding among individuals living with HIV.¹⁹⁻²¹ Rectal STIs result in rectal mucosal inflammation, disrupting mucosal epithelial integrity and increasing risk for HIV infection.^{22, 23} This risk is potentiated by abundant levels of CD4 T-lymphocytes and dendritic cells, key target cells for HIV, that are in the rectal mucosa.¹² These risks are compounded by the higher prevalence of mental health comorbidities, particularly anxiety and depression, among MSM, thought to be due in part to minority stress.²⁴⁻²⁶ Higher levels of anxiety and depression symptomatology have been associated with poor linkages to healthcare, comorbid substance use disorders, antiretroviral therapy non-adherence, and increased sexual risk behavior (such as condomless anal intercourse).^{24, 27, 28}

Stimulant Use and HIV Transmission Among MSM

Prevalence of methamphetamine use is substantially higher among MSM (5.9% among HIVnegative and 12.3% among MSM living with HIV) than the general population (0.7%),^{29,30} with a 707% increase in methamphetamine-related mortality in Los Angeles County in the past decade.³¹ Methamphetamine has ingrained itself into the MSM party scene and is frequently consumed at sex clubs, circuit parties (music and dance parties that cater to gay- and bisexually-identified MSM), and bath houses.³²⁻³⁴ Furthermore, methamphetamine use is a significant risk factor for HIV/STI transmission and is temporally related to sexual risk-taking, such as receptive condomless anal intercourse with HIV serodiscordant partners, increased number of sexual partners, and exchange sex.³⁵⁻³⁸

Methamphetamine-using MSM have up to 7 times higher HIV incidence than MSM without methamphetamine use.³⁹ Recent stimulant use was attributed to 32.7% of HIV seroconversions among MSM in a multi-institutional cohort.⁴⁰ Bacterial STIs (e.g., GC/CT and syphilis) are independently associated with HIV seroconversion^{7, 41} and linked to methamphetamine use, driven in part by increased sexual risk behavior and high-risk sexual networks.^{6, 42, 43} Further compounding HIV transmission risk, methamphetamine use is associated with impaired HIV virologic control due to antiretroviral therapy non-adherence,^{44, 45} impaired immune cell function,⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ enhanced intracellular HIV replication^{49, 50} and cell entry.^{51, 52} Lack of HIV virologic control among methamphetamine-using MSM living with HIV, combined with increased HIV/STI prevalence within their sexual networks, contributes to ongoing HIV/STI transmission among within these subpopulations.

These contexts govern the contribution of stimulant use to the ongoing HIV/STI epidemic among MSM, yet prior research consists predominantly of association studies that have either linked stimulant use with risk behaviors or have been cross-sectional in design.^{37, 53-58} Given that stimulant use is associated with increased HIV/STI prevalence among MSM, it is importantly pressing to study the impacts of stimulant use on the biological and behavioral factors that drive HIV/STI transmission among MSM. This dissertation seeks to build upon this knowledge by evaluating the effects of stimulant use on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among a cohort of predominantly MSM of color in Los Angeles, California.

Dissertation Aims

Despite significant advances in the fields of antiretroviral therapy and biomedical HIV prevention, disparities in relation to HIV prevention and treatment remain. These disparities are

particularly relevant in the Western U.S., where the drug linked most with HIV/STI transmission is methamphetamine, and the population impacted the most by HIV/STIs is MSM.^{29, 59} Given these contexts, it is important to understand the influence of stimulant and substance use on HIV/STI transmission dynamics, which can be used to inform targeted HIV prevention interventions and effective public health programming tailored for MSM subpopulations that are most affected by the epidemic. This dissertation seeks to develop this knowledge through three distinct yet related projects 1) Examining the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia; 2) Evaluating risk behaviors associated with patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use; and 3) Comparing factors associated with increased stimulant use in relation to HIV status using a machine learning and prediction modelling approach.

The first aim of this dissertation examined the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia. Many studies have demonstrated that methamphetamine use, mental health, and sexual risk behaviors are associated with an STI diagnosis. However, the relative contributions of these different factors on STI diagnosis are less well understood, particularly when evaluated together. As mental health, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behaviors are all significant drivers of STI transmission, it is important to understand the relative contributions of these factors to better contextualize the HIV/STI epidemic among MSM. This study used path analysis to evaluate the relative contributions of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behaviors on STI diagnosis, while also taking secondary contributors into account, such as HIV status, and sociodemographics. Findings from this analysis could be used to understand which factors contributing to HIV/STI transmission need to be prioritized in public health programming efforts.

The second aim of this dissertation evaluated risk behaviors associated with patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use. Substance use surrounding sexual encounters or during sexual

activity is common among MSM and linked with HIV/STI transmission. However, patterns of substance use have regional variation and change with time. Furthermore, there is a paucity of data examining discrete substance use patterns, particularly in the context of sexual acts. This study seeks to bridge this gap by evaluating patterns of stimulant and alcohol use during specific sexual acts as well as characteristics associated with these discrete patterns. This goal was accomplished by using latent class analysis to identify latent classes of individuals based on their patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use. As risk for HIV/STI acquisition differs according sexual practice (i.e., receptive oral intercourse does not confer the same HIV/STI risk as receptive anal intercourse), it is increasingly important to understand patterns sexual activities that occur within the context of sexualized drug use in order to appropriately conceptualize the impact substance use has on sexual risk and, consequently, HIV/STI transmission among MSM.

The third aim of this dissertation compared factors associated with increased stimulant use in relation to HIV status using a machine learning and prediction modelling approach. Stimulant use is substantially higher among MSM compared to the U.S. general population, with stimulant use, particularly methamphetamine, representing one of the predominant factors contributing to the ongoing HIV epidemic. While stimulant use is linked to risky sexual behaviors, evidence suggests that the stimulant and HIV epidemics among MSM are likely to be complex, nuanced and that contexts surrounding stimulant use may differ according to HIV status. However, data explicitly evaluating factors contributing to increased stimulant use according to HIV status is limited. This study seeks to bridge this gap by evaluating differences in factors associated with reported increases in stimulant use frequency and risk behaviors according to HIV status. This analysis utilized machine learning techniques, specifically least absolute shrinkage operator (lasso) and elastic net, for variable selection and prediction modelling to evaluate factors associated with interval increases in selfreported stimulant use among a longitudinal cohort of MSM. Additionally, a sub-analysis was conducted to evaluate differences in factors associated with increased stimulant use by HIV status.

Motivations and Contributions to the Field

This dissertation has two primary goals. The first goal of the dissertation is to utilize methods, specifically path analysis, latent class analysis, and machine learning techniques, to examine the influence of stimulant use on HIV transmission dynamics within a longitudinal cohort of MSM and to evaluate the extent to which these methods can be used to examine these constructs. The second goal of this dissertation is to provide a more nuanced understanding of the contributions that stimulant use has on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among MSM. This research will make significant contributions to the literature in multiple ways. The analyses contained within this dissertation focuses on subpopulations of MSM that face the largest disparities regarding HIV/STI transmission, and that should be prioritized in public health programming efforts. This dissertation is particularly relevant in the context of the Western U.S., where the substance linked most with HIV/STI transmission is methamphetamine and the population impacted the most by HIV/STIs is MSM, both of which are the focus of this PhD dissertation.^{29, 59} This dissertation will utilize a dataset that comprises a longitudinal cohort of racially/ethnically diverse MSM in Los Angeles, California, which represents a subpopulation of MSM that faces substantial disparities involving HIV/STIs. These analyses will utilize longitudinal data, which will greatly add to the literature, as the current body of knowledge evaluating these constructs have substantially been cross-sectional in design. Furthermore, this dissertation will take a more nuanced approach to the contributions of stimulant use on the HIV/STI epidemic by evaluating the direct and indirect effects of theoretical constructs on HIV/STI transmission, such as substance use, mental health, risk behaviors, and sociodemographics. These findings will add to the current body of knowledge, as research has predominantly consisted of association studies that have either linked stimulant use with risk

behaviors or have been cross-sectional in design.^{37, 53-58} Collectively, findings from this dissertation can provide useful knowledge that can be used to inform HIV prevention and HIV/STI programming efforts.

Chapter 2.

Data Source

The analyses contained in this dissertation utilized data from the Men Who Have Sex with Men and Substance Use Cohort at UCLA Linking Infections, Noting Effects (mSTUDY). The mSTUDY is a NIDA-funded (U01 DA036267; MPIs: Gorbach and Shoptaw) longitudinal cohort of predominantly Black/African American and Latinx/Hispanic MSM. Half of participants were selected for HIV-positive status and half were selected for active substance use. Secondary data from study visits that occurred between August 2014 (study inception) until December 2020 were used for this dissertation.

The mSTUDY Cohort

The mSTUDY is an ongoing longitudinal cohort study that is designed to evaluate the immunological and epidemiological impacts of substance use on HIV transmission dynamics among minority MSM in Los Angeles. The cohort consists predominantly of Black/African American and Latinx/Hispanic MSM. Participants were selected to include half MSM living with HIV and half HIV-negative MSM in the cohort. Additionally, half of the participants were selected for active substance use. Participants living with HIV were recruited from HIV and sexual health clinics associated with the Los Angeles LGBT Center, which provides a broad spectrum of clinical and community resources for the lesbian, gay, and transgender community in Los Angeles. HIV-negative MSM were recruited from the UCLA Vine Street Clinic (a community-based university research clinic) through community flyers and online advertisements. Inclusion criteria for the mSTUDY includes: 18-45 years of age at study enrollment, born male, reporting unprotected anal intercourse with a man in the past 6 months (if HIV-negative), capable of providing informed consent, and willing/able to return to the study every 6 months to complete study-related activities including questionnaires, clinical assessments, and biological specimen collection. The cohort began

enrollment in August 2014 and is ongoing. There are approximately 577 participants enrolled in the mSTUDY and recruitment is ongoing to replace participants that are lost to follow-up.

Study visits in this dataset occurred every 6 months. At each study visit, participants underwent physical examination, laboratory testing, and completion of a computer-assisted selfinterview survey that collected sociodemographic data, information surrounding sexual behaviors and practices, and self-reported substance use. Urine samples as well as rectal and pharyngeal swabs were collected and tested for GC/CT infection with nucleic acid amplification testing (NAAT) technology (Aptima Combo 2, GenProbe, San Diego, CA). Urine samples were collected for toxicology screening for recent substance use. Blood samples were collected for HIV and syphilis testing. Syphilis testing was conducted using the rapid plasma reagin test (RPR) with confirmatory testing performed with the Treponema pallidum particle agglutination test (TPPA). HIV testing among HIV-negative participants was conducted with antibody testing (ELISA) with Western blot confirmation. Primary and secondary syphilis was defined following the Centers for Disease Control determination following positive test results and confirmation from the local health department. The study questionnaire, physical examination, and laboratory testing were completed at all follow-up visits. Participants were compensated for their time (\$75 per completed visit) and STI testing results were made available to participants. Study personnel assisted with notifying participants of their test results and facilitated linkages to care for positive test results. All participants provided written informed consent before enrollment in the study. The mSTUDY has received IRB approval from the Office of the Human Research Protection Program (OHRPP) at UCLA for primary data collection (#18-000876). All secondary data analyses contained in this dissertation were approved by the UCLA OHRPP (#20-002026).

Study Population Descriptive Statistics

9

The study population for these aims will contain all participants and study visits included in the mSTUDY cohort to date. However, analyses that involve STI screening results involved study visits from 8/2014-3/2020, as study visits were converted to remote visits due to the COVID-19 pandemic, limiting the study's ability to collect specimens for STI screening. Data used in the analyses for this dissertation involved demographic and behavioral data as well as HIV/STI screening data that were collected at study visits. Table 2.1 demonstrates baseline descriptive statistics for the 557 participants that have been enrolled in the cohort to date who had completed 2,961 study visits between 8/2014-3/2020. Median range of completed follow-up visits was 5 per participant (range 1-12). Median age of participants was 30 years old (interquartile range [IQR] 26-37). Most participants identified as Latinx/Hispanic 49.0%; n=273) or Black/African American (40.6%; n=226) while 7.0% of participants identified as White/Caucasian (n=39) and 3.4% identified with other racial/ethnic groups (n=31). Many participants had either completed high school (36.7%; n=202) or had attended college (45.2%; n=249). Most participants (67.7%) had an income less than \$10,000 annually.

Table 2.2 shows visit-level STI screening results and sexual risk behaviors for study visits completed prior to March 2020. Participants tested positive for any site (rectal, pharyngeal, genital) gonorrhea and/or chlamydia at 14.3% (n=423) visits and tested positive for syphilis at 4.1 (n=120) visits. Participants reported having a concurrent sexual partner at 39.7% (n=1,056) visits and reported having participated in transactional sex at 16.7% (n=473) of visits. Figure 2.1 demonstrates frequency of last 6-month substance use that was reported across all study visits. Overall, alcohol was the most frequently reported substance, followed by cannabis, methamphetamine, then poppers (e.g., amyl nitrite, butyl nitrite). Any methamphetamine use was reported at 37.3% (n=1,103) and any cocaine use was reported at 20.1% (n=593) of study visits. Approximately 68.2% of participants (n=375) reported any stimulant use (methamphetamine or cocaine) use at a minimum of one study

visit. Among the 375 participants who reported stimulant use at a minimum of one study visit,

56.3% were living with HIV and 43.7% were HIV-negative.

Tables and Figures

	HIV-Negative (n=280)	Living with HIV (n=277)	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Study visits completed ^a	5 (2-7; 1-12)	6 (3-8; 1-11)	5 (3-8; 1-12)
Ageb	27.5 (24-33)	34 (29-39)	30 (26-37)
Race/Ethnicity			
White/Caucasian	16 (5.7%)	23 (8.3%)	39 (7.0%)
Black/African American	115 (41.1%)	111 (40.1%)	226 (40.6%)
Latinx/Hispanic	136 (48.6%)	137 (49.5%)	273 (49.0%)
Other	13 (4.6%)	6 (2.2%)	19 (3.4%)
Education			
Less than High School	27 (9.6%)	42 (15.5%)	69 (12.5%)
High School	100 (35.7%)	102 (37.6%)	202 (36.7%)
Undergraduate/Some college	136 (48.6%)	113 (41.7%)	249 (45.2%)
Graduate	17 (6.1%)	14 (5.2%)	31 (5.6%)
Income			
Less than \$10k annually	154 (61.6%)	185 (73.7%)	339 (67.7%)
\$10k-\$30k annually	62 (24.8%)	49 (19.5%)	111 (22.2%)
Over \$30k annually	34 (13.6%)	17 (6.8%)	51 (10.2%)

Table 2.1 Baseline characteristics of participants in the mSTUDY cohort stratified by HIV status, August 2014-March 2020 (n=557)

^aMedian (IQR; range); ^bMedian (IQR)

Table 2.2 Visit-level STI screening results and self-reported sexual risk behaviors among participants in the mSTUDY cohort stratified by HIV status August 2014-March 2020 (n=2,961 study visits)

	HIV-Negative n=1,396	Living with HIV n=1,572	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
STI Screening Results			
Gonorrhea/Chlamydia ^a			
Negative	1,216 (87.2%)	1,322 (84.4%)	2,538 (85.7%)
Positive	179 (12.8%)	244 (15.6%)	423 (14.3%)
Syphilis			
Negative	1,366 (98.2%)	1,475 (93.9%)	2,841 (96.0%)
Positive	25 (1.8%)	95 (6.1%)	120 (4.1%)
Sexual Risk Behaviors			
Number male partners ^{b,c}	3 (1-6; 0-500)	2 (1-6; 0-1,200)	2 (1-6; 0-1,200)
Number RAI partners ^{b,c}	1 (0-3; 0-400)	2 (1-5; 0-1,100)	1 (1-4; 0-1,100)
Sexual concurrency ^b			
No	709 (56.2%)	892 (63.9%)	1,601 (60.3%)
Yes	553 (43.8%)	503 (36.1%)	1,056 (39.7%)
Transactional sex (last 3 months)			
No	1,112 (83.7%)	1,244 (82.9%)	2,356 (83.3%)
Yes	216 (16.3%)	257 (17.1%)	473 (16.7%)

^aAny site (urethral, pharyngeal, rectal); ^bLast 6 months; ^cMedian (IQR; range); RAI = receptive anal intercourse



Figure 2.1 Self-reported last 6-month substance use frequency stratified by HIV status, mSTUDY August 2014-March 2020 (n=2,961 study visits)

Cocaine = cocaine powder, crack cocaine; Opiates = heroin, prescription opiates, fentanyl; Other party drugs = GHB, special K, mushrooms, LSD; Poppers = amyl nitrite, butyl nitrite; Other prescription drugs = erectile dysfunction medications, benzodiazepines

Chapter 3.

Examining the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia among a cohort of men who have sex with men in Los Angeles, California

Abstract

Background: Methamphetamine use, sexual risk behaviors, and depression are thought to contribute to ongoing HIV and sexually transmitted infection (STI) disparities among men who have sex with men (MSM). However, the relative contributions of these effects longitudinally are not as well understood. This analysis aimed to identify the longitudinal effects of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behaviors on rectal STIs.

Methods: This analysis used visit-level data from a longitudinal cohort of MSM, half with HIV and half with substance use, in Los Angeles, California. From 8/2014-3/2020, participants completed follow-up visits every 6 months and underwent screening for rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia (GC/CT) and completed surveys on depressive symptoms, number of receptive anal intercourse (RAI) partners, and methamphetamine use frequency. Structural equation modelling was used to conduct a path analysis with a cross-lagged panel design to identify the relative contributions of methamphetamine use and depression on number of RAI partners and number of RAI partners on rectal GC/CT across time. Separate path models were created stratified based on HIV status to evaluate differences in paths based on HIV status.

Results: 557 MSM across 6 study visits (3 years) were included for a total of 2,437 observations. Methamphetamine use and depressive symptoms were positively associated with number of RAI partners which was positively associated with rectal GC/CT. Past depressive symptoms, methamphetamine use, and number of RAI partners were associated with future depressive symptoms, methamphetamine use, and RAI partners, respectively. When stratified by HIV status, depressive symptoms were positively associated with RAI partners for HIV-negative MSM but was not associated for MSM living with HIV.

Conclusions: Factors and patterns which contribute to risk behaviors may differ according to HIV status. Our findings demonstrate the potential utility of combined treatment and prevention efforts that link screening and treatment of stimulant use and depression with HIV/STI prevention and treatment.

Introduction

Sexual risk behavior, sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and substance use are considered to be key factors that contribute to ongoing HIV transmission among men who have sex with men (MSM).⁴⁷ This observation is particularly true in the context of methamphetamine use, which has been independently associated with HIV/STI transmission among MSM and is driven by risky sexual behaviors occurring within high-risk sexual networks.^{6, 42, 43} Prevalence of methamphetamine use is highest in the Western U.S. with past year methamphetamine use reported among 1.2% of individuals over 18 years old, compared to 0.7% prevalence reported nationally.⁶⁰ In the Western U.S., methamphetamine is linked to more HIV/STI transmission than any other substance.^{29, 59} Among MSM, methamphetamine is often used in sexual contexts and socially, leading to increased sexual risk behaviors and risk for HIV/STI transmission.^{35, 42} Methamphetamine use among MSM is further compounded by the high prevalence of mental health comorbidities that are experienced by this population, with MSM experiencing 17% higher rates of depression compared to heterosexual men, thought to be due in part to minority stress.^{24-26, 61} Higher levels of depression symptomatology have been associated with poor linkages to healthcare, comorbid substance use disorders, antiretroviral therapy non-adherence, and increased sexual risk behaviors (such as condomless anal intercourse).^{24, 27, 28}

While the associations of methamphetamine use, sexual risk behaviors, and mental health comorbidities with increased HIV/STI transmission have been well-established in the literature, the relative contributions of these factors are less well understood, particularly when considered together. Furthermore, prior research evaluating these constructs has predominantly been crosssectional in nature.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ As mental health comorbidities (especially depression) and methamphetamine use disorder are often chronic conditions that contribute to sexual risk behavior and thus HIV/STI transmission among MSM, it is important to understand the relative contributions of these factors

longitudinally in order to better contextualize the HIV/STI epidemic and to develop targeted, efficacious HIV/STI prevention interventions. To address this gap, this study will utilize path analysis with a cross-lagged panel design to understand the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behaviors on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia (GC/CT) infection among a high-risk cohort of MSM. A strength of this analysis is that it will utilize data from a relatively young cohort of MSM, representing a population that is at highest risk for HIV/STI transmission, with individuals living with and without HIV – allowing for consideration of contributions to both transmission and acquisition of HIV. Findings from this analysis will help contextualize which contributors to HIV/STI transmission need to be prioritized in public health programming efforts.

Conceptual Model

Figure 3.1 demonstrates the conceptual model, which demonstrates our cross-sectional framework that was incorporated into the cross-lagged panel model. Theoretical relationships between constructs are described below.





Methamphetamine use

<u>Depression and methamphetamine use.</u> While the link between depression and methamphetamine use within the literature is well-established, the directionality of this relationship is unclear.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ The uncertainty of directionality between depression and methamphetamine use is

reflected in the conceptual model by allowing depression and methamphetamine use to covary. Chronic methamphetamine use is linked with depression, possibly due to reductions in dopamine stores and damage to serotonin and dopamine nerve terminals that result from chronic use.^{68, 69} Methamphetamine has also been demonstrated to induce depressive symptoms, which tend to be more severe with methamphetamine compared to other substances.⁷⁰⁻⁷² Conversely, pre-existing depression may predispose individuals to use methamphetamine. In a large survey of adult methamphetamine users, 41.6% of participants endorsed a history of depression.⁷³ Studies have demonstrated that increased severity of depressive symptoms is associated with higher frequency of methamphetamine use and greater risk of relapse.^{74, 75} Furthermore, treatment of concomitant depression has been shown to prevent relapse among methamphetamine using individuals.⁷⁶

Depression and sexual risk behavior. Multiple studies have demonstrated that depression is associated with increased sexual risk behavior among MSM, though results have been mixed.⁷⁷⁻⁸¹ It has been hypothesized that MSM may utilize sexual intercourse and sensation-seeking (i.e., risky sexual behavior) as a method to mitigate the negative symptoms associated with depression.^{27, 82} Furthermore, MSM with depressive symptoms may utilize avoidant coping to manage their symptoms, which has been associated with condomless intercourse with serodiscordant partners.^{83, 84} Depressive symptoms may also result in distortions in perceived social norms as well as lower selfefficacy with regard to HIV preventative behaviors, resulting in increased sexual risk behaviors.^{85, 86}

Methamphetamine and sexual risk behavior. Methamphetamine use is associated with increased risk behaviors for HIV/STI acquisition, including group sex, sexual concurrency, condomless intercourse with non-primary partners and partners of unknown HIV status, and increased number of sexual partners.^{35, 38, 42, 53, 87} Furthermore, methamphetamine use has been temporally related to increased sexual risk-taking, with a recent longitudinal study demonstrating that sexual risk behavior increased following initiation of methamphetamine use.³⁷ The associations

between methamphetamine use and sexual risk behaviors are thought to be due, in part, to the collective psychological and physiological effects of methamphetamine, which results in increased libido, impulsivity, and sexual stamina as well as decreased inhibitions.⁸⁸ While these effects often result in the frequent consumption of methamphetamine in sexualized settings among MSM,^{34, 88} acute intoxication with methamphetamine can also impair negotiations with sexual partners such as the ability to provide consent as well as condom use.^{89, 90}

Sexual risk behavior and STIs. Sexual risk behaviors, particularly condomless receptive anal intercourse (RAI) confers an increased risk of HIV/STI transmission.^{11, 91} With the advent of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) and treatment as HIV prevention (TasP), condom use among MSM has declined, which has contributed to increased STI incidence within this population.⁹²⁻⁹⁴ Rectal STIs are of particular public health importance as they result in increased risk of HIV transmission.^{7, 16}

Methods

Data Source

We analyzed data collected as part of the Men Who Have Sex with Men and Substance Use Cohort at UCLA Linking Infections, Noting Effects (mSTUDY; U01 DA036267; MPIs Gorbach and Shoptaw). The mSTUDY is a longitudinal cohort of predominantly Black/African American and Latinx/Hispanic MSM that is designed to evaluate the impact of substance use on HIV transmission dynamics among minority MSM in Los Angeles. The cohort consists of half MSM living with HIV and half with active substance use at enrollment. HIV-negative MSM were recruited from the UCLA Vine Street Clinic (a community-based university research clinic) through community flyers and online advertisements. Participants living with HIV were recruited from sexual health and HIV clinics associated with the Los Angeles LGBT Center, which provides a broad spectrum of clinical and community resources for the lesbian, gay, and transgender community in Los Angeles. Inclusion criteria for the mSTUDY cohort were: 1) 18-45 years old at study enrollment, 2) born male, 3) condomless anal intercourse with a man in past 6 months (if HIV-negative). Participant enrollment for the mSTUDY started in August 2014 with participants having follow-up every six months. At the time of this analysis, 557 MSM have been enrolled in the mSTUDY cohort. This analysis consists of study visits that occurred between August 2014 and March 2020 from all 557 MSM across 6 study visits (3 years) for a total of 2,437 observations. Not all participants were followed across all 6 study visits as some participants were enrolled within the past 3 years (recruitment is ongoing to replace participant dropout) or due to participant dropout.

Study Procedures

Following written informed consent, participants underwent clinician interview, specimen collection (rectal and pharyngeal swabs and urine) for STI testing, substance use testing (data not reported here), and completion of a computer-assisted self-interview survey at each study visit that collected sociodemographic data as well as information regarding sexual risk behaviors, depression symptoms, and substance use. STI screening was conducted at each visit using rectal swabs that were tested for GC/CT infection with nucleic acid amplification testing (NAAT) (Aptima Combo 2, GenProbe, San Diego, CA). HIV screening used antibody testing (ELISA) with Western blot confirmation. STI/HIV testing results were made available to participants, and study personnel assisted with notifying participants of their test results and facilitated linkages to care for positive test results.

Measures

Sociodemographics. Age at baseline visit was reported in years and is continuous. Participants self-reported their race/ethnicity, and options included American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian, Asian Indian, Black or African American, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, White, Hispanic or Latinx or Spanish, or other race. As this cohort consisted predominantly of Black/African American and Latinx/Hispanic MSM, this variable was trichotomized to Black, Latinx, and non-Black/non-Latinx.

<u>HIV status.</u> At enrollment, participants underwent HIV screening. HIV status is a dichotomous variable (living with HIV or HIV-negative).

Depression. Depressive symptoms were measured using the Center for Epidemiological Studies – Depression (CESD) scale. The CESD is a validated 20-item measure that asks participants to rank how often they have experienced depressive symptoms, such as feelings of loneliness, sadness, or hopelessness as well as having restless sleep or poor appetite.⁹⁵ Response options ranged from 0 to 3 for each item (0 = "rarely or none of the time," 1 = "some or little of the time," 2 = "moderately or much of the time," 3 = "most or almost all the time"). Scores ranged from 0-60 with higher scores indicative of more severe depressive symptoms. Cutoff scores of 16 or greater are used to identify individuals who are at risk for clinical depression and the measure has been demonstrated to have good sensitivity and high internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.85-0.90.^{95,96} This variable was dichotomized with a variable cutoff of 23, as a cutoff of 23 was determined to be more optimal to evaluate clinical depression risk among individuals living with HIV.⁹⁷ Depressive symptoms were dichotomized to positive and negative CESD score (< 23 or \geq 23).

Methamphetamine use. Methamphetamine use in past six months was adapted from the Alcohol, Smoking, and Substance Involvement Screening Test (ASSIST).⁹⁸ Participants were asked the question "In the past 6 months, how often have you used methamphetamine (speed, crystal meth, ice, etc.)?". Response options were on an ordinal scale (0 = "None," 1 = "Once," 2 = "Less often," 3 = "Monthly," 4 = "Weekly," and 5 = "Daily"). As using an ordinal scale assumes equal, one-point differences between response options (e.g., differences between daily and weekly use are treated as a one-point difference when daily methamphetamine use may actually be 7 times higher than weekly methamphetamine use), a sensitivity analysis was conducted where the number of

receptive anal intercourse (RAI) partners was regressed on methamphetamine use separately as a ordinal variable and as a categorical variable with 5 levels (data not shown). When methamphetamine use was evaluated categorically, it revealed a monotonic increase with the different levels of methamphetamine use. However, there was not a standard difference between the different levels of categorical methamphetamine use, suggesting that weighting different levels of methamphetamine use would not add much improvement. Additionally, when comparing the regression models with categorical and continuous methamphetamine use, the R² between the models were similar, suggesting that treating methamphetamine as categorical variable would not provide much improvement in precision. As such, an ordinal scale was ultimately selected 1) to maintain fidelity with how the question was worded in the original survey and 2) because structural equation modelling, which does not allow for categorical data, was used to create the path models.

Sexual risk behavior. As our outcome variable was rectal GC/CT infection, sexual risk behavior was measured by self-reported number of receptive anal intercourse (RAI) partners in past 6 months (continuous). As this variable was highly right skewed (median 1; interquartile range [IQR] 0-3; range 0-1,100 partners), this variable was transformed using Winsorization to a maximum value of 15 (95th percentile of reported RAI partners).

<u>Rectal GC/CT.</u> Participants underwent screening for rectal GC/CT at each study visit. Positive rectal GC/CT was defined as positive screening for rectal gonorrhea and/or chlamydia based on NAAT testing. Rectal GC/CT is a dichotomous variable (positive versus negative screen). Statistical Analysis

The purpose of this analysis was to evaluate how methamphetamine use, sexual risk behaviors, and depressive symptoms contribute to positive rectal GC/CT longitudinally. Descriptive statistics including median, range, and frequency distributions were utilized to characterize the study sample and predictors of interest. As the relationship between depressive symptoms and
methamphetamine use on rectal GC/CT is mediated by sexual risk behavior, we created a crosslagged panel mediation model adapted from Selig & Preacher using a structural equation modeling (SEM) approach, given the longitudinal nature of the data.⁹⁹ A strength of the cross-lagged panel mediation model is that it can be used to evaluate both interindividual changes in predictors and their downstream effects over time, such as the effect of past methamphetamine use on future methamphetamine use or past depressive symptoms on future sexual risk behaviors.^{99, 100} Furthermore, the use of a cross-lagged panel mediation model using longitudinal data allows us to test the relationships and mediation paths between variables in a more rigorous manner and to control for time-varying confounding compared to if the path model was created using a crosssectional design.

The cross-lagged panel mediation model (Figure 3.2) was developed from our cross-sectional conceptual model. Lagged paths across timepoints were used to evaluate each construct as a function of the same construct at a previous timepoint (e.g., a path from methamphetamine use at Time 1 (T1) to methamphetamine use at Time 2 (T2) or depressive symptoms at T1 to number of RAI partners at T2). These lagged paths were used to evaluate the interindividual changes in predictors and to evaluate the effect of past behaviors on future behaviors (e.g., the effect of past methamphetamine use on future methamphetamine use). Contemporaneous paths (e.g., at the same timepoint) according to our cross-sectional conceptual model were created to evaluate the paths between methamphetamine use and sexual risk behavior, depressive symptoms and sexual risk behavior, and sexual risk behavior and rectal GC/CT at each timepoint.

Of note, our cross-lagged panel model contains a contemporaneous (i.e., at the same timepoint) path in addition to a lagged path from sexual risk behavior to rectal GC/CT, where published examples of cross-lagged panel models typically have a lagged path from the mediator variable (sexual risk behavior) to the outcome variable (rectal GC/CT) only.^{99, 100} The rationale for

this was that rectal GC/CT infection was a downstream result of the preceding risk behaviors that were reported at the same visit where the GC/CT testing occurred. As such, the presence or absence of rectal GC/CT infection was already lagged from the number of RAI partners in last 6 months that were reported at the same visit. An additional deviation from published cross-lagged panel models was that direct paths from methamphetamine use and depression to rectal GC/CT were not included in our model, as the relationship between methamphetamine use and depression with rectal GC/CT is fully mediated by sexual risk behavior (i.e., depressive symptoms cannot cause rectal GC/CT without sexual risk behavior).

Models were fit using SEM with maximum likelihood with missing values (mlmv), which retains as much information as possible by using equation-wise instead of list-wise deletion of missing values.¹⁰¹ This method relies on the assumption of joint normality of all variables. Given the repeated measures in this dataset, all paths that were repeated across timepoints were constrained to provide one aggregate value across timepoints to reduce the number of coefficients reported and to aid in the interpretability of our results. After models were created, we iteratively calculated modification indices to select correlated error terms to improve model fit.^{101,102} Only error terms that made sense conceptually were allowed to be correlated, therefore correlated error terms were limited to repeated measures of the same variable (e.g., depressive symptoms at T1 with depressive symptoms at T2) and methamphetamine use with depressive symptoms at the same timepoint, as the literature demonstrates that there is a relationship between methamphetamine and depression but the directionality is unclear.^{71, 73, 75}

Goodness of fit was evaluated using the following goodness of fit indices: the chi-square test, root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), the comparative fit index (CFI), and the Tucker Lewis index (TLI).^{103, 104} Non-significant chi-square goodness of fit tests (p > 0.05) are supportive of a better fitting model, but are dependent on sample size, and were therefore assessed

in the context of other goodness of fit indices.¹⁰⁴ The RMSEA was used to evaluate the degree to which data deviate from the model with a cutoff of < 0.05 indicating a good fit.¹⁰⁴ The CFI compared the specified model with the null model assuming zero covariances within the observed variables and is based on non-centrality, and a CFI cutoff of > 0.90 was used.¹⁰³ The TLI compared the lack of a fit of the specified model to the lack of fit of the null model and penalized for model complexity, and a TLI cutoff of > 0.90 was used.¹⁰³ Sample size recommendations in the literature are to have a minimum of 20 observations per variable included in the model.¹⁰⁵ As our models include 96 variables across all timepoints, this would suggest that a sample of 1,920 would be required to achieve adequate power. As our analysis utilized data from 2,437 observations, our sample size was adequate. Unstandardized β coefficients were reported, as reporting of unstandardized β have been recommended to allow for researchers to compare effect sizes across studies.¹⁰⁵

After models were fit, we compared models with contemporaneous paths only, lagged paths only, and both contemporaneous and lagged paths to 1) determine the impact that lagged paths had on our models, 2) evaluate whether certain lagged paths should be eliminated from the model, and 3) examine the stability of our coefficients with/without lagged paths. We found that the overall magnitude and stability of our coefficients were stable across paths. We selected the model with contemporaneous paths (no lags) as our final model, due to multicollinearity in the model that resulted from including both contemporaneous and lagged paths (see Figure 3.3 for final model, see Results for rationale in selecting final model).

We also stratified our final model by HIV status to evaluate whether there were any differences in the relationships between depressive symptoms, methamphetamine use, sexual risk behavior, and rectal GC/CT according to HIV status. To understand how predictors differed between those living with and without HIV, descriptive statistics of baseline predictors stratified by

HIV status were obtained prior to fitting the stratified path model. Differences between participant demographic factors, methamphetamine use, depressive symptoms, RAI partners, and rectal GC/CT according to HIV status were assessed with bivariate analyses using chi-square analysis for categorical predictors and Kruskal-Wallis tests for continuous variables. All analyses were conducted using Stata 15.1 (StataCorp, College Town, TX).

Results

This sample consisted of 557 participants across 2,437 observations, with 48.7% (n=271/557) having follow-up through their sixth visit. At baseline, median age was 30 years (IQR 26-37) and 278 (49.9%) of participants were living with HIV (Table 3.1). Most participants were either Black (40.6%) or Latinx (49.0%). Median CESD baseline score was 18 (IQR 10-28), with 37.5 of participants reporting symptoms concerning for depression (CESD \geq 23). Median number of last 6-month RAI partners was 2 (IQR 0-5) and 11.1% of participants had rectal GC/CT at baseline (n=62). Almost half (44.2%) of participants reported methamphetamine use in last 6 months. When stratified by HIV status, participants living with HIV were older (median age 34, IQR 28-39) compared to HIV-negative MSM (28; 34-33). Participants living with HIV also had higher prevalence of methamphetamine use at baseline (57.6%) compared to those who were HIV-negative (30.9%). Distribution of participant characteristics and variables of interest remained stable across all six timepoints (Appendix - Supplemental Table 3.1).

Selection of Final Path Model

A sensitivity analysis was conducted that compared path coefficients between the model without lags (contemporaneous paths only), the model with lags only, and the full model (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.4). The magnitude of β coefficients evaluating the same variable across timepoints (e.g., past methamphetamine use on future methamphetamine use) were similar across all models for depression, methamphetamine use, RAI partners, and rectal GC/CT. In the model with lags only,

lagged methamphetamine use was not associated with number of RAI partners with the β coefficient having a small magnitude with wide confidence interval (β =0.027; 95% CI -0.052-0.106). These findings suggest that the relationship between lagged methamphetamine use and RAI partners is unstably estimated when evaluating lagged paths only, which may be due to these variables being separated by a long period of time.^{106, 107} Similarly, lagged depression was not associated with number of RAI partners (β =0.068; 95% CI -0.210-0.345).

In the model with both contemporaneous and lagged paths, including a contemporaneous path estimating methamphetamine use on RAI partners substantially reduced the lagged effect of methamphetamine use and resulted in a negative association between lagged methamphetamine use and future RAI partners (β = -0.233; 95% CI -0.331- -0.136). Additionally, the magnitude of the β coefficient of contemporaneous methamphetamine use increased in the model with lagged and contemporaneous paths (β = 0.417; 95% CI 0.320-0.513) compared to the model with contemporaneous paths only (0.284; 0.205-0.364). Collectively, these findings suggest that when the effects of both lagged and contemporaneous methamphetamine use on RAI partners are included in the same model, these variables compete for variance and result in unstable and biased estimates. These findings are likely due to multicollinearity, as methamphetamine use and RAI partners are highly correlated across timepoints (Appendix – Supplemental Table 3.2). Multicollinearity resulting in biased estimates is similarly observed with lagged depression on RAI partners, which also has a negative β coefficient, though this relationship was not associated. However, unlike methamphetamine use and depression, rectal GC/CT does not appear have the same collinearity issues across timepoints. As such, in our model with contemporaneous and lagged paths, the number of lagged and contemporaneous RAI partners were both associated with rectal GC/CT (β = 0.006; 95% CI 0.002-0.009 and 0.013; 0.009-0.016, respectively) and their coefficients had similar magnitude as the models that evaluated the lagged and contemporaneous effects separately. This

finding further supports the concern that the estimates for methamphetamine use and depression may be biased when lagged and contemporaneous paths are included in the same model. As such, we selected the model with contemporaneous paths only as our final model, which still accounts for upstream impacts and potential time-varying confounding.

Path Models

Table 3.3 presents the unstandardized path coefficients constrained across timepoints for our final model. Both methamphetamine use (β =0.284; 95% CI 0.205-0.364) and depression (0.334; 0.058-0.610) were positively associated with number of RAI partners reported at the same visit. Number of RAI partners in last 6 months was associated with rectal GC/CT infection (β =0.015; 95% CI 0.012-0.018). Past depressive symptoms, methamphetamine use, and number of RAI partners were associated with future depressive symptoms, methamphetamine use, and RAI partners, respectively. Similarly, past rectal GC/CT infection was associated with future rectal GC/CT (β =0.101; 95% CI 0.049-0.153).

When stratified by HIV status, depressive symptoms were positively associated with number of RAI partners in last 6 months for HIV-negative MSM (β =0.495; 95% CI 0.137-0.854) but was not associated among MSM living with HIV (0.121; -0.293-0.535) (Table 3.4). Methamphetamine use was positively associated with number of RAI partners for both groups, though a slightly higher magnitude of association was observed among MSM living with HIV (β =0.379; 95% CI 0.263-0.495) compared to those who were HIV-negative (0.252; 0.131-0.372). Past depressive symptoms and methamphetamine use were associated with future depressive symptoms and methamphetamine use for both groups, respectively. The positive association of past number of RAI partners on number of future RAI partners had a higher magnitude of association among MSM living with HIV (β = 0.436; 95% CI 0.375-0.496) compared to their HIV-negative counterparts (0.196; 0.051-0.342). However, the positive association between number of RAI partners in last 6 months and rectal GC/CT were similar in magnitude between both groups (β =0.015; 95% CI 0.012-0.019 for MSM living with HIV and 0.013; 0.009-0.018 for HIV-negative MSM). While past rectal GC/CT infection was associated with future rectal GC/CT among MSM living with HIV (β =0.142; 95% CI 0.077-0.207), past and future rectal GC/CT were not associated among HIV-negative MSM.

Discussion

Our findings demonstrate that depression and methamphetamine use were positively associated with number of RAI partners which, in turn, was associated with rectal GC/CT. While associations between depression and methamphetamine use with risky sexual behaviors and HIV/STI transmission have been well-documented in the literature,^{36, 37, 108, 109} our analysis extends the current body of knowledge by using a path analysis on longitudinal data that utilizes a laboratory diagnosis (not self-report) of rectal GC/CT. The design of our panel model enables us to evaluate contemporaneous effects as well as the effects of past behaviors on future outcomes.

Methamphetamine use was positively associated with number of RAI partners which was not unexpected as methamphetamine use has been associated with increased sexual risk behaviors.^{35,} ³⁸ Past methamphetamine use was strongly associated with future methamphetamine use, with the highest magnitude of association of all paths included in our model. These findings are consistent with previous research demonstrating high rates of sustained methamphetamine use among younger MSM subpopulations.^{110, 111} Given the association of methamphetamine use with sexual risk behaviors and the persistence of methamphetamine use over time, these findings demonstrate the importance of prioritizing screening and treatment of substance use disorders in STI screening and HIV prevention programs.

In addition to methamphetamine use, depressive symptoms were positively associated with number of RAI partners. Depressive symptoms may lead to sexual risk behaviors as a means to mitigate negative symptoms through sensation-seeking, reliance on avoidant coping mechanisms, or lower self-efficacy surrounding HIV preventative behaviors.^{27, 84, 86} Our results suggest that methamphetamine use and depressive symptoms may persist over time. As higher levels of methamphetamine use have been shown to worsen depressive symptoms, it is possible that depressive symptoms may contribute to co-morbid methamphetamine use and vice versa.¹¹²⁻¹¹⁴ Furthermore, severe depressive symptoms occurring in the context of co-morbid methamphetamine use may act synergistically to increase sexual risk-taking and ongoing HIV/STI transmission within the sexual networks of methamphetamine-using MSM.¹¹⁵ These findings demonstrate the importance of aggressive screening for depressive symptoms and methamphetamine use disorders among MSM at risk for HIV, particularly given the elevated prevalence of methamphetamine and depression that is observed within this population.^{29, 30, 116, 117} An additional benefit of prioritizing methamphetamine treatment among methamphetamine-using MSM with depressive symptoms is that treatment for methamphetamine use disorder has been demonstrated to reduce depressive symptoms.¹¹²

While the path between number of RAI partners and rectal GC/CT was strongly associated, the magnitude of this path was relatively low (β =0.015) - the reasons for this observation are likely multifactorial. First, the number of RAI partners in last 6 months variable was on a continuous scale (0-15), while depression was dichotomous and methamphetamine use was ordinal with 6 levels (0-5). As RAI partners had more levels compared to methamphetamine use and depression, the magnitude of change with each unit increase in RAI partners was comparatively lower. Additionally, the lower magnitude of RAI partners may have been due to omitted variables bias. While number of RAI partners is a risk factor for HIV/STI transmission, the factors that contribute to sexual risk and HIV/STI transmission are numerous, complex, and may not have been completely captured in our analysis. For example, it is possible that a participant may have had a main partner who engaged in high-risk sexual behavior and had concurrent partnerships. As such, while the participant may have reported their main partner as their only RAI partner, it is possible that this partner may have been high-risk in terms of HIV/STI transmission. Finally, the path between RAI partners and rectal GC/CT may have been influenced by the overall sexual network prevalence of rectal GC/CT in our sample, given the relatively high prevalence of rectal GC/CT in this cohort.

Stratification by HIV status

When stratifying by HIV status, methamphetamine use was positively associated with number of RAI partners for both groups. The magnitude of association for RAI partners over time was higher for MSM who were living with HIV compared to HIV-negative MSM. Similarly, MSM living with HIV had a slightly higher magnitude of association between methamphetamine use and RAI partners compared to MSM who were HIV-negative, though their confidence intervals overlapped. While it is clear that methamphetamine use is linked with risky sexual behaviors regardless of HIV status, these findings demonstrate that the epidemic of methamphetamine use among MSM is likely complex and multifaceted.^{118, 119} The higher magnitudes of association between methamphetamine use and RAI partners as well as RAI partners over time that were observed among MSM living with HIV may be related to increased stimulant-associated sexual risk behaviors. These stimulant-associated risk behaviors may have led to HIV acquisition and may have also persisted following HIV seroconversion.¹²⁰

In addition, motivations and settings associated with methamphetamine use may differ according to status. For example, qualitative evidence demonstrated that MSM living with HIV tended to use methamphetamine for sexual reasons while HIV-negative MSM used methamphetamine socially, which may be demonstrated by the higher magnitude of RAI partners over time that was observed among MSM living with HIV.¹¹⁹ Furthermore, in a study evaluating methamphetamine use patterns between MSM living with and without HIV, MSM living with HIV were more likely to report methamphetamine use in sexualized settings, such as bath houses or sex parties, and to avoid unpleasant emotions or social pressures compared to their HIV-negative counterparts.¹²¹ The higher use of methamphetamine in sexual contexts among MSM living with HIV suggests that methamphetamine may be used as an avoidant coping strategy to deal with an HIV diagnosis or to dismiss potential fears or anxieties associated with sexual activity.^{119, 122} Collectively, these motivations and contexts of methamphetamine use among MSM living with HIV may result in comparatively riskier sexual behaviors compared to HIV-negative MSM. This is further supported by the finding that rectal GC/CT was associated across timepoints among MSM living with HIV, yet not among their HIV-negative counterparts. These results suggest that MSM living with HIV may have more persistent sexual risk behaviors within networks of high HIV/STI prevalence and demonstrate the need for aggressive STI screening as well as efforts to achieve and maintain virologic control within this population.

Interestingly, depression was positively associated with RAI partners among HIV-negative MSM, yet this path was not associated among participants living with HIV. One possibility for this observation could be that participants living with HIV may be more likely to receive treatment for their depressive symptoms through their HIV-related care. An additional consideration may be related to our use of RAI partners as a count variable. Previous studies investigating the relationship between depression and sexual risk have been mixed.^{81, 123} These discrepant findings may be due to how sexual risk was operationalized, as it has been demonstrated that using sexual risk behavior as a count variable (e.g., number of RAI partners) may be more sensitive than using a dichotomous variable when evaluating the relationship between sexual risk and depression.⁶² For example, Houston et al. used a count variable to evaluate episodes of condomless anal intercourse and found that depression was associated with condomless anal intercourse among HIV-negative MSM but was not associated among MSM living with HIV.¹²⁴ In a study evaluating day-level behavioral risk associated with affective states, increased sexual risk behavior occurred during days where

participants reported diminished positive affect, suggesting that the effect of depressive symptoms on risk behaviors may be event-driven and that aggregate measures of risk may be insensitive.⁸² Consequently, our analytic approach may have been sensitive enough to capture the differential impacts of depression according to HIV status.

Certain factors that are distinct to HIV-negative MSM may also contribute the relationship between depressive symptoms and sexual risk among HIV-negative participants. In a qualitative study involving MSM who were predominantly HIV-negative, participants who reported depressive symptoms were more likely to have increased sexual interest and to utilize sexual contact as a means of validation or to improve negative symptoms.¹²⁵ Depression may also lead to increased sexual risktaking due to diminished concern about negative consequences and HIV risk.^{126, 127} This finding is particularly relevant in the context of our findings as RAI poses a greater health risk for HIVnegative MSM compared to those living with HIV. It is also possible that sexual risk-taking among HIV-negative MSM with depressive symptoms may be related to the desire for intimacy or fatalistic beliefs with staying HIV-negative.^{128, 129} Conversely, anxiety related to acquiring HIV from sexual risk behaviors may result in increased anxiety or depressive symptoms among HIV-negative participants.¹³⁰ These findings demonstrate the importance of improved efforts toward depression screening and treatment among HIV-negative MSM, particularly those with a history of stimulant use.

Limitations

Our findings must be considered in the context of limitations. As this analysis comprises a cohort of MSM who are predominantly of color and with high prevalence of substance use, generalizations of our findings to other populations of MSM may be limited. While the longitudinal design is a strength in our analysis, causal inferences cannot be drawn from our results. Given the numerous paths across timepoints, the use of constraints aids in the interpretability of our models,

yet the use of constraints relies on the assumption that associations are consistent across time and may lead to misspecification. However, as the goal of this analysis was to evaluate aggregate relationships between variables across time, rather than individual associations at each timepoint, we feel that the use of constraints was justified. While the longitudinal design of our analysis allows us to test relationships between variables in a more rigorous manner, a drawback is the number of paths that are generated by this approach which prevented us from being able to measure standardized β coefficients or total, indirect, and direct effects across paths. As path models are extremely sensitive to model specification, there is the concern that path coefficients could be significantly affected if extraneous variables are included or relevant predictors are excluded from the model. However, we were careful to ensure that conceptually relevant predictors were included in the model and extraneous variables were excluded.

Since the constructs that contribute to an STI diagnosis are multifaceted and complex, it is difficult to comprehensively assess all factors that may contribute to STIs through surveys alone, potentially resulting in omitted variable bias. While the number of RAI partners is an important risk factor for HIV/STI acquisition/transmission, it is not the only risk factor. For example, it is possible that a participant may have reported RAI with their main partner who engaged in risky behavior. As such, the participant may be at higher HIV/STI transmission risk through their main partner, despite having few RAI partners. We would like to note that we conducted a sensitivity analysis evaluating rectal GC/CT with an interaction term of reporting a main partner and number of RAI partners, which did not reveal any association. However, the possibility of omitted variables bias does remain, particularly as this is a secondary data analysis. As genital and pharyngeal GC/CT was not included in our path models, it is possible that rectal GC/CT may have been due to reinfection from past genital or pharyngeal infection. However, we feel that the exclusion of genital and pharyngeal GC/CT is justified as inclusion of other site GC/CT at T_{n-1} on rectal GC/CT at T_n in path models would imply a causal association, potentially introducing bias into our models. Furthermore, in exploratory analysis, genital and/or pharyngeal GC/CT at the study visit immediately preceding rectal GC/CT was relatively small and noted at less than 10% of visits - of the 187 visits with rectal GC/CT, 9 had positive pharyngeal GC and 5 had positive genital GC/CT testing at the visit immediately preceding positive rectal GC/CT testing. Additionally, as all data is self-reported, there is the risk of recall and social desirability bias, though surveys were administered through computer-assisted self-interview to minimize such bias.

It is possible that participants living with HIV may have received treatment for depression as part of their HIV-related care. As we did not account for depression treatment in our path models, this may have introduced bias into the study, particularly as depressive symptoms and number of RAI partners were not associated among participants living with HIV. However, we believe that this potential bias is mitigated somewhat as we used depressive symptoms (and not treated depression) as a measure in our path models and models were stratified based on HIV status (i.e., participants living with HIV were only compared to other participants living with HIV in stratified models – all of whom should theoretically have some access to HIV-related care). As the CESD utilizes symptoms experienced in last 7 days, it is possible that the timing of substance use or risk behaviors may not have coincided with depressive symptoms. Additionally, while the association between depressive symptoms and methamphetamine use has been well-documented in the literature, the directionality of this relationship is unclear. This consideration caused us to not place a path between methamphetamine use and depression as it would require assumptions regarding the direction of this relationship. However, we attempted to account for the potential relationship between depression and methamphetamine use by correlating their error terms.

Conclusions

35

To the best of our knowledge, this analysis is one of the first to explicitly evaluate the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal GC/CT longitudinally, which is an important step in disentangling the relationship between depression and methamphetamine use with HIV/STI transmission. Our findings demonstrate that depression and methamphetamine use contribute to increased sexual risk behaviors which, in turn, are associated with rectal GC/CT. Additionally, our findings suggest that the factors and patterns which contribute to risk behaviors may differ according to HIV status. Specifically, depression may have a stronger influence on sexual risk behaviors among HIV-negative MSM while methamphetamine use may have a more substantial impact for MSM living with HIV. Collectively, our findings demonstrate the importance of screening for stimulant use and making linkages to substance use treatment among MSM living with HIV, while HIV-negative MSM would benefit from HIV prevention interventions that screen for depressive symptoms and facilitating linkages to mental health treatment. These findings also demonstrate the potential utility of combined treatment and prevention efforts that link screening and treatment of stimulant use and depression with HIV/STI prevention and treatment.

Tables and Figures

Figure 3.2 Cross-lagged panel mediation model evaluating the association of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia



Meth = methamphetamine; GC/CT = gonorrhea/chlamydia, RAI = receptive anal intercourse Covariates = HIV status, race/ethnicity, age

Figure 3.3 Final panel model evaluating the association of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia



Meth = methamphetamine; GC/CT = gonorrhea/chlamydia, RAI = receptive anal intercourse Covariates = HIV status, race/ethnicity, age

Table 3.1 Descriptive sta	atistics and baselin	e characteristics	of mSTUDY	cohort stratified by
HIV status (N=557)				

	Total (n=557)	HIV-negative (n=279)	Living with HIV (n=278)	p-value
Age (median, IQR)	30 (26-37)	28 (24-33)	34 (28-39)	< 0.001
Race/Ethnicity				
Black	226 (40.6%)	114 (40.9%)	112 (40.3%)	0.99
Latinx	273 (49.0%)	136 (48.8%)	137 (49.3%)	
Non-Black/Non-Latinx	58 (10.4%)	29 (10.4%)	29 (10.4%)	
Rectal GC/CT				
Negative	495 (88.9%)	251 (90.0%)	244 (87.8%)	0.41
Positive	62 (11.1%)	28 (10.0%)	34 (12.2%)	
CESD				
Negative	347 (62.3%)	187 (67.0%)	160 (57.6%)	0.021
Positive	210 (37.7%)	92 (33.0%)	118 (42.5%)	
RAI partners last 6 months (median, IQR)	2 (0-5)	1 (0-4)	2 (0-5)	0.014
Methamphetamine use last 6 months				
Never	309 (55.8%)	192 (69.1%)	117 (42.4%)	< 0.001
Once	39 (7.0%)	19 (6.8%)	20 (7.3%)	
Less than monthly	49 (8.8%)	23 (8.3%)	26 (9.4%)	
Monthly	31 (5.6%)	8 (2.9%)	23 (8.3%)	
Weekly	67 (12.1%)	18 (6.5%)	49 (17.8%)	
Daily	59 (10.7%)	18 (6.5%)	41 (14.9%)	

IQR = interquartile range; GC/CT = gonorrhea/chlamydia; CESD = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

Note: p-values calculated from chi-square or Kruskal-Wallis tests comparing MSM living with HIV to HIV-negative MSM

Table 3.2 Unstandardized path coefficients of final model, model with both lags and contemporaneous paths (cross-lagged panel mediation model), and model with lags only

	Final model (contemporaneous only) ¹		Contemporaneous and lagged paths ²	ontemporaneous and Lags only ³		
Outcome and predictor variables	β (95% CI)	р	β (95% CI)	р	β (95% CI)	р
Depression						
RAI partners*	0.334 (0.058-0.610)	0.018	0.386 (0.095-0.678)	0.009		
RAI partners (T_n to T_{n+1})			-0.119 (-0.411-0.174)	0.43	0.068 (-0.210-0.345)	0.63
Depression (T_n to T_{n+1})	0.409 (0.353-0.466)	< 0.001	0.361 (0.314-0.408)	< 0.001	0.361 (0.314-0.408)	< 0.001
Methamphetamine use						
RAI partners*	0.284 (0.205-0.364)	< 0.001	0.417 (0.320-0.513)	< 0.001		
RAI partners (T_n to T_{n+1})			-0.233 (-0.3310.136)	< 0.001	0.027 (-0.052-0.106)	0.51
Meth use $(T_n \text{ to } T_{n+1})$	0.660 (0.621-0.698)	< 0.001	0.660 (0.621-0.698)	< 0.001	0.659 (0.621-0.697)	< 0.001
RAI partners						
Rectal GC/CT*	0.015 (0.012-0.018)	< 0.001	0.013 (0.009-0.016)	< 0.001		
Rectal GC/CT (T_n to T_{n+1})			0.006 (0.002-0.009)	0.004	0.013 (0.009-0.016)	< 0.001
RAI partners (T_n to T_{n+1})	0.455 (0.419-0.492)	< 0.001	0.490 (0.449-0.531)	< 0.001	0.490 (0.448-0.532)	< 0.001
Rectal GC/CT						
Rectal GC/CT (T_n to T_{n+1})	0.101 (0.049-0.153)	< 0.001	0.106 (0.059-0.153)	< 0.001	0.090 (0.037-0.142)	0.001
$1_{\gamma^2}(287) = 535.42$ RMSEA 0.039 CFL 0.937 TI I 0.924						

$$\label{eq:alpha} \begin{split} ^1\chi^2 \ (287) &= 535.42, \text{RMSEA } 0.039, \text{CFI } 0.937, \text{TLI } 0.924 \\ ^2\chi^2 \ (285) &= 508.81, \text{RMSEA } 0.038, \text{CFI } 0.944, \text{TLI } 0.931 \\ ^3\chi^2 \ (285) &= 633.95, \text{RMSEA } 0.047, \text{CFI } 0.912, \text{TLI } 0.893 \end{split}$$

Note: estimates are adjusting for HIV status, age, and race/ethnicity

*Contemporaneous path

Figure 3.4 Unstandardized path coefficients of final model, model with both lags and contemporaneous paths (cross-lagged panel mediation model), and model with lags only





Note: Results are presented as β (95% CI); p-value. Estimates are adjusting for HIV status, age, and race/ethnicity.

Table 3.3 Unstandardized path coefficients of path model evaluating the association of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia

	Unstandardized	
Outcome and predictor variables	β (95% CI)	р
Depression		
RAI partners last 6 months	0.334 (0.058-0.610)	0.018
Depression*	0.409 (0.353-0.466)	< 0.001
Methamphetamine use		
RAI partners last 6 months	0.284 (0.205-0.364)	< 0.001
Methamphetamine use*	0.660 (0.621-0.698)	< 0.001
RAI partners last 6 months		
Rectal GC/CT	0.015 (0.012-0.018)	< 0.001
RAI partners last 6 months*	0.455 (0.419-0.492)	< 0.001
Rectal GC/CT		
Rectal GC/CT*	0.101 (0.049-0.153)	< 0.001
2(207) = 525(42) DMGEA 0.020 CEL 0.027 TH L	001	

 χ^2 (287) = 535.42, RMSEA 0.039, CFI 0.937, TLI 0.924

Note: estimates are adjusting for HIV status, age, and race/ethnicity *Path from T_n to T_{n+1}

Table 3.4 Unstandardized path coefficients of lagged panel model evaluating the association of depression, methamphetamine use, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia stratified by HIV status

	HIV-negative		Living with HIV	
Outcome and predictor variables	β (95% CI)	р	β (95% CI)	р
Depression				
RAI partners last 6 months	0.495 (0.137-0.854)	0.007	0.121 (-0.293-0.535)	0.57
Depression*	0.358 (0.294-0.421)	< 0.001	0.375 (0.319-0.431)	< 0.001
Methamphetamine use				
RAI partners last 6 months	0.252 (0.131-0.372)	< 0.001	0.379 (0.263-0.495)	< 0.001
Methamphetamine use*	0.700 (0.652-0.748)	< 0.001	0.655 (0.607-0.702)	< 0.001
RAI partners last 6 months				
Rectal GC/CT	0.013 (0.009-0.018)	< 0.001	0.015 (0.012-0.019)	< 0.001
RAI partners last 6 months*	0.196 (0.051-0.342)	0.008	0.436 (0.375-0.496)	< 0.001
Rectal GC/CT				
Rectal GC/CT*	0.033 (-0.032-0.098)	0.32	0.142 (0.077-0.207)	< 0.001
$\gamma^{2}(554) = 876.10$ RMSEA 0.046 CEL0	918 TIL0 904			

 χ^2 (554) = 876.10, RMSEA 0.046, CFI 0.918, TLI 0.904 Note: estimates are adjusting for age and race/ethnicity

*Path from T_n to T_{n+1}

Appendix

Supplemental Table 3.1 Descriptive statistics and baseline characteristics of mSTUDY cohort across timepoints

	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	T6
	(n=557)	(n=479)	(n=423)	(n=380)	(n=327)	(n=271)
Age ^{a,b}	30 (26-37)	31 (26-37)	31 (26-37)	31 (26-37)	32 (26-38)	32 (26-38)
HIVb						
HIV-negative	279 (50.1%)	239 (49.9%)	209 (49.4%)	183 (48.2%)	151 (46.2%)	126 (46.5%)
Living with HIV	278 (49.9%)	240 (50.1%)	214 (50.6%)	197 (51.8%)	176 (53.8%)	145 (53.5%)
Race/Ethnicity ^b						
Black	226 (40.6%)	193 (40.3%)	171 (40.4%)	154 (40.5%)	134 (41.0%)	114 (42.1%)
Latinx	273 (49.0%)	238 (49.7%)	211 (49.9%)	188 (49.5%)	163 (49.9%)	134 (49.5%)
Non-Black/Non-Latinx	58 (10.4%)	48 (10.0%)	41 (9.7%)	38 (10.0%)	30 (9.2%)	23 (8.5%)
Rectal GC/CT						
Negative	495 (88.9%)	426 (88.9%)	377 (89.1%)	345 (90.8%)	299 (91.4%)	246 (90.8%)
Positive	62 (11.1%)	53 (11.1%)	46 (10.9%)	35 (9.2%)	28 (8.6%)	25 (9.2%)
CESD						
Negative	347 (62.3%)	310 (64.7%)	276 (65.3%)	253 (66.8%)	213 (65.1%)	191 (70.5%)
Positive	210 (37.7%)	169 (35.3%)	147 (34.8%)	126 (33.3%)	114 (34.9%)	80 (29.5%)
RAI partners ^{a,c}	2 (0-5)	1 (0-3)	1 (0-3)	1 (0-4)	1 (0-3)	1 (0-2)
Methamphetamine use ^c						
Never	309 (55.8%)	293 (61.4%)	269 (64.2%)	239 (63.1%)	210 (64.2%)	173 (64.1%)
Once	39 (7.0%)	31 (6.5%)	20 (4.8%)	26 (6.9%)	16 (4.9%)	16 (5.9%)
Less than monthly	49 (8.8%)	40 (8.4%)	33 (7.9%)	26 (6.9%)	22 (6.7%)	23 (8.5%)
Monthly	31 (5.6%)	28 (5.9%)	22 (5.3%)	18 (4.8%)	16 (4.9%)	10 (3.7%)
Weekly	67 (12.1%)	43 (9.0%)	42 (10.0%)	30 (7.9%)	25 (7.7%)	18 (6.7%)
Daily	59 (10.7%)	42 (8.8%)	33 (7.9%)	40 (10.6%)	38 (11.6%)	30 (11.1%)

IQR = interquartile range; GC/CT = gonorrhea/chlamydia; CESD = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

^aMedian (IQR); ^bAt baseline; ^cLast 6 months

	T1	T2	Т3	Τ4	Т5	Т6
	(n=557)	(n=479)	(n=423)	(n=380)	(n=327)	(n=271)
CESD						
T1	1					
Т2	0.47***	1				
Т3	0.39***	0.43***	1			
Τ4	0.37***	0.44***	0.36***	1		
Т5	0.42***	0.42***	0.46***	0.42***	1	
Т6	0.44***	0.38***	0.50***	0.37***	0.53***	1
Methamphetamine use						
T1	1					
Т2	0.75***	1				
Т3	0.65***	0.73***	1			
Τ4	0.60***	0.68***	0.76***	1		
Т5	0.56***	0.61***	0.68^{***}	0.69***	1	
Т6	0.52***	0.53***	0.66***	0.67***	0.79***	1
RAI partners last 6 months						
T1	1					
Т2	0.58^{***}	1				
Т3	0.62***	0.70^{***}	1			
Τ4	0.56***	0.63***	0.61***	1		
Т5	0.55***	0.45***	0.54***	0.62***	1	
Т6	0.52***	0.53***	0.49***	0.61***	0.65***	1
Rectal GC/CT						
T1	1					
Т2	0.15***	1				
Т3	0.11^{*}	0.13**	1			
Τ4	0.09	0.09	0.14**	1		
Т5	0.11*	0.14*	0.20***	0.05	1	
Т6	0.17**	0.13*	0.19**	0.29***	0.27***	1

Supplemental Table 3.2 Pairwise correlation of variables across timepoints

GC/CT = gonorrhea/chlamydia; CESD = Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

Note: Correlations represent pairwise correlations of the same variable across different timepoints *p<0.05; **p<0.01; ***p<0.001

Chapter 4.

Risk behaviors associated with patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use among MSM: a latent class analysis

Abstract

Background: Substance use during sexual encounters (sexualized substance use) is an important driver of HIV and sexually transmitted infection (STI) disparities that are experienced by men who have sex with men (MSM). This analysis aimed to identify patterns of sexualized substance use and their associations with HIV risk behaviors.

Methods: We utilized visit-level data from a longitudinal cohort of predominantly Black/Latinx MSM, half with HIV and half with substance use in Los Angeles, California. Every 6 months from 8/2014-3/2020, participants underwent STI screening and completed surveys on the following: demographics, sexualized substance use (stimulant and/or alcohol intoxication during oral sex, receptive anal intercourse [RAI] and/or insertive anal intercourse [IAI]), transactional sex, biomedical HIV prevention (pre-/post-exposure prophylaxis use or undetectable viral load), and depression. Latent class analysis was used to identify patterns of sexualized substance use. Multinomial logit models evaluated risk behaviors associated with latent classes.

Results: Among 2,395 study visits from 540 participants, 5 classes were identified: no substance use, sexualized stimulant use, sexualized alcohol use, sexualized stimulant and alcohol use, and stimulant/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI. Compared to the no substance-using class, sexualized stimulant use was associated with transactional sex, STIs, not using biomedical prevention, and depression. Sexualized alcohol use had fewer associations with HIV risk behaviors.

Conclusions: Patterns of sexual activities, and the substances that occur during those activities, confer different risk behavior profiles for HIV/STI transmission and demonstrate the potential utility of interventions that combine substance use treatment with HIV prevention.

Introduction

Men who have sex with men (MSM) are disproportionately impacted by the HIV and substance use epidemics, with MSM having higher prevalence of substance use and HIV compared to the general U.S. population.^{29, 30} Previous research has revealed that MSM have unique patterns of substance use, with substance use commonly occurring within sexual encounters or during sexual activity (sexualized substance use).³⁴ Two substances that are highly prevalent among MSM and are often used in sexual contexts are alcohol and stimulants (e.g., crystal methamphetamine and cocaine).^{57, 151, 132} Motivations for sexualized stimulant use include to increase libido, facilitate partner acquisition, enhance sexual stamina, and for disinhibition.^{88, 133} As stimulant use frequently occurs within sexual contexts, these drugs are independently associated with sexual risk behaviors, HIV, sexually transmitted infections (STIs), and mental health comorbidities among MSM.^{89, 134-136} In addition to stimulants, alcohol use is common among MSM and is often used in both social and sexual settings.^{137, 138} Alcohol consumption has been associated with increased prevalence of sexual risk behaviors as well as reduced health preventative behaviors, such as condom use.^{139, 140}

Despite evidence that sexualized substance use is associated with increased HIV/STI transmission, the concept of evaluating the impact of discrete substance use patterns on HIV transmission dynamics among MSM has only emerged rather recently.¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴⁴ There is mounting evidence that distinct substance use patterns confer separate behavioral risk profiles for HIV/STI transmission – yet, most studies examining these constructs have occurred in Western Europe and Australia.^{141, 145-147} Sexualized substance use is associated with higher prevalence of sexual risk behaviors for HIV/STI transmission, including group sex, sexual concurrency, condomless intercourse with non-primary partners and partners of unknown HIV status, and increased number of sexual partners.^{35, 38, 42, 53, 87, 148} However, risk for HIV/STI transmission differs based on sex act as well as sexual positioning.¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵¹ This differential risk for HIV/STI transmission is especially true for

MSM, with condomless receptive anal intercourse (RAI) conferring higher risk for HIV/STI acquisition than condomless insertive anal intercourse (IAI).⁸⁻¹¹ Furthermore, unlike heterosexual networks, MSM can engage in both insertive (high risk for transmission) and receptive (high risk for acquisition) anal intercourse, which contributes to the rapid and efficient spread of HIV and STIs within sexual networks that comprise MSM.^{9, 13} This consideration is particularly relevant in the context of sexualized substance use, as certain substance use patterns are associated with sexual positioning. For example, MSM who use stimulants may experience erectile dysfunction resulting in a preference for RAI.¹⁵²

Despite sexualized substance use and sexual risk behavior representing dominant drivers of ongoing HIV/STI transmission among MSM, there is a paucity of data evaluating the joint patterns of sexual activities that occur in the context of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use. To date, most studies have either focused on specific substances used in conjunction with aggregate risk behaviors – such as condomless anal intercourse or number of partners, rather than patterns of sexual acts.^{42,} ^{141, 142, 148} As risk for HIV/STI acquisition differs according sexual practice (i.e., oral intercourse does not confer the same HIV/STI risk as RAI), it is increasingly important to understand the patterns of specific sexual activities that occur within the setting of sexualized substance use in order to appropriately contextualize the impact substance use has on sexual risk and, consequently, HIV/STI transmission among MSM.

The purpose of this analysis will be to differentiate patterns of stimulant and alcohol use that occur during specific sexual activities among a cohort of racially/ethnically diverse MSM, most of which have a history of substance use, in Los Angeles, California. Latent class analysis (LCA) will be used to determine patterns of sexual activities (e.g., oral sex, RAI, IAI) that occur with stimulant and/or alcohol consumption and to evaluate whether certain characteristics or distal outcomes are associated with each latent class. Collectively, these analyses seek to determine nuanced heterogeneities in sexualized stimulant and alcohol use within a cohort of MSM that are high-risk overall for HIV/STI transmission. Given the complex relationship of substance use and sexual risk behavior among MSM, further understanding of sexualized substance use patterns and how they relate to HIV/STI transmission is increasingly important for the development of novel and efficacious HIV prevention interventions.

Methods

Data Source

We analyzed data collected as part of an ongoing longitudinal cohort study that is designed to evaluate the impact of substance use on HIV transmission dynamics among MSM of color in Los Angeles, California. The Men Who Have Sex with Men and Substance Use Cohort at UCLA Linking Infections, Noting Effects (mSTUDY; U01 DA036267; MPIs Gorbach and Shoptaw) is a longitudinal cohort of racially/ethnically diverse MSM living with or at high-risk for HIV. Methods have been previously described.^{153, 154} Briefly, participants were recruited from a community-based university research clinic and a community-based organization that provides clinical and community resources for the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender community in Los Angeles, California. Follow-up visits occur every 6 months, and the cohort consists of half MSM living with HIV and half with active substance use at enrollment. Inclusion criteria for the cohort include: 1) 18-45 years old at study enrollment, 2) born male, 3) condomless anal intercourse with a man in past 6 months (if HIV-negative). Recruitment is ongoing to replace participant dropout and 577 MSM have been enrolled to date. This analysis consists of study visits that took place from August 2014 (study inception) to March 2020 where participants reported participating in either oral and/or anal intercourse in the past 3 months.

Study Procedures

At each study visit, participants underwent clinician interview, STI testing, and completion of a computer-assisted self-interview survey that collected sociodemographic data as well as information surrounding substance use, depression symptoms, HIV pre-exposure or post-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP/PEP) use, and sexual risk behaviors. At each visit, urine samples as well as rectal and pharyngeal swabs were collected for gonorrhea/chlamydia (GC/CT) screening with nucleic acid amplification testing (NAAT) (Aptima Combo 2, GenProbe, San Diego, CA) and for toxicology screening for recent substance use. Blood samples were also collected at each study visit and were screened for syphilis as well as HIV (if HIV-negative) and/or measurement of HIV-1 RNA levels (if living with HIV). Syphilis testing used rapid plasma reagin (RPR) with confirmatory testing via the Treponema pallidum particle agglutination test (TPPA). Infectious syphilis (i.e., primary, secondary, or early latent) was defined using the Centers for Disease Control determination following positive test results and confirmation from the local health department.¹⁵⁵ STI testing results were made available to participants and study personnel assisted with notifying participants of their test results and facilitated linkages to care for positive test results. The study was reviewed and approved by the Office of Human Research Participant Protection (OHRPP) at the University of California, Los Angeles.

Measures

Sociodemographics. Participants self-reported their race/ethnicity, and options included Black or African American, Hispanic or Latinx or Spanish, White, American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian, Asian Indian, Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander, or other race. As 89.6% of the cohort self-identified as either Latinx/Hispanic or Black/African American, this variable was trichotomized to Black, Latinx, and non-Black/non-Latinx.

<u>Substance use during sexual activity.</u> Participants were asked the question "Which drugs and/or alcohol did you use during this sexual activity in the last 3 months?" Possible sexual activities

included: oral sex, RAI, and IAI. Possible substances used included alcohol, methamphetamine, cocaine powder, and crack cocaine. Participants were asked to respond "yes" or "no" for whether they used each substance during each sexual activity. Methamphetamine, cocaine powder, and crack cocaine were combined into one "stimulants" variable for each sexual activity. These variables were combined into six possible substance/sexual activity combinations: alcohol use during oral sex (yes/no), stimulant use during oral sex (yes/no), alcohol use during IAI (yes/no), stimulant use during RAI (yes/no), and stimulant use during RAI (yes/no).

STI screening and HIV status. Positive STI screening was a dichotomous variable and was defined as having a positive screening test for GC and/or CT at any site (pharyngeal, urethral, and/or rectal) and/or infectious syphilis. HIV status was defined as positive or negative HIV test.

Biomedical prevention. As this cohort consisted of half HIV-negative MSM and half MSM who were living with HIV, a variable evaluating PrEP and/or PEP use (for HIV-negative participants) or undetectable HIV viral load (for participants living with HIV) was created to evaluate use of biomedical prevention as a strategy to prevent HIV acquisition/transmission. HIV-negative participants were asked if they had a current prescription for PrEP or PEP. Blood samples from participants who were living with HIV were evaluated for whether they had an undetectable HIV-1 viral load (detectable or undetectable viral load). These variables were combined to create a biomedical prevention variable with two levels "Yes" (i.e., current prescription for PrEP/PEP or had an undetectable HIV viral load) or "No" (i.e., no current prescription for PrEP/PEP or had a detectable HIV viral load).

Sexual risk behaviors. Participants were asked whether they had participated in oral sex, IAI, or RAI in the last 3 months (yes/no). To better understand patterns of sexual behaviors irrespective of whether substances were used during those behaviors, these variables were coded in multiple ways to understand visit-level sexual practices reported in the cohort. First, three dichotomous

dummy variables were created to evaluate self-reported prevalence of any oral sex (either receptive and/or insertive oral sex - yes/no), IAI (yes/no), and RAI (yes/no) in last 3 months. Second, a composite variable was created to describe whether respondents participated in oral sex and/or any anal intercourse (AI) in last 3 months, which consisted of 3 levels: oral sex only, AI only, and oral sex and AI. As frequency of AI only was very low (n=38 [1.6%] of visits), a third composite variable was created that 1) did not contain an AI only group and 2) stratified AI based on whether the participant reported being the receptive or insertive partner. This variable consisted of 4 levels: oral sex only, IAI and oral sex, RAI and oral sex, and RAI, IAI, and oral sex. Finally, a fourth composite variable was created stratifying participants based on RAI and/or IAI during the last 3 months, which consisted of 4 levels: no AI, IAI only, RAI only, and both RAI and IAI.

Participants were asked whether they had attended a circuit party, hook up, or sex party in the last 6 months. This variable was coded as a dichotomous variable indicating whether the participant attended a circuit, hook up, or sex party in the last 6 months (yes/no). Participants were asked whether they had engaged in transactional sex in the past 3 months (i.e., whether they had exchanged drugs, money, shelter, or other goods for sex), which was coded as a dichotomous variable (yes/no).

Substance use. Participants were asked the question "In the last 6 months, how often did you use [drug name]?". Possible drugs included methamphetamine, cocaine powder, and crack cocaine. Potential response options included: "Daily", "Weekly", "Monthly", "Less often", "Once", and "Never". Methamphetamine, cocaine powder, and crack cocaine were combined into one composite "stimulants" variable which was dichotomized to regular/heavy use (daily, weekly) and not regular use (monthly, less often, once, and never). Participants were asked the question "During the past 6 months, how often did you have 6 or more drinks on one occasion?". Potential response options included "Never", "Less than monthly", "Monthly", "Weekly", and "Daily or almost daily". Responses were trichotomized to a binge drinking variable with three levels: none (never), monthly or less (monthly, less than monthly), and weekly/daily (weekly, daily).

Depression. Depressive symptoms were measured using the Center for Epidemiological Studies – Depression (CESD) Scale, which is a validated 20-item measure that assesses depressive symptoms. Participants are asked to rank how often they have experienced symptoms, such as feelings of hopelessness, sadness, or loneliness as well as poor appetite or restless sleep in the past 2 weeks.⁹⁵ Response options ranged from 0 to 3 for each item based on frequency of the symptom (0 = "rarely or none of the time," 1 = "some or little of the time," 2 = "moderately or much of the time," 3 = "most or almost all of the time"). Possible scores range from 0-60 with higher scores indicating more intense depressive symptoms. In the general population, a score cutoff of 16 or greater has been used to identify individuals at risk for clinical depression with good sensitivity and high internal consistency with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.85-0.90.^{95, 96} For our analysis, we utilized a score cutoff of 23, as this has been demonstrated to be more optimal to evaluate clinical depression among individuals living with HIV.⁹⁷ Depression was a dichotomous variable indicating positive or negative CESD score (< 23 or ≥ 23).

Statistical Analysis

The purpose of this analysis was to describe patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use among MSM in the mSTUDY cohort and to evaluate characteristics associated with different sexualized substance use patterns. Latent class analysis (LCA) was used to determine and evaluate distinct patterns of substance use during intercourse. LCA is a type of mixture-modelling to determine unobserved (latent) heterogeneity within a sample population based on respondent response patterns to observed variables within the data.¹⁵⁶ Individuals are grouped based on similar patterns of responses to observed variables within the data, with the assumption that individuals within groups have similarities on unobserved, latent constructs.^{156, 157} LCA is a non-parametric test and does not rely on any assumptions with regard to homogeneity, linearity, or distribution of the data.¹⁵⁸ However, LCA relies on the assumption of conditional independence - that observations should be independent in each class.¹⁵⁶ While longitudinal data was used for this study, data was analyzed at the visit-level as LCA is designed for cross-sectional data. While cluster analysis is a statistical method that can also be used to classify individuals into groups,¹⁵⁶ LCA was selected over cluster analysis because it allows for uncertainty in class membership and for greater flexibility to include predictor variables to improve class distinctions.^{159, 160}

An exploratory analysis was conducted to evaluate the distribution of responses across variables, missingness, and skip patterns. The exploratory analysis was additionally used to select which substance use during sexual activity predictors should be considered for inclusion in the latent classes. Conceptually relevant combinations of substance use during sexual activity variables were iteratively fit into latent classes to evaluate which combinations provided sufficient class separation and item response probabilities that should be considered for inclusion into the final latent class model. It was determined that the combination of two possible substances used (e.g., alcohol and stimulants) during three possible sexual activities (e.g., oral sex, RAI, IAI), provided the most parsimonious fit to the data for creating the latent classes. Descriptive statistics (frequency, percentage, median, interquartile range [IQR]) of the study population and predictors of interest were calculated for the entire cohort and the cohort stratified by type of AI (i.e., no AI, IAI only, RAI only, and RAI and IAI). Differences between demographic factors, substance use during sexual activity, and predictors of interest according to type of AI reported were assessed using chi-square analysis for categorical predictors and Kruskal-Wallis tests for continuous variables.

The expectation maximization algorithm was used to develop the appropriate number of latent classes. Models with successively larger number of latent classes were created based upon the maximum likelihood estimation, and goodness of fit tests were calculated to determine the most parsimonious number of classes.¹⁵⁷ Model fit statistics included the Likelihood Ratio statistic (G²), the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), the Consistent AIC (CAIC), the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC), Sample Size Adjusted BIC (ABIC), and the Bootstrapped Likelihood Ratio Test (BLRT).^{161, 162} Of all the methods, the BIC and BLRT are considered to be the most reliable fit statistics.^{157, 163} These model fit statistics were used to determine the most parsimonious number of classes (k) to include in the final LCA model.¹⁶⁴

The G^2 measures the degree of agreement between predicted and observed response pattern frequencies in the contingency table formed during LCA, with a non-significant G^2 (p > 0.05) supporting a better fitting model. The G^2 is preferred over the chi-squared, as it allows for sparseness in the contingency table, but it was assessed in the context of other goodness of fit statistics as the G^2 is dependent on sample size.¹⁶⁵ The AIC, CAIC, BIC, and ABIC evaluated models with successive number of classes, and the number of classes where there was diminishing decrement in the information criteria for each class added to the model was selected. The BLRT with 1,000 bootstrapped samples compared models with k classes to k+1 classes, with a p-value < 0.05 suggesting that adding an additional class does not give a significant improvement in fit and that the k-1 class model should be selected.¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁶

After the model with the appropriate number of classes was determined, entropy values were calculated to evaluate class differentiation, with a threshold of > 0.8 suggesting that the model performed well with classifying individuals into classes.¹⁶⁷ Item response probabilities were calculated to determine class homogeneity in terms of item responses. Class membership probabilities were also calculated to evaluate the proportion of the sample that comprised each latent class.^{164, 168} It is important to note the development of conceptually meaningful classes was evaluated in the context of goodness of fit statistics, entropy values, item response probabilities, and class membership probabilities when selecting the final number of classes for the model.

After a model with the appropriate number of classes was determined, the proportion of participants comprising each latent class was assessed at each timepoint to assess stability of latent class membership across time. Multinomial logistic regression models were used to evaluate differences in predictors associated with class membership. Predictors of interest included sexual risk behaviors (e.g., attendance at a circuit/hookup/sex party,¹⁶⁹ transactional sex¹⁷⁰), health protective behaviors (i.e., use of PrEP/PEP or undetectable viral load),^{171, 172} STI diagnosis,⁷ and depression,²⁵ given their known associations with HIV transmission in the literature. To evaluate differences in class membership according to self-reported race/ethnicity, multinomial logistic regression models stratified by race/ethnicity were created. It is important to note that, due to sparseness of the contingency table related to the relatively small n of participants comprising the "Non-Black/Non-Latinx" group, transactional sex was not included in the stratified multinomial logistic model. Measurement invariance was imposed across all racial/ethnic groups to ensure item response probabilities were equal across groups.¹⁶⁶ Equation-wise deletion for missing variables was used to develop the latent classes and list-wise deletion (complete case analysis) was used for all regression analyses. As such, the sum of variables used for the latent classes may not equal the sum of the observations that were used in the regression analyses. Of the 548 participants that reported engaging in oral and/or anal intercourse in the last 3 months and that comprised the 2,580 visits during the study period, 185 observations were excluded due to missing data, resulting in a final sample size of 2,395 observations across 540 participants in regression models, which was above the sample size minimum threshold of 300-1000 that has been suggested in the literature.^{159, 163, 164, 173, 174} All analyses were conducted using Stata 16.1 (StataCorp, College Town, TX).

Results

The sample consisted of 2,395 study visits among 540 participants. Of the study visits included in the analysis, 50.2% (n=1,201) were completed by HIV-negative participants and 49.9%

(n=1,194) were completed by participants living with HIV (Table 4.1). Median age of the sample was 32 (range 18-50) and 49.8% (n=1,193) of visits were completed by Latinx participants, 39.4% (n=943) by Black participants, and 10.8% (n=259) by non-Black/non-Latinx participants. A positive screen for GC/CT and/or infectious syphilis occurred at 18.0% of visits, and participants endorsed using biomedical prevention (i.e., used PrEP/PEP or had an undetectable viral load) at 34.4% of visits. Positive depression screen occurred at 33.4% of visits. Regular stimulant use was reported at 22.3% of visits and weekly/daily binge drinking was reported at 11.2% of visits. Among sexual activities reported (Table 4.2), oral sex was reported at 98.4%, IAI at 75.3%, and RAI at 69.4% of visits. Most participants reported participating in both AI and oral sex (89.5%), while very few participants reported AI only (n=38, 1.6%). Over half of participants reported both RAI and IAI in the last 3 months (53.6%, n=1,278), while 15.7% reported RAI only and 21.7% reported IAI only. Participants reported using alcohol or stimulants during oral sex at 39.1% and 35.4% of visits, respectively. Participating in IAI while using alcohol or stimulants was reported at 29.0% and 24.1%

When stratifying by type of AI (Table 4.3), participants who did not report any AI in last 3 months (n=214 study visits) tended to be older (median age 35; IQR 29-42), had negative STI testing (91.1%), were not using biomedical prevention (72.9%), and had lower frequency of sexual risk behaviors such as transactional sex and attending a circuit/hookup/sex party, compared to participants who had engaged in AI. Participants who reported IAI only in last 3 months more frequently reported stimulant use during oral sex (80.2%; n=414/516 of visits) compared to visits where no AI (69.8%; 148/214), RAI only (63.5%; 238/375), and RAI and IAI (58.1%; 742/1,278) were reported. Those who did not report AI in last 3 months more frequently reported alcohol use during oral sex (74.5%; n=158/214) compared to visits where IAI only (63%; 325/516), RAI only (68.3%; 256/375), and RAI and IAI (55.6%; 711/1,278) were reported. Participants who reported

both RAI and IAI in last 3 months tended to report higher frequencies of transactional sex, attending a circuit/hookup/sex party, and depressive symptoms compared to other groups.

Class Selection for Final Model

Goodness of fit indices are in Table 4.4 and are graphically presented in Figure 4.1. Overall, the entire range of classes (1-9 classes) were above the entropy threshold of > 0.8, with most entropy values falling within the 0.93-0.96 range. Graphically, it appeared that the relative improvement in fit indices markedly declined at 5 and 6 classes, particularly with the BIC and CAIC which demonstrated very little change in value among models with greater than 5 classes. Fit indices were the lowest at 7 classes and started to increase at 8 and 9 classes. While the BLRT is considered to be one of the more reliable fit statistics, the BLRT favored an 8-class model, which would have resulted in an uninterpretable number of classes consisting of small sample size, limiting the inferences that could be drawn. As such, we relied on the fit indices (G², AIC, CAIC, BIC, and ABIC) to determine the optimal number of classes. As the relative decrement in fit indices occurred at 5-6 classes and plateaued after 6 classes, we compared the 5- and 6-class models (Table 4.5 and Table 4.6). Compared to the 5-class model, the 6-class model had inferior discrimination between responses (e.g., for Class 2, oral sex with stimulants and RAI with alcohol had response probabilities of 0.400 and 0.258 respectively), which obfuscated relative response patterns between classes. Additionally, the 6-class model comprised two classes that had small sample sizes (Classes 2 and 6 with 5.4% and 2.2% membership probabilities, respectively), which would have limited the interpretability of our results. As such, we decided to include 5-classes in our final model.

Final LCA Model and Predictions of Class Membership

Response patterns for the 5-class model are in Table 4.5. Class labels were determined by identifying the more highly self-reported (proportion ≥ 0.6) substances used during sexual activity. The stimulants/alcohol class (11.2% of visits) endorsed both stimulant and alcohol use during oral

sex, IAI, and RAI. The no substance use class (44.8% of visits) did not report any alcohol or stimulant use during the sexual activities surveyed. The stimulants only class (17.4%) reported stimulant use during oral sex, IAI, and RAI but did not report alcohol use during these activities. The stimulants/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI class (3.9%) reported both stimulants and alcohol use during oral sex and RAI but did not report using these substances during IAI. The alcohol only class (22.6%) reported alcohol use during oral sex, IAI, and RAI but did not report stimulant use during these activities. Figure 4.2 demonstrates the percentage of participants who maintained latent class membership at each time point. Overall, the no substance use class had the most consistent class membership, with 70.3-83.3% of participants maintaining class membership across timepoints, followed by alcohol only (51.1-71.4%) and stimulants only (42.9-79.4%). The two classes that had the least consistent class membership across timepoints were the stimulants/alcohol use class (38.6-69.2%, though no participants maintained class membership at timepoint 10) and the stimulants/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI class (19.1-83.3%, though no participants maintained class membership at timepoint 9).

Adjusted odds ratios (aORs) for factors associated with predicted class membership are in Table 4.7. In all multivariable adjusted models, the no substance use class was the referent group. Compared to the no substance use class, participants among all classes where substances were used had higher odds of attending a circuit/hookup/sex party in the last 6 months. The stimulants/alcohol, stimulants only, and stimulants/alcohol during oral sex and RAI classes all had higher odds of having an STI and reporting transactional sex. The stimulants/alcohol and stimulants only classes had higher odds of a positive depression screen. Additionally, the stimulants only and stimulants/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI groups both had lower odds of using biomedical HIV prevention strategies.

Predicted Class Membership Stratified by Race/Ethnicity
Factors associated with predicted class membership stratified by race/ethnicity are in Table 4.8 and Figure 4.3. Class membership probabilities remained similar overall across race/ethnicity. However, a slightly lower percentage of Black participants comprised the stimulants only class (13.5%) compared to Latinx (19.1%) and non-Black/non-Latinx participants (22.4%). Additionally, higher proportions of Black and Latinx participants comprised the alcohol only class (23.0% and 22.3%, respectively) compared to non-Black/non-Latinx participants (15.7%). Living with HIV was positively associated with belonging to the stimulants only class across all racial/ethnic groups and negatively associated with the alcohol only class among Latinx and non-Black/non-Latinx participants. Among both Black and Latinx participants, stimulants only class had higher odds of a positive STI screen, compared to the no substance use class.

Among Black participants, any substance use was positively associated with attending a circuit/hookup/sex party. Belonging to the stimulants only or stimulants/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI classes were associated with lower odds of biomedical prevention among Black participants. No associations were observed between any of the substance use classes and biomedical prevention for Latinx and non-Black/non-Latinx participants. Among Latinx participants, the stimulants/alcohol and stimulants only classes had higher odds of having a positive depression screen.

Discussion

Among this diverse cohort of MSM, we utilized LCA to 1) determine patterns of stimulant and alcohol use during specific sexual activities, 2) evaluate whether risk behaviors and syndemic conditions served as predictors for class membership, and 3) examine if predictors of class membership differed by race/ethnicity. To the best of our knowledge, this analysis is among the first to utilize LCA to evaluate patterns of substances used during specific sexual activities. In our analysis, five classes of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use were identified: stimulant/alcohol use during all sex, no substance use, stimulants only, alcohol only, and stimulants/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI. Collectively, our findings revealed that patterns of sexual activities, and the specific substances that were used during those activities, conferred different risk behavior profiles for HIV/STI acquisition/transmission. Our results suggest that all classes involving stimulant use were associated with increased sexual risk behaviors and depressive symptoms, compared to the class that did not have sexualized stimulant or alcohol use. Conversely, the sexualized alcohol use only class had the fewest associations with sexual risk behaviors. When stratifying by race/ethnicity, Black and Latinx MSM who participated in sexualized substance use were more likely to experience syndemic (i.e., co-occurring) health conditions, potentially leading to increased risk for HIV/STI transmission/acquisition. Given the substantial contribution of substance use to the ongoing HIV/STI epidemic among MSM, findings from this analysis highlight the importance of incorporating substance use screening and treatment into HIV/STI prevention and treatment efforts.

All classes with sexualized substance use had higher odds of participating in a circuit/sex party compared to those belonging to the class that did not engage in sexualized substance use. These findings are not surprising, as substance use, particularly stimulants, poppers, and gammahydroxybutyrate (GHB), has been ingrained into the MSM party scene and is frequently used during sexualized settings.^{89, 175} Interestingly, those who only consumed alcohol in sexualized settings were more than twice as likely to attend a circuit or sex party compared to those who did not endorse sexualized substance use, supporting the concept that any substance use (not just stimulants or club drugs) may result in increased sexual risk behaviors. Individuals who engage in sexualized substance use may also be more likely to be sensation seeking, which may result in a greater desire to participate in circuit or sex parties and has been positively associated with condomless sex.¹⁷⁶ As many MSM participate in circuit and sex parties for the purposes of sex, sexualized substance use may be used as a method to overcome inhibitions, physical limitations (such as fatigue or hunger), or to form connections with others without restrictions or limitations.^{177, 178} Use of substances within these party settings have also been shown to be used intentionally as a means to engage in condomless sex and sexual risk behaviors as well as a method to justify those behaviors after they have occurred.¹⁷⁹ Given the increased prevalence of condomless sex, sexual concurrency, and risk behaviors associated with participating in circuit/sex parties, these risks are likely amplified by sexualized substance use, resulting in sexual networks that have elevated prevalence of HIV/STIs and which should be prioritized in HIV/STI prevention and treatment efforts.^{169, 180}

Our findings demonstrated that membership to any stimulant-using class was associated with almost 2-3 times higher odds of having an STI and 7-8 times higher odds of engaging in transactional sex compared to the no sexualized substance use class. The observation of higher-risk sexual behaviors among stimulant-using classes is not surprising, as stimulant use has been independently associated with increased sexual risk-taking as well as higher prevalence of HIV/STIs.^{6, 35, 42} Stimulants often result in increased energy, libido, impulsivity and sexual stamina conferring a higher risk for HIV/STI transmission particularly as stimulants are often used in sexualized settings.^{34, 88} Prevalence of recent transactional sex in this cohort was 18.6%, which is higher than the 5-13% that has been estimated in other studies evaluating transactional sex among MSM.¹⁸¹⁻¹⁸⁴ The higher prevalence observed in our cohort is likely multifactorial and partially due to this cohort representing a group of relatively young MSM who were selected based on history of substance use and risk for HIV/STI transmission. Substance use, particularly stimulants, has been independently associated with transactional sex, with one study demonstrating that 21% of substance-dependent MSM had participated in transactional sex in the past 3 months.^{185, 186} The markedly high association of transactional sex with sexualized stimulant use is likely due, in part, to our wide definition of transactional sex to encompass exchanging goods and services (such as shelter and drugs), rather than solely monetary compensation. This distinction is important as engaging in transactional sex may not be related to sex work, per se, but may occur due to certain settings/opportunities, to obtain drugs, or related to social norms within certain gay subpopulations.¹⁸⁷⁻¹⁹⁰ In fact, a previous analysis from our group demonstrated that most transactional sex within this cohort occurred for the purposes of obtaining drugs.¹⁹¹ Transactional sex may also be related to involvement in sexually adventurous gay party subcultures, particularly as classes that used stimulants were more likely to both participate in transactional sex as well as attend a circuit/sex party.¹⁸⁴

MSM who engage in transactional sex are at elevated risk for HIV/STI transmission due to a multitude of factors, which include individual-level risk factors (e.g., substance use, higher prevalence of psychosocial problems, poverty, unstable housing) that predispose to transactional sex, as well as factors associated with the nature of sex occurring as an economic transaction.^{170, 185, 192} Power differentials that occur during transactional sex may limit abilities for health protective behaviors, such as condom negotiation.^{188, 193} These power differentials may be augmented when drugs are exchanged for sex, with the drug seeking of the individual who is receiving drugs for sex adding to the power of the individual who is offering drugs in exchange for sex.¹⁸⁸ This unequal power differential may be particularly relevant to our findings, as the two classes who associated most highly with transactional sex were the classes that either endorsed sexualized stimulant use only or had co-substance use during RAI but not IAI. As these two classes were also negatively associated with utilization of biomedical prevention, members of these classes may be at increased risk for HIV transmission or acquisition. Individuals who engage in transactional sex may be less likely to use PrEP/PEP due to anticipated stigma from partners finding out about either sex work or risk behaviors.^{185, 194} This stigma may also be compounded by co-occurring vulnerabilities that pose barriers to engagement in HIV prevention/treatment services, such as economic instability, unstable

housing, lack of health insurance, or distrust in the health system.^{170, 195-197} Additionally, lack of a current PrEP/PEP prescription or having a detectable viral load may be related to substance use itself, as stimulant use has been associated with PrEP and antiretroviral therapy nonadherence.^{118, 198-201} Furthermore, previous studies have suggested that patterns of sexualized substance use, such as frequency of drug use and ability to plan for sex, may affect acceptability and adherence to PrEP.²⁰² As MSM who engage in sexualized substance use and transactional sex are particularly vulnerable to HIV/STIs, these findings demonstrate the importance of improving outreach efforts and reducing barriers to PrEP/PEP and HIV care among stimulant-using MSM.

In addition to the aforementioned sexual risk behaviors, depression was positively associated with sexualized stimulant use - consistent with previous research linking stimulants with depression.⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ While stimulant use in general has been associated with depression, recent studies have demonstrated that sexualized substance use has also been linked with depressive symptoms.^{133, 203} As MSM have been shown to utilize both stimulants and sexual intercourse as avoidant coping mechanisms for depression, it is possible that MSM in this cohort may have utilized sexualized stimulant use as a means of sensation seeking in order to mitigate negative depressive symptoms.^{27, 84, 204} Collectively, these findings further support a syndemic of substance use, transactional sex, depression, sexual risk behavior, and HIV risk among MSM, which has been previously described in the literature, and is likely contributing to ongoing HIV/STI disparities that are observed among MSM.^{205, 206} These results further affirm the need for continued development of comprehensive HIV prevention/treatment programs that address these intersecting burdens which are contributing to the ongoing HIV/STI epidemic.

When stratified by race/ethnicity, our findings demonstrated that HIV risk behaviors, depression, and STIs were highly associated with membership in a sexualized substance-using class among Black and Latinx MSM, compared to non-sexualized substance-using Black/Latinx MSM and non-Black/non-Latinx MSM. These findings were consistent with prior research demonstrating that Black and Latinx MSM are disproportionately affected by syndemic conditions, such as substance use, transactional sex, depression, and barriers to HIV prevention/treatment, which contribute to ongoing HIV/STI disparities that are experienced by these subpopulations.^{193, 197, 207, 208} However, our research extends the literature by suggesting that Black/Latinx MSM who participate in certain patterns of sexualized substance use may be disproportionately affected by syndemic conditions than their Black/Latinx counterparts who do not engage in sexualized substance use. These disparities were particularly notable for Black MSM, who represented the only racial/ethnic group where sexualized substance was negatively associated with using biomedical prevention.

MSM of color face numerous barriers to engagement in HIV prevention/treatment services, including socioeconomic factors, stigma, difficulties navigating the health system, discrimination from healthcare providers, and medical distrust, all of which contribute to disparities in PrEP utilization and viral load suppression.²⁰⁹⁻²¹³ Further complicating these barriers to HIV treatment/prevention are high rates of social marginalization and minority stress experienced by MSM of color, which have been shown to contribute to increased rates of depression, substance use, transactional sex, and condomless sex.²¹⁴⁻²¹⁷ In fact, a recent study demonstrated that Black MSM who reported more syndemic conditions, such as sexual orientation stigma, substance use, depression, and transactional sex, were less likely to use PrEP, despite having high rates of PrEP knowledge.²¹⁸ These factors are additionally complicated by higher prevalence of HIV/STIs within sexual networks that comprise Black and Latinx MSM, further reinforcing the disproportionate impact of HIV/STIs experienced by this subpopulation.^{219, 220} Consequently, future research and interventions are needed to understand and address these intersecting vulnerabilities that are contributing to ongoing HIV/STI disparities experienced by MSM of color.

Limitations

Our findings must be considered in the context of limitations. Given that this analysis comprises a diverse cohort of MSM with high prevalence of substance use and sexual risk behaviors, generalization of our findings to other populations of MSM may be limited. While LCA provided us with the ability to group individuals based on latent constructs and to evaluate characteristics based on class membership, this method does come with limitations. As LCA assigns individuals to classes based on response patterns to select variables, assignment of individuals to the correct class may not occur.^{156, 221} Additionally, we were unable to determine the exact number of participants who comprised specific classes, as class membership is based on probabilities.¹⁵⁶ As the number of classes were derived from model fit statistics and investigator decisions, it is possible that model classes may be biased. Furthermore, as latent class models are constrained to measures contained within the data, there is the potential for omitted variables bias or poor specification of the latent classes. This limitation is particularly relevant as this was a secondary data analysis and certain constructs regarding sexual risk behaviors were not captured within the dataset, such as sexual partnership dynamics within specific dyadic relationships and contexts/settings in which the substance use and sexual activities took place. While this is a longitudinal dataset, LCA analyzes data cross-sectionally, which may lead to bias. For example, when we evaluated class membership across timepoints, we observed variation in the proportion of participants who maintained the same class membership across visits, suggesting that class membership by individual participants likely changed over time. As such, this analysis may benefit from a LCA with a longitudinal framework, such as a latent transition analysis, which would be an important future direction. While more complex analytic approaches, such as latent transition analysis, were outside the scope of the dissertation, we feel that our LCA findings are useful given visit-level data. As all data was self-reported, there is the possibility of social desirability and recall bias, though surveys were administered through computerassisted self-interview to minimize such bias. An additional limitation was that cannabis use was not

included in our analysis which may have biased our results, given the high prevalence of cannabis use in the sample. Finally, as we combined insertive and receptive oral sex into one composite oral sex variable, this may have introduced bias into our sample. However, as reported insertive and receptive oral sex were highly concordant (over 83% of the sample reported participating in both receptive and insertive oral sex or no oral sex), we believe the risk of bias is low.

Conclusions

As sexualized substance use is an important contributor to ongoing HIV/STI disparities that are experienced by MSM, research evaluating risk behaviors and contexts surrounding sexualized substance use are critical to inform public health efforts designed to reduce disparities that are experienced by this population. To the best of our knowledge, this analysis is among the first to utilize LCA to evaluate patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use at the level of specific sex acts that occurred. In addition to increasing the body of knowledge, findings from this study provide critical information regarding sexual risk behaviors and syndemic conditions that surround sexualized stimulant and alcohol use which can be used to develop tailored HIV prevention interventions for substance-using MSM, a subpopulation of MSM at high risk for HIV/STI transmission. For example, these findings highlight the importance of combining screening and treatment of substance use disorders into HIV prevention interventions and the HIV care continuum.

Collectively, our findings revealed that patterns of sexual activities, and the specific substances that are used during those activities, confer different risk behavior profiles for HIV/STI acquisition/transmission among this cohort of MSM. For example, sexualized stimulant use was positively associated with risk factors for HIV/STI transmission such as having an STI, engaging in transactional sex, attending a circuit/hookup/sex party, depressive symptoms, and was negatively associated with health protective behaviors, such as using biomedical prevention to prevent HIV

66

transmission. These findings demonstrate the potential utility of interventions that link substance use treatment with HIV/STI treatment/prevention as well as importance of future research to better understand the contexts during which sexualized stimulant use occurs. Additionally, our findings demonstrated that Black/Latinx MSM who engaged in sexualized stimulant use were more likely to experience syndemic health conditions, such as having an STI and depressive symptoms, than their Black/Latinx counterparts who did not engage in sexualized stimulant use. These disparities were particularly notable among Black MSM, where stimulant use only or stimulant/alcohol use during oral sex and RAI were negatively associated with the use of biomedical prevention. Together, these results highlight the disproportionate impact that sexualized substance use has on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among MSM of color. Our findings underscore the importance of future research and interventions that are designed to both understand and address these intersecting vulnerabilities which contribute to ongoing HIV/STI disparities experienced by subpopulations of substance using MSM.

Tables and Figures

Variable	n (%)	Sexualized substance use**	n (%)	
Age (median, IQR)	32 (27-38)	Oral sex stimulants		
HIV		No	1,545 (64.6%)	
Negative	1,201 (50.2%)	Yes	847 (35.4%)	
Living with HIV	1,194 (49.9%)	Oral sex alcohol	· · · ·	
Race/Ethnicity		No	1,456 (60.9%)	
Non-Black/Non-Latinx	259 (10.8%)	Yes	936 (39.1%)	
Black	943 (39.4%)	IAI stimulants	· · · ·	
Latinx	1,193 (49.8%)	No	1,813 (75.9%)	
Sexually transmitted infection		Yes	577 (24.1%)	
Negative	1,963 (82.0%)	IAI alcohol	· · · ·	
Positive	432 (18.0%)	No	1,696 (71.0%)	
Biomedical prevention	· · · · ·	Yes	694 (29.0%)	
No	1,572 (65.6%)	RAI stimulants		
Yes	823 (34.4%)	No	1,741 (72.9%)	
Regular stimulant use	· · · · ·	Yes	646 (27.1%)	
No	1,860 (77.7%)	RAI alcohol		
Yes	533 (22.3%)	No	1,747 (73.2%)	
Binge drinking frequency	· · · · ·	Yes	640 (26.8%)	
None	1,215 (50.8%)			
Monthly or less	909 (38.0%)			
Weekly/daily	269 (11.2%)			
Transactional Sex				
No	1,950 (81.4%)			
Yes	445 (18.6%)			
Circuit/hookup/sex party	· · · · ·			
No	1,919 (80.1%)			
Yes	476 (19.9%)			
Depression	· /			
No	1,594 (66.6%)			
Yes	801 (33.4%)			

Table 4.1 Participant characteristics, sexual risk behaviors, mental health, and sexualized substance use reported at mSTUDY visits 8/2014-3/2020 (N=2,395)

IAI = insertive anal intercourse; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

**May not equal 2,395 as equation-wise deletion was used for development of latent classes

Table 4.2 Sexual activi 3/2020 (N=2,395)	ities occurring in last 3 mon	ths reported at mSTU	DY visits 8/2014-
	Sexual activity	n (%)	

Sexual activity	n (%)
Oral sex	
No	38 (1.6%)
Yes	2,354 (98.4%)
Receptive oral sex	
No	278 (11.6%)
Yes	2,111 (88.4%)
Insertive oral sex	
No	196 (8.2%)
Yes	2,195 (91.8%)
Insertive anal intercourse (IAI)	
No	590 (24.7%)
Yes	1,800 (75.3%)
Receptive anal intercourse (RAI)	
No	731 (30.6%)
Yes	1,656 (69.4%)
Oral sex and/or any anal intercourse (AI)	
Oral sex only	214 (9.0%)
AI only	38 (1.6%)
Oral sex and AI	2,139 (89.5%)
Oral sex, RAI, and/or IAI	
Oral sex only	214 (9.1%)
IAI and oral sex	506 (21.6%)
RAI and oral sex	354 (15.1%)
RAI, IAI, and oral sex	1,272 (54.2%)
RAI and/or IAI	
No AI	214 (9.0%)
IAI only	516 (21.7%)
RAI only	375 (15.7%)
Both RAI and IAI	1,278 (53.6%)

IAI only RAI only RAI and IAI No AI (n=214) (n=516) (n=375) (n=1,278) n (%) n (%) n (%) n (%) p-value Number participants 128 220 164 418 ---Study visits* 1 (1-2; 1-9) 2 (1-3; 1-9) 1 (1-3; 1-10) 2 (1-4; 1-10) < 0.001 Age (median, IQR) 35 (29-42) 34 (29-38) 31 (27-39) 31 (27-38) Race/Ethnicity Non-Black/Non-Latinx 27 (12.6%) 54 (10.5%) 36 (9.6%) 141 (11.0%) < 0.001 142 (37.9%) 438 (34.3%) Black 108 (50.5%) 250 (48.4%) Latinx 79 (36.9%) 212 (41.1%) 197 (52.5%) 699 (54.7%) HIV Negative 109 (50.9%) 330 (64.0%) 163 (43.5%) 593 (46.4%) < 0.001 Living with HIV 105 (49.1%) 186 (36.0%) 212 (56.5%) 685 (53.6%) Sexually transmitted infection 195 (91.1%) 450 (87.2%) 306 (81.6%) 1,001 (78.3%) < 0.001 Negative 69 (18.4%) Positive 19 (8.9%) 66 (12.8%) 277 (21.7%) Biomedical prevention No 156 (72.9%) 332 (64.3%) 256 (68.3%) 818 (64.0%) 0.046 58 (27.1%) 184 (35.7%) 119 (31.7%) 460 (36.0%) Yes Regular stimulant use No 164 (76.6%) 445 (86.2%) 291 (77.6%) 954 (74.8%) < 0.001 322 (25.2%) Yes 50 (23.4%) 71 (13.8%) 84 (22.4%) Binge drinking frequency 253 (49.0%) 128 (59.8%) 193 (51.5%) 637 (49.9%) 0.020 None 199 (38.6%) 131 (34.9%) 511 (40.0%) Monthly or less 62 (29.0%) Weekly/daily 24 (11.2%) 64 (12.4%) 51 (13.6%) 128 (10.0%) Transactional Sex

465 (90.1%)

51 (9.9%)

446 (86.4%)

70 (13.6%)

372 (72.1%)

144 (27.9%)

102 (19.8%)

414 (80.2%)

191 (37.0%)

325 (63.0%)

308 (82.1%)

67 (17.9%)

328 (87.5%)

47 (12.5%)

247 (65.9%)

128 (34.1%)

137 (36.5%)

238 (63.5%)

119 (31.7%)

256 (68.3%)

965 (75.5%)

313 (24.5%)

943 (73.8%)

335 (26.2%)

818 (64.0%)

460 (36.0%)

536 (41.9%)

742 (58.1%)

567 (44.4%)

711 (55.6%)

< 0.001

< 0.001

0.003

< 0.001

< 0.001

Table 4.3 Participant characteristics stratified by type of anal intercourse in last 3 months (N=2,395 study visits)

*median (interquartile range [IQR]; range)

No

Yes

No Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Depression No

Oral sex stimulants**

Oral sex alcohol**

Circuit/hookup/sex party

IAI = insertive anal intercourse; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

**May not equal 2,395 as equation-wise deletion was used for development of latent classes

202 (94.4%)

12 (5.6%)

192 (89.7%)

22 (10.3%)

154 (72.0%)

60 (28.0%)

64 (30.2%)

148 (69.8%)

54 (25.5%)

158 (74.5%)

Table 4.4 LCA goodness of fit indices according to number of classes

Classes	G^2	DF	AIC	CAIC	BIC	ABIC	Entropy	BLRT
1	7435.2	57	7447.2	7488.7	7482.7	7463.7	1	0.001
2	3905.7	50	3931.7	4021.8	4008.8	3967.5	0.95	0.001
3	1628.8	43	1668.8	1807.4	1787.4	1723.8	0.94	0.001
4	482.4	36	536.4	723.4	696.4	610.6	0.95	0.001
5	254.9	29	322.9	558.4	524.4	416.3	0.95	0.001
6	99.7	22	181.7	465.7	424.7	294.4	0.96	0.034
7	35.6	15	131.6	464.1	416.1	263.6	0.93	0.002
8	15.9	8	125.9	506.8	451.8	277.1	0.93	0.255
9	15.4	1	139.4	568.8	506.8	309.8	0.81	

G² = Likelihood Ratio statistic; DF = degrees of freedom; AIC = Akaike Information Criterion; CAIC = Consistent AIC; BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion; ABIC = Sample Size Adjusted BIC; BLRT = Bootstrapped Likelihood Ratio Test (p-value for 1,000 bootstrap samples) Note: the BLRT compared models of k to k+1 classes with 1,000 bootstrap samples

Figure 4.1 LCA goodness of fit indices according to number of classes

LCA Goodness of Fit Indices



Table 4.5 Item response and membership probabilities of each latent class (5-class model)

	Stimulants/ Alcohol	No Substance Use	Stimulants Only	Stimulants/Alcohol Oral Sex and RAI	Alcohol Only
Membership probability	11.2%	44.8%	17.4%	3.9%	22.6%
Sex type/Substance used					
Oral sex stimulants	0.999	0.049	0.983	0.942	0.044
Oral sex alcohol	0.993	0.047	0.007	0.956	0.974
IAI stimulants	0.963	0.003	0.739	0.008	0.010
IAI alcohol	0.976	0.002	0.003	0.021	0.789
RAI stimulants	0.810	0.013	0.843	0.652	0.004
RAI alcohol	0.808	0.017	0.012	0.696	0.622

Note: item response probabilities > 0.6 are in bold IAI = insertive anal intercourse; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

Table 4.6 Item response and membership probabilities of the 6-class model

	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3	Class 4	Class 5	Class 6
Membership probability	11.6%	5.4%	17.5%	42.3%	21.0%	2.2%
Sex type/Substance used						
Oral sex stimulants	0.999	0.400	0.984	0.039	0.027	0.918
Oral sex alcohol	0.995	0.882	0.008	0.002	0.979	0.921
IAI stimulants	0.782	0.009	0.730	0.003	0.000	0.918
IAI alcohol	0.800	0.005	0.000	0.002	0.831	0.985
RAI stimulants	0.961	0.071	0.843	0.013	0.004	0.007
RAI alcohol	0.959	0.258	0.014	0.016	0.635	0.006

Note: item response probabilities > 0.6 are in bold IAI = insertive anal intercourse; RAI = receptive anal intercourse





Table 4.7 Multivariable adjusted associations of predicted LCA class membership

	Stimulants/ Alcohol	No Substance Use	Stimulants Only	Stimulants/Alcohol Oral Sex and RAI	Alcohol Only
Variable	aOR (95% CI)	Ref	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
HIV	1.43 (1.07-1.91)	Ref	3.68 (2.77-4.90)	1.25 (0.74-2.09)	0.41 (0.33-0.51)
Positive STI	1.81 (1.29-2.56)	Ref	2.71 (2.03-3.63)	1.97 (1.14-3.39)	1.12 (0.83-1.52)
Biomedical prevention	0.92 (0.68-1.22)	Ref	0.75 (0.57-0.98)	0.50 (0.29-0.84)	1.15 (0.92-1.44)
Transactional sex	7.04 (5.01-9.89)	Ref	8.11 (5.88-11.17)	8.19 (4.95-13.55)	1.07 (0.73-1.59)
Circuit/hookup/sex party	3.25 (2.34-4.53)	Ref	2.87 (2.10-3.91)	1.93 (1.12-3.33)	2.16 (1.63-2.87)
Depression	1.75 (1.31-2.33)	Ref	1.95 (1.51-2.52)	1.14 (0.72-1.80)	0.99 (0.78-1.26)

Note: Bold indicates aOR does not cross 1

IAI = insertive anal intercourse; RAI = receptive anal intercourse

Table 4.8 Multivariable adjusted associations of predicted LCA class membership stratified by race/ethnicity

	Stimulants/ Alcohol	No Substance Use	Stimulants Only	Stimulants/Alcohol Oral Sex and RAI	Alcohol Only
Non-Black/Non-Latinx					
Membership probability	10.8%	48.7%	22.4%	2.5%	15.7%
Variable	aOR (95% CI)	Ref	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
HIV	0.90 (0.39-2.06)	Ref	5.06 (2.32-11.02)	2.13 (0.27-16.55)	0.27 (0.12-0.60)
Positive STI	1.07 (0.41-2.75)	Ref	1.73 (0.80-3.70)	0.15 (0.00-62.55)	0.94 (0.38-2.28)
Biomedical prevention	1.86 (0.81-4.23)	Ref	0.82 (0.42-1.62)	0.37 (0.03-4.02)	1.48 (0.70-3.12)
Circuit/hookup/sex party	3.62 (1.51-8.70)	Ref	3.86 (1.86-8.03)	2.62 (0.34-20.04)	2.52 (1.05-6.02)
Depression	1.71 (0.73-3.99)	Ref	3.99 (2.03-7.81)	5.85 (0.86-39.76)	1.08 (0.49-2.37)
Black					
Membership probability	10.1%	48.7%	13.5%	4.7%	23.0%
Variable	aOR (95% CI)	Ref	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
HIV	2.58 (1.62-4.08)	Ref	3.70 (2.35-5.81)	1.81 (0.87-3.74)	0.94 (0.67-1.33)
Positive STI	1.47 (0.85-2.54)	Ref	1.76 (1.06-2.93)	1.16 (0.49-2.71)	1.18 (0.75-1.87)
Biomedical prevention	0.74 (0.46-1.19)	Ref	0.52 (0.32-0.85)	0.26 (0.09-0.72)	1.06 (0.75-1.51)
Circuit/hookup/sex party	2.09 (1.23-3.57)	Ref	1.78 (1.05-3.02)	2.23 (1.00-4.95)	1.67 (1.09-2.56)
Depression	1.53 (0.96-2.41)	Ref	2.75 (1.79-4.23)	1.97 (0.99-3.94)	0.70 (0.47-1.05)
Latinx					
Membership probability	11.7%	42.8%	19.1%	4.2%	22.3%
Variable	aOR (95% CI)	Ref	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)	aOR (95% CI)
HIV	1.38 (0.92-2.05)	Ref	4.32 (2.93-6.37)	0.98 (0.51-1.86)	0.40 (0.29-0.56)
Positive STI	1.63 (1.00-2.64)	Ref	2.92 (1.96-4.34)	1.43 (0.59-3.48)	0.77 (0.48-1.22)
Biomedical prevention	0.96 (0.64-1.44)	Ref	0.91 (0.64-1.31)	0.60 (0.29-1.26)	1.06 (0.76-1.48)
Circuit/hookup/sex party	4.63 (2.95-7.25)	Ref	3.73 (2.46-5.65)	1.64 (0.71-3.80)	1.59 (1.04-2.42)
Depression	3.21 (2.16-4.77)	Ref	2.27 (1.59-3.23)	1.11 (0.54-2.28)	1.20 (0.84-1.70)

Note: Bold indicates aOR does not cross 1 IAI = insertive anal intercourse; RAI = receptive anal intercourse



Figure 4.3 Adjusted odds ratios of predicted class membership stratified by race/ethnicity

Reference group: no substance use RAI = receptive anal intercourse; PrEP = pre-exposure prophylaxis; PEP = post-exposure prophylaxis

Chapter 5.

Comparing factors associated with increased stimulant use in relation to HIV status using a machine learning and prediction modelling approach

Abstract

Background: Stimulant use is an important driver of HIV/STI transmission among MSM. Evaluating factors associated with increased stimulant use is critical to inform HIV prevention programming efforts. This study seeks to use machine learning techniques for variable selection to determine characteristics associated with increased stimulant use and whether these factors differ by HIV status.

Methods: This analysis utilized data from a longitudinal cohort of predominantly Black/Latinx MSM in Los Angeles, California, half with substance use and half living with HIV. Every 6 months from 8/2014-12/2020, participants underwent STI screening and completed surveys evaluating the following: demographics, substance use, sexual risk behaviors, and last partnership characteristics. Least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) and elastic net models were used for variable selection and creation of predictive models to determine factors associated with an interval increase in self-reported stimulant use from prior visit. Mixed-effects logistic regression models were used to evaluate associations between predictors selected from lasso and elastic net models and increased stimulant use. Sub-analyses stratifying participants based on HIV status were conducted to evaluate differences in predictors associated with increased stimulant use by HIV status.

Results: Among 2,095 study visits from 467 participants, an interval increase in stimulant use was reported at 20.9% (n=438) study visits. Increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing, co-substance use, STI diagnosis, anal intercourse while intoxicated, transactional

sex, and last partner stimulant use. Among participants living with HIV, increased stimulant use was associated with binge drinking, vaping/cigarette use, use of poppers, and transactional sex. Among HIV-negative participants, increased stimulant use was associated with sexual partner concurrency, anal intercourse while intoxicated, group sex while intoxicated, transactional sex, and last partner alcohol use.

Conclusions: Machine learning techniques can be a useful tool for variable selection and creation of predictive models. Our findings demonstrated that risk behaviors associated with increased stimulant use may differ based on HIV status and suggest that co-substance use and partnership contexts should be considered in the development of HIV prevention/treatment interventions.

Introduction

Stimulant use is substantially higher among MSM compared to the U.S. general population.^{29, 30} Consumption of stimulants among MSM frequently occurs within social and sexual contexts, such as night clubs, bath houses, circuit parties, and sex clubs.³²⁻³⁴ Additionally, stimulant use, particularly methamphetamine, is a significant driver of HIV transmission among MSM - thought to be driven by risky sexual behaviors with serodiscordant partners.^{6, 39, 40, 42, 43} Despite significant advances in the field of biomedical HIV prevention, HIV transmission among stimulant-using MSM remains one of the predominant factors contributing to the ongoing HIV epidemic.^{33, 133} As such, understanding factors that are related to stimulant use and HIV risk behavior is important to develop effective, targeted interventions for this key population.

Factors contributing to HIV transmission among MSM differs by HIV status. For HIVnegative individuals, HIV acquisition is predominantly through condomless receptive anal intercourse with sexual partners living with HIV.^{9, 11, 13} For individuals living with HIV, risk for transmitting HIV to sexual partners is driven by condomless anal intercourse (particularly insertive) and HIV viral load, with higher levels of HIV viremia associated with increased risk of HIV transmission.²²²⁻²²⁵ Furthermore, prevalence of stimulant use differs based on HIV status, with MSM living with HIV having higher prevalence of stimulant use (12.3%) compared to HIV-negative MSM (5.9%).^{29, 30} Given the differences that exist with regard to mechanisms of HIV transmission and prevalence of stimulant use, it is important to understand stimulant use and risk behavior within the context of HIV status, given the impact that these distinctions may have on HIV transmission dynamics.

While it is clear that stimulant use is linked to risky sexual behaviors, evidence suggests that the epidemic of stimulant use among MSM is likely complex and multifaceted.^{118, 119} For example, in a qualitative study by Halaktis et al., motivations for stimulant use differed by HIV status, with MSM

living with HIV tending to report that they used stimulants for sexual reasons while HIV-negative MSM used stimulants socially.¹¹⁹ Furthermore, MSM living with HIV have a higher likelihood of using stimulants to avoid unpleasant emotions, social pressures, and conflict, compared to their HIV-negative counterparts.¹²¹ The higher use of stimulants in sexual contexts among MSM living with HIV suggests that stimulants may be used as an avoidance coping strategy to deal with an HIV diagnosis or as a means to dispel potential anxieties or fears associated with sexual activity.^{119, 122} Furthermore, evidence suggests that the contribution of stimulants on sexual risk behavior may also differ. Specifically, stimulants may have a greater impact on frequency of condomless intercourse among individuals living with HIV compared those who are HIV-negative.¹²² Longitudinal analysis of a cohort of MSM in the U.S. revealed that MSM who used stimulants and underwent HIV seroconversion had higher frequency of risky sexual behaviors and stimulant use than those who remained HIV-negative.¹²⁰

The heterogeneities in stimulant use patterns that are observed among MSM highlight that the factors which are driving the ongoing stimulant and HIV epidemics are nuanced and complex. Determining whether the contexts that surround stimulant use patterns differ based on HIV status represents an important next step in understanding how stimulant use contributes to HIV transmission dynamics within the sexual networks of MSM and the development of effective interventions. However, data explicitly evaluating these differential factors contributing to ongoing stimulant use is limited, with most studies either including HIV status as a covariate or evaluating stimulant use within the context of a cohort comprised exclusively of MSM living with HIV or their HIV-negative counterparts.^{42, 111, 115, 226} This study seeks to bridge this gap by evaluating differences in factors associated with increased stimulant use among a diverse cohort of MSM and how these factors may differ according to HIV status. This analysis will utilize machine learning techniques, specifically least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) and elastic net regression, for variable selection and to create predictive models to evaluate factors associated with increased stimulant use. Sub-analyses stratifying participants based on HIV status will be conducted to evaluate differences in predictors associated with increased stimulant use by HIV status. To the best of our knowledge, this will be one of the first studies to use machine learning techniques for variable selection to select predictors associated with increased stimulant use and to compare potential differences according to HIV status. Findings from this analysis will provide important information on whether contexts surrounding stimulant use differ according to HIV status, which can be used to inform future HIV programming efforts.

Methods

Data Source and Study Procedures

Data for this analysis came from the Men Who Have Sex with Man and Substance Use Cohort at UCLA Linking Infections, Noting Effects (mSTUDY; U01 DA036267) – a NIDAfunded, ongoing longitudinal cohort designed to evaluate the impact of substance use on HIV transmission. The cohort consists of a group of racially/ethnically diverse MSM who are living with or are at high-risk for HIV. Methods have been previously described.^{153, 154} Briefly, the cohort consists of predominantly Black and Latinx MSM, half with active substance use at enrollment, and participants were recruited to include half MSM living with HIV and half HIV-negative MSM by design. HIV-negative MSM were recruited from the UCLA Vine Street Clinic, a community-based university research clinic through online advertisements and community flyers. Participants living with HIV were recruited from the Los Angeles LGBT Center, which provides clinical and community resources for the lesbian, gay, and transgender community in Los Angeles. Inclusion criteria for the cohort were: 1) 18-45 years old, 2) born male, 3) condomless anal intercourse with a man in past 6 months (if HIV-negative). Study enrollment began in August 2014, and recruitment is ongoing to replace loss to follow-up. As of the date of this study, 577 MSM have been enrolled. This analysis consists of study visits that occurred from August 2014 (study inception) to December 2020.

Study visits occurred every 6 months. At each visit, participants underwent STI screening, clinician interview, and completed a computer-assisted self-interview survey that collected sociodemographic data as well as information surrounding substance use, mental health, and sexual behaviors. Rectal and pharyngeal swabs as well as urine samples were collected at each visit and screened for gonorrhea/chlamydia (GC/CT) with nucleic acid amplification testing (Aptima Combo 2, GenProbe, San Diego, CA). Blood samples were collected at each study visit for syphilis screening that used rapid plasma reagin (RPR) with confirmatory testing via the *Treponema pallidum* particle agglutination test (TPPA). Infectious syphilis (i.e., primary, secondary, or early latent) was defined following positive test results through confirmation from the local health department and using the Centers for Disease Control determination.¹⁵⁵ Study personnel assisted with notifying participants of their STI testing results and facilitated linkages to care for positive test results. The study was reviewed and approved by the Office of Human Research Participant Protection (OHRPP) at the University of California, Los Angeles.

Statistical Analysis

Measures and Exploratory Analysis

The purpose of this analysis was to utilize machine learning for variable selection and prediction to determine which factors were associated with increased stimulant use. We additionally sought to evaluate if predictors associated with increased stimulant use differed by HIV status. Our increased stimulant use outcome variable was constructed from the question "In the last 6 months, how often did you use [drug name]?". Possible drugs included methamphetamine, cocaine powder, and crack cocaine. Potential response options included: "Daily", "Weekly", "Monthly", "Less often", "Once", and "Never". Methamphetamine, cocaine powder, and crack cocaine were combined into one composite "stimulants" variable. A lag variable was then created that indicated whether there was an increase in reported stimulant use compared to the immediately preceding visit (e.g., reporting using stimulants once at T_n followed by weekly use at T_{n+1} or never at T_n followed by once at T_{n+1}). The increase in stimulant use outcome variable was coded as a dichotomous variable (no increase in reported stimulant use vs increased reported stimulant use). An exploratory analysis was conducted to evaluate the stability of reported stimulant use across timepoints, changes in reported stimulant use across time, missing data, skip patterns, and to determine if multiple imputation would be appropriate.²²⁷⁻²²⁹

Variables for inclusion in machine learning models were selected based on two criteria 1) if the variable was retained in the dataset for the duration of the study and 2) if the variable had a conceptually relevant relationship with stimulant use based on the literature. First, all variables were screened to determine whether the variable was retained in participant questionnaires across the duration of the study. As this is a longitudinal cohort that serves as a research platform for multiple investigators, questions are added and removed from the dataset due the addition of sub-projects as well as to maintain a questionnaire that is not too long and cumbersome for participants to complete. After variables that were consistently asked for the duration of the dataset were identified, variables were then selected based on their relationships with stimulant use based on the literature. These variables are listed in Table 5.1 and included participant demographics as well as the following constructs: housing instability,²³⁰ history of incarceration,²³¹ intimate partner violence,²³² depression,¹¹⁴ substance use,²³³ sexual behaviors,^{234, 235} and reported characteristics of the participant's last sexual partner.²³⁶

Lasso and Elastic Net

Two statistical methods were used for variable selection and creation of predictive models: least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (lasso) and elastic net. Both methods are used for regularization of variables that facilitate model selection and can be used for creation of prediction models.^{237, 238} Lasso and elastic net were selected over ordinary least squares (OLS) regression as they provide more sparse models (i.e., models with fewer parameters) that allow for prediction and improve interpretability of the final model. As OLS regression maintains all variables within the model (even if irrelevant or redundant), OLS models are prone to overfitting, resulting in models with low bias but high variance, which may perform well on a training dataset but make inaccurate predictions on testing data. Furthermore, standard goodness of fit tests tend to perform poorly on evaluating the validity of OLS models until non-linearity becomes severe.^{239, 240} As lasso and elastic net prevent overfitting of models, both methods were selected as they outperform OLS with variable selection and creation of predictive models.

Lasso regression facilitates sparse models by using L1 regularization, adding a penalty to the model that is equal to the absolute value of the magnitude of the coefficients. The sum of the absolute value of the coefficients is constrained, which reduces some coefficient magnitudes to 0, resulting in the elimination of those predictors from the model.^{241, 242} A regularization parameter (λ) controls the strength of the L1 penalty, creating a larger penalty for more complex models. Increases in λ cause increased bias in the model, while decreases in λ cause increased variance. These features make lasso a useful method in creating models that initially have large numbers of predictors and can assist with incorporating only relevant predictors into the model.²³⁷ A limitation of lasso is that if variables are similar or correlated, lasso will arbitrarily retain only one variable and set the remaining correlated variables to zero, potentially resulting in biased models.²⁴³ Due to the potential limitation of lasso eliminating correlated variables from the model, lasso models were compared to models where variables were selected with elastic net regression.

Elastic net is an extension of lasso regression that combines L1 and L2 regularization. L2 regularization, commonly known as ridge regression, is similar to lasso regression with the difference

being that the penalty added to the model is equal to the square of the magnitude of the coefficients. The λ in ridge regression regularizes the coefficients so that large magnitudes of coefficients are more heavily penalized, reducing complexity and multicollinearity. As such, ridge regression shrinks the magnitude of spurious coefficients.^{237, 243} However, an important distinction between ridge and lasso is that ridge regression does not eliminate variables from the models. While the risk of overfitting is reduced by shrinking the magnitude of coefficients, models that arise from ridge regression can still be extremely complex as all variables are retained in the model.²⁴¹

Elastic net is a hybrid of ridge and lasso regression in that it includes L1 and L2 regularization. By doing this, elastic net can maintain correlated predictors within the model if at least one of the predictors has a strong relationship with the outcome variable. Unlike lasso regression, correlated variables are not dropped from the model, which prevents loss of information and improves model performance.²⁴⁴ Similar to lasso, elastic net does come with limitations. First, elastic net can be computationally expensive, as the relative weight of the L1 and L2 penalties require cross-validation. An additional limitation of elastic net comes with its flexibility of combining both L1 and L2 regularization. As elastic net is more flexible in terms of its parameters, it can be vulnerable to overfitting. As such, the model that elastic net chooses could perform well with the training/testing data for that specific dataset but may result in overfitting if the same prediction model were to be used with different datasets.^{237, 243} Given the advantages and drawbacks of each regularization method, both approaches were utilized and models from each method were compared based on goodness of fit, interpretability, and reliability.

The dataset was split into two subsamples to create a testing and training dataset.²⁴⁴ Predictors of interest that were selected based on the exploratory analysis and that were conceptually relevant based on the literature (Table 5.1) were included in initial models. All models controlled for age, race/ethnicity, and HIV status. Models were fit on the testing dataset using ten-fold crossvalidation and ordered based on the magnitude of the tuning parameter (λ) .²⁴⁵ The model with the value of λ that minimized the out-of-sample prediction error was identified and cross-validation plots were created to ensure that that λ was minimized. To prevent overfitting with lasso models, cross-validation plots were used to select the largest λ within one standard error of the λ that minimized out-of-sample prediction error.²⁴⁶ For lasso models, a table of knot points (value of λ 's where variables were added or dropped) was created to compare the model where λ was minimized to models with progressively larger values of λ within one standard error.^{244, 245, 247} Goodness of fit and model performance was compared for lasso knots within one standard error of the minimal value of λ based on the parameters below. The one standard error rule was only used for lasso and not elastic net models, since elastic net utilizes both L1 and L2 regularization (not just L1 regularization as lasso) and utilization of the one standard error rule would ignore the relative weights of the L1 and L2 penalties. As such, only one elastic net model was selected, which was the model with the value of α (the relative weight of L1 and L2 regularization) and λ that minimized out-of-sample prediction error via cross-validation.²⁴⁴

Following model selection based on cross-validation for both lasso and elastic net, goodness of fit (GOF) and model performance was assessed. Models were evaluated by 1) deviance and deviance ratios (GOF), 2) area under the receiver operating curve (AUC; performance), and 3) Matthews Correlation Coefficient (MCC; performance). Deviance and deviance ratios were calculated for both the training and testing datasets using lasso and elastic net models, with lower deviance suggestive of a better fitting model.²³⁷ Given the longitudinal structure of the data, mixed-effects logistic regression models were created using participant ID as the random intercept. Using the mixed-effects logistic regression models, receiver operating curves were created, with the model with the highest AUC indicating better predictive performance.^{248, 249} A confusion matrix was created

for each model to calculate the MCC, which evaluated each model's performance in correctly identifying positive and negative cases, with the following formula:²⁵⁰

$$MCC = \frac{(TP*TN) - (FP*FN)}{\sqrt{(TP+FP)(TP+FN)(TN+FP)(TN+FN)}}$$

The MCC takes a value of -1 to 1, where values close to the absolute value of 1 indicating that the model performs well in predicting both positive and negative cases.^{251, 252} MCC was used over other commonly used scalar metrics, such as accuracy, precision, recall, and F1 score, to predict model performance as these other metrics can be subject to class imbalance and asymmetry.²⁵¹ Unlike other scalar metrics, MCC is perfectly symmetric and values both positive and negative classification equally.²⁵² The lasso model that had the lowest deviance ratio, highest AUC, MCC closest to an absolute value of 1, and had the most consistent indices between the training and testing datasets was selected as the lasso model that had the lowest deviance ratio, highest AUC, MCC closest to an absolute value of 1, most consistent indices between the training and testing datasets, and had the least amount of spurious predictors (suggestive of overfitting) was selected as the final model.

We also conducted a series of sensitivity analyses. Given the limitation of correlated variables potentially being eliminated from lasso models, we conducted several sensitivity tests to ensure that our results were not biased by the elimination of correlated predictors from lasso models. First, we conducted pair-wise correlations between all potential variables outlined in Table 5.1, identified pairs of variables that had a correlation > 0.5, and then ran the lasso models with each correlated predictors would not alter the variables that were selected by the models. We calculated variance inflation factors (VIF) and tolerance across variables to ensure no predictors had a tolerance < 0.1 or VIF >

10, which would be suggestive of multicollinearity. Additionally, we changed how variables were coded to evaluate how variable coding may affect selection of predictors. We also created a lasso model that used reported stimulant use (instead of increased stimulant use) to evaluate whether predictors selected by the models changed. As stimulant use was reported on 5-levels ("Daily", "Weekly", "Monthly", "Less often", "Once", and "Never") this lasso model was creased using lasso with linear regression, rather than logistic regression. We selected linear regression as lasso only supports linear, logit, probit, and poisson models in Stata. Finally, we also created a model using decreased stimulant use as our outcome variable to evaluate differences in selected predictors. Stratification by HIV Status

To evaluate how predictors of increased stimulant use may differ by HIV status, the dataset was stratified according to HIV status – with one dataset containing only MSM living with HIV and one dataset containing HIV-negative cases only. Training and testing datasets were created, and lasso and elastic net models were fit as above. However, when we attempted to control for age and race/ethnicity while fitting the lasso and elastic net models, the models performed poorly with some models only selecting the control variables. As such, lasso and elastic net models were fit without the control variables. Age and race/ethnicity were then added to the mixed-effects logistic regression models using the predictors that were selected by lasso and elastic net. Additionally, as lasso models tended to select fewer predictors when the dataset was stratified by HIV status, we also evaluated lasso models up to one standard error above, in addition to one standard error below, where λ was minimized. GOF and model performance were evaluated as above, and the same criteria were used to select the final models.

For the final models selected, descriptive statistics (frequency, percentage, median, interquartile range [IQR]) of the selected predictors were calculated. Chi-square and Kruskal-Wallis tests were used to evaluate whether the distribution of predictors differed based on whether there was an increase in reported stimulant use. Mixed-effects logistic regression analyses were used to calculate unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios using the variables that were selected from the final lasso model, using increased stimulant use as our outcome variable and participant ID as the random intercept. Complete case analysis was used for all regression analyses, and all analyses were conducted using Stata 16.1 (StataCorp, College Town, TX).

Results

Goodness of Fit and Selection of Final Models

Entire Cohort

The cross-validation plot for lasso models using the training dataset for the entire cohort is in Figure 5.1. The value of λ that minimized out of sample prediction error was 0.016. Based on the cross-validation plot, the maximum value of λ within 1 standard error (SE) was 0.030. Table 5.2 demonstrates GOF indices for three potential lasso models (largest λ within 1SE, λ between the largest λ within 1 SE and minimal λ , and the minimal λ based on cross-validation) and the elastic net model. As expected, the number of variables included in lasso models increased as the λ penalty declined. Interestingly, the elastic net model selected similar predictors as the lasso models and selected the same predictors as the model with the minimal λ plus 5 additional variables (knowing last partner HIV status, last partner used poppers, had a one-time partner in last 6 months, group sex while intoxicated, and had a partner who was an unknown person in last 6 months). As the number of predictors included in models increased, the sample size decreased slightly across models due to observations that were removed due to missing data, as complete case analysis was used. Comparing GOF indices for all 4 models, the elastic net model did appear to slightly outperform the lasso models. However, GOF between all 4 models were very similar overall. For example, the range of deviance values were 0.91-0.95 and AUC was 0.73-0.81 across all 4 models. We then evaluated the GOF indices, in the context of bias-variance tradeoff, when selecting the final lasso model to be compared to elastic net.

We selected the lasso model with the largest λ within 1SE as our final lasso model because 1) the improvement in GOF offered by including additional predictors across lasso models was minimal, 2) it allowed for the sparsest model, and 3) while inclusion of additional predictors improved GOF statistically, the real-world utility of including these variables was unlikely to provide substantial benefit. A table demonstrating descriptive statistics as well as a table showing unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios are in Tables 5.3 and 5.4 for the selected lasso model and Tables 5.5 and 5.6 for the selected elastic net model, respectively. When comparing the mixed-effects logistic regression models, it appeared that, while the elastic net model selected more predictors than the lasso model, most of these additional predictors were not associated with increased stimulant use. This finding suggested that, while elastic net did provide improved GOF indices compared to the lasso model with including additional variables, these additional variables were unlikely to provide meaningful inferences from which we would be able to draw conclusions. Additionally, while elastic net did reduce variance by including these additional predictors (as evidenced by the improved GOF indices) this likely came at the expense of adding potential bias to our models. As such, we chose to use the lasso model as our final model.

Cohort Stratified by HIV Status

The cross-validation plot for lasso models that included only participants living with HIV are in Figure 5.2. Compared to the cross-validation plot of the entire cohort, the slope of the line leading to the minimal value of λ was steeper with a less smooth descent and the potential values of λ that minimized out of sample error were much more narrow when the sample was limited to only participants living with HIV. Table 5.7 demonstrates GOF indices for potential lasso models and the elastic net model. Similar to the models created for the entire cohort, GOF statistics did not vary much across the different models. However, there were bigger discrepancies in fit indices between testing and training datasets when the dataset was restricted to only participants living with HIV, compared to the models that were fit on the entire cohort. As the amount of predictors that minimized λ were rather sparse, we opted to evaluate models 2 knots above the minimal λ value (e.g., the models with smaller λ than the minimal λ value) to observe if GOF indices improved when the number of predictors in the model were increased, suggesting that the minimal λ may be underfit. When comparing the lasso models, the model with the best fit statistics overall had a λ smaller than the λ that was selected by the lasso algorithm, suggesting that the λ that was selected by the lasso algorithm may have been too sparse and underfit the data. As such, we selected the model where $\lambda = 0.030$, as this model had the highest AUC and MCC of the lasso models selected. A table demonstrating descriptive statistics as well as a table showing unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios are in Tables 5.8 and 5.9 for the selected lasso model and Tables 5.10 and 5.11 for the selected elastic net model, respectively. We ultimately selected the lasso model as the final model for participants living with HIV, as the elastic net model suggested that the additional variables selected were unlikely to provide meaningful inferences from which we would be able to draw conclusions, similar to the elastic net model which included the entire cohort.

Finally, we fit lasso and elastic net models for the participants who were HIV negative, with the lasso cross-validation plot in Figure 5.3. Similar to findings we had encountered when the models were fit with the cohort living with HIV, the slope of the line leading to the minimal value of λ was much steeper and the potential values of λ that minimized out of sample error were much more narrow than the models fit on the whole cohort. Table 5.12 demonstrates GOF indices for the potential lasso models and the elastic net model. Given the sparsity of predictors selected in the model selected by the lasso algorithm, we also evaluated models that were up to 3 lasso knots higher than the minimal λ , due to concern that the values selected by the lasso algorithm may be underfit. We ultimately selected the lasso model where $\lambda = 0.040$, as this lasso model had the best GOF indices, further supporting our concern that the model selected by the lasso algorithm may be underfit. A table demonstrating descriptive statistics as well as a table demonstrating the unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios are in Tables 5.13 and 5.14 for the selected lasso model and Tables 5.15 and 5.16 for elastic net. We ultimately selected the lasso model as our final model, as the additional variables included in the elastic net model did not appear to provide meaningful inferences from which we would be able to draw conclusions – similar to the findings we encountered when evaluating models that involved the entire cohort and when restricting to only participants living with HIV. Additionally, the lasso model outperformed the elastic net model in terms of GOF indices, particularly with regard to the MCC, suggesting that the elastic net was not only overfit, but that the model was so overfit that it interfered with the performance of the model.

Findings

Entire Cohort

The sample consisted of 2,095 visits across 467 participants. Participants reported an interval increase in stimulant use at 20.9% (n=438) of study visits (Table 5.3). Participant-level stimulant use patterns across timepoints that were plotted for 60 randomly selected participants are in Figure 5.4. Median age at study visits was 33 years (IQR 28-40; range 18-50) and 53.8% (n=1,126) of study visits were completed by participants who were living with HIV. Almost half of study visits were completed by Latinx participants (50.1% of study visits; n=1,049), followed by Black participants (38.9%; n=814), then White participants (6.5%; n=136), with the smallest group comprising participants who identified in other racial/ethnic groups (4.6%; n=96). Most participants had not used stimulants in the past 6 months (56.7% of visits, n=1,187), whereas daily use was reported at 10% (n=209) of visits, weekly use at 9.6% (n=62) of visits, and monthly use reported at 6.1% (n=43) of visits. Participants who reported an interval increase in stimulant use tended to more

frequently report unstable housing, unemployment, higher levels of cannabis use and binge drinking, regular opiate use, and having a last partner who used substances (specifically, stimulants and ecstasy). Screening positive for an STI occurred more frequently during visits where there was an interval increase in stimulant use (23.7%; n=104/334) compared to visits where there was no increase in stimulant use (13.8%; n=228/1,429).

Lasso models tended to select predictors that were associated with constructs surrounding financial insecurity (e.g., unstable housing, employment status, transactional sex), substance use (e.g., binge drinking, cannabis use, and regular opiate use), sexual risk behaviors (e.g., anal intercourse while intoxicated, transactional sex, screening positive for an STI), and last partnership characteristics (e.g., last partner used stimulants, last partner used ecstasy, last partner was an unknown person). In unadjusted analysis, all predictors that were selected by lasso were associated with increased stimulant use, except for the control variables that were forced into models (Table 5.4). While HIV status, employment status, having a last partner who used ecstasy, and regular opiate use were associated with increased stimulant use in unadjusted analyses, these variables were no longer associated with increased stimulant use when controlling for all predictors in the adjusted model. Participating in transactional sex associated the most highly with increased stimulant use, with MSM who participated in transactional sex having 2.30 times higher odds of reporting increased stimulant use (95% CI 1.60-3.30) compared to those who did not participate in transactional sex. Any cannabis use was associated with an increase in stimulant use, with participants reporting daily cannabis use having 2.24 times higher odds (95% CI 1.55-3.25) and weekly or less frequent cannabis use having 1.82 times higher odds (1.31-2.54) of reporting increased stimulant use compared to participants who did not report any cannabis use. Participants who reported that their last partner used stimulants had higher odds of reporting increased stimulant use (aOR 2.21; 95% CI 1.62-3.00) than those who's last partner did not use stimulants. Having a positive

STI screen was associated with 1.59 times higher odds (95% CI 1.14-2.21) of reporting increased stimulant use, compared to participants who had a negative STI screen. Increased stimulant use was also positively associated with unstable housing, binge drinking, vaping/cigarette use, regular opiate use, participating in anal intercourse while intoxicated, and having a last partner who was an unknown person, compared to participants who did not report those behaviors.

We also conducted a sensitivity analysis using decreased stimulant use as our outcome. Decreased stimulant use was reported at 23.1% (n=521/2,251) of visits (Table 5.17). In adjusted analysis, decreased stimulant use was positively associated with unemployment, living with HIV, binge drinking, substance use treatment, and anal intercourse while intoxicated, compared to participants who did not report those characteristics/behaviors. While many of these predictors overlap with increased stimulant use, we believe that this overlap is likely due to the high prevalence of substance use and sexual risk behaviors in this cohort as a whole - particularly as this cohort was designed to comprise a high-risk sample of MSM. Table 5.18 shows the unadjusted and adjusted β coefficients of the lasso model that used the native, 5-level self-reported stimulant use variable. Overall, stimulant use was positively associated with living with HIV, unstable housing, incarceration, intimate partner violence, cannabis use, cigarette/vaping, regular other prescription drug use, regular opiate use, anal intercourse while intoxicated, group sex while intoxicated, transactional sex, and having a last partner that used stimulants.

Stratified by HIV Status

Among participants living with HIV, the sample consisted of 1,199 study visits across 242 participants. An interval increase in stimulant use was reported at 22.9% (n=274) of visits completed by participants living with HIV. Median age was 36 (IQR 31-41) and at 50.5% (n=606) of visits participants reported never using stimulants in last 6 months, 12.1% (n=145) reported daily use, 11.6% (n=139) reported weekly use, and 11.7% (n=140) reported less than monthly use (Table 5.8).

Participants who reported increased stimulant use tended to report higher frequency of unstable housing, binge drinking, vaping/cigarette use, using poppers regularly, having a regular sexual partner in last 6 months, participating in transactional sex, and having their last sexual partner use ecstasy compared to those who did not report increased stimulant use. When limiting the sample to only participants living with HIV, many of the predictors that lasso models selected were the same as the lasso models that were fit on the entire cohort, including unstable housing, binge drinking, vaping/cigarette use, regular opiate use, participating in transactional sex, and reporting that their last sexual partner used ecstasy. Predictors that were correlated with increased stimulant use among participants living with HIV but that lasso did not select for the entire cohort included reporting regular poppers use, having a regular partner in the last 6 months, and reporting that one's last partner was a regular/main partner. In adjusted analyses (Table 5.9), increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing, binge drinking, vaping/cigarette use, using poppers regularly, and transactional sex and was negatively associated with reporting that one's last partner was a regular/main partner, compared to participants who were living with HIV that did not report those characteristics/behaviors.

Among HIV-negative participants, the sample consisted of 912 study visits across 228 participants. Increased stimulant use was reported at 18.2% (n=166) of study visits completed by the HIV-negative cohort. Median age was 30 (IQR 26-36). Compared to participants living with HIV, HIV-negative participants tended to report stimulant use less frequently, with HIV-negative participants reporting never using stimulants in last 6 months at 64.7% (n=590) of visits, daily stimulant use at 7.1% (n=65) of visits, weekly use at 6.8% (n=62) of visits, and less than monthly use at 7.5% (n=68) of visits. HIV-negative participants who reported increased stimulant use tended to report lower income and education levels as well as higher frequency of unemployment, unstable housing, cannabis use, sexual risk behaviors (anal intercourse while intoxicated, group sex while
intoxicated, transactional sex, concurrent partners), and last partner substance use (alcohol, poppers, and injection drug use) compared to those who did not report increased stimulant use (Table 5.13). In adjusted analysis (Table 5.14), increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing, cannabis use, transactional sex, group sex while intoxicated, and having a last sexual partner who injected drugs and was negatively associated with higher levels of education, compared to HIV-negative participants who did not endorse those characteristics/behaviors.

When limiting the sample to HIV-negative participants, the predictors selected by lasso did not have as much overlap with the entire cohort as the lasso models that only included participants living with HIV. However, lasso models for the HIV-negative participants and the entire cohort both contained employment status, unstable housing, cannabis use, transactional sex, and anal sex while intoxicated. However, the lasso models that included the HIV-negative participants tended to include more sexual risk behaviors (e.g., group sex while intoxicated and concurrent partners) and last partner substance use (last partner used alcohol, poppers, or injected drugs) that were not included in the lasso models for entire cohort. When comparing lasso models between those living with HIV and HIV-negative participants, unstable housing and transactional sex were correlated with increased stimulant use for both groups, yet additional selected predictors between the two groups appeared to differ. Among HIV-negative MSM, constructs pertaining to socioeconomic status, sexual risk behaviors, and last partner substance use appeared to correlate highly with increased stimulant use and were selected by lasso models. Conversely, among participants living with HIV, polysubstance use (i.e., reported use of other drugs and binge drinking) correlated highly with increased stimulant use and was selected by lasso models.

Discussion

In this analysis of a diverse cohort of MSM in Los Angeles, California, increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing, transactional sex, polysubstance use, STI diagnosis, and sexual risk behavior. However, when stratified by HIV status, polysubstance use was highly correlated with increased stimulant use among participants living with HIV, whereas last partnership characteristics and sexual risk behaviors were correlated with increased stimulant use for HIV-negative participants. This analysis is among the first to utilize lasso for variable selection and creation of predictive models to evaluate factors that are associated with increased stimulant use. Our approach demonstrates that machine learning techniques can be a useful and efficient tool to assist with selecting relevant predictors from datasets with large amounts of potential variables to create conceptually relevant models. By using lasso for variable selection, this approach allowed us to evaluate differences in predictors that were associated with increased stimulant use according to HIV status. These findings provide an important next step in understanding the disproportionate effect that the complicated stimulant use epidemic has on certain MSM subpopulations and could potentially be used to inform future HIV prevention interventions.

Our findings demonstrate that increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing and transactional sex, which is concordant with prior studies.²⁵³⁻²⁵⁵ Unstable housing and transactional sex were consistently selected across all models, suggesting that these variables were highly correlated with increased stimulant use, which may be attributed to minority stress and bias experienced by MSM. Compared to the general population, sexual minorities disproportionately experience unstable housing, often due to homophobia, rejection, and abuse that forces them from their homes.^{256, 257} Stimulants may be used to cope with distressing emotions associated with stigmatization, victimization, and bias associated with being a sexual minority.^{258, 259} Furthermore, stimulants are often used as form of coping with stressful feelings associated with being unstably housed as well as a means of survival.^{260, 261} For example, stimulants may be utilized to stay awake to protect belongings, facilitate social interaction with others, and as an alternative to psychiatric medications.²⁶² Unstably housed MSM may also use stimulants to obtain a sense of belonging, to bond with others, or due to perceived social norms, given the higher prevalence and social acceptance of substance use among unstably housed individuals.^{261, 263} Transactional sex has a strong association with unstable housing, as transactional sex can be used as a mechanism to obtain financial support or shelter among unstably housed individuals.^{264, 265} Transactional sex may also occur for the purpose of obtaining drugs, which may also explain its association with increased stimulant use.²⁶⁶ Collectively, these findings underscore the importance of addressing the underlying factors that often drive the interdependent relationship between unstable housing, stimulant use, and transactional sex. Specifically, these findings suggest the potential utility of interventions, such as contingency management, that are designed to reduce these barriers through linkages to financial or community resources in exchange for not using substances.^{267, 268}

In addition to variables associated with socioeconomic disadvantage (e.g., unstable housing and transactional sex), having a last partner who used stimulants and engaging in anal intercourse while intoxicated were positively associated with increased stimulant use. These findings highlight the social and sexual contexts during which stimulants are used by MSM and the prominence of stimulant use within certain gay subcultures, where stimulants are frequently used in sex clubs, circuit parties, and bath houses.^{32,34} Stimulants are often used by MSM in sexual settings to obtain sexual partners, increase libido, augment sexual stamina, and for disinhibition.^{88,133} However, sexualized stimulant use can impair decision making and lead to sexual risk behaviors, such as increased number of casual partners and impaired condom negotiation.^{37,269} Due to these contexts, sexualized stimulant use is independently associated with HIV/STIs and is an important driver of HIV/STI transmission within the sexual networks of stimulant-using MSM.^{39,44} For example, recent stimulant use was attributed to 32.7% of HIV seroconversions among MSM enrolled in a multi-institutional cohort.⁴⁰ As increased stimulant use was also positively associated with having an STI, which is a known risk factor for HIV transmission, these findings underscore the importance of

coordinated public health efforts that incorporate treatment of comorbid stimulant use into HIV/STI treatment and prevention interventions.

Among individuals living with HIV, polysubstance use both correlated highly and was associated with increased stimulant use. Polysubstance use among MSM living with HIV may be used as a means to cope with an HIV diagnosis, HIV-related stigma, or depressive symptoms.^{270, 271} Substance use may be used as an avoidant coping strategy to mitigate stress associated with being a sexual minority.^{272, 273} This minority stress may be exacerbated with the stigma of living with HIV, potentially resulting in increased substance use. This consideration is highlighted in a study by Jerome et. al., where MSM living with HIV who used substances tended to report higher levels of distressing emotions related to an undesirable self-image and daily stressors than their HIV-negative counterparts.²⁷⁴ The need for external validation due to a negative self-image may cause MSM living with HIV to engage in substance use to feel more desirable and to form connections with others in both social and sexual contexts.²⁷⁵ MSM living with HIV may use substances for social inclusion among groups where substance use is socially accepted and due to fear that they may be excluded from these groups if they do not engage in substance use.¹⁷⁸ Furthermore, the normalization of substance use within social circles may perpetuate continued substance use and serve as a potential barrier to reductions in substance use, particularly if the individual perceives that their social network would not be supportive of their desire to stop using substances.^{275, 276} Understanding these contexts and drivers of substance use among MSM living with HIV is particularly important from a public health standpoint given the well-established connection between substance use and sexual risk behavior,^{53, 277} which was further supported by our findings demonstrating that increased stimulant use was associated with transactional sex and having a last partner that was a non-primary partner. In addition to increased sexual risk behavior, substance use is also associated with antiretroviral therapy nonadherence, further reinforcing the contribution of substance use to ongoing HIV

transmission within certain MSM subpopulations.²⁷⁸ Collectively, these findings highlight the importance of interventions designed to improve peer support, reduce HIV-related stigma, and the potential value of integrating substance use treatment into the HIV care continuum.

In contrast to participants living with HIV where polysubstance use was associated with increased stimulant use, among HIV-negative participants, socioeconomic status, sexual risk behaviors (e.g., having group sex or anal intercourse while intoxicated), and last partner substance use correlated highly with increased stimulant use. These findings are consistent with data demonstrating that stimulant use is highly prevalent within sexual contexts and associated with increased individual-level sexual risk behaviors among stimulant-using MSM.^{38, 279} However, these findings suggest that partnership dynamics may influence stimulant use patterns or vice versa. It is possible that stimulant-using MSM may seek out partners with similar patterns of substance use or that their partners' substance use may influence their own behaviors.²⁸⁰⁻²⁸² Alternatively, HIVnegative MSM may have a tendency to use stimulants within sexualized contexts where substance use is more common and where they are more likely to encounter partners who also engage in sexualized substance use, such as circuit parties, bath houses or sex clubs.^{89, 283} Beyond individuallevel risk behavior, substance use within sexual partnerships has been associated with increased sexual risk behaviors, such as condomless anal intercourse with serodiscordant partners.^{284, 285} Furthermore, within stable partnerships, partnership-level substance use may influence couples' sexual behavior as well as decision-making surrounding risk mitigation strategies, such as sexual agreements and whether those agreements are broken.²⁸⁶ These findings highlight the sexual contexts in which substances are used among HIV-negative MSM and further support the extant literature indicating that stimulant use likely plays a substantial role in HIV seroconversion and STI transmission within these stimulant-using subpopulations.^{37, 287} As partnership dynamics likely influence sexualized substance use and subsequent sexual risk behaviors, these results suggest that

partnership dynamics should be considered when creating HIV prevention interventions and demonstrate the potential utility of sexual partnership-based interventions that combine substance use treatment with HIV prevention.

Limitations

Our findings must be considered within the context of limitations. While machine learning techniques can be a useful tool for variable selection, the variables that are selected by these models are prone to misspecification, which may have resulted in variables associated with increased stimulant use being excluded from models. This limitation is particularly relevant in the context of lasso, which has the tendency to exclude correlated variables from models. However, we attempted to account for this in our approach by conducting a series of sensitivity analyses to ensure that correlated variables were not spuriously deleted. It is also important to note that, while lasso and elastic net selected variables that were highly correlated with our outcome, we are unable to make causal inferences from our models. While our outcome variable measured self-reported increased stimulant use in last 6-months, other measures that were included in our models varied in terms of timeline (i.e., sexual risk behaviors were assessed at 6 months, 3 months, and with last partner). As such, it is possible that spurious associations may have occurred due to the multiple timeframes that were assessed, such as associations with risk behaviors that did not overlap in time with each other or when the stimulant use occurred. However, we felt that inclusion of these multiple timepoints were justified in our analysis so that we could limit omitted variables bias as much as possible by including numerous potential measures that may be associated with increased stimulant use in our models.

As this was a secondary data analysis, our study was constrained to measures that were contained in the dataset, resulting in potential omitted variables bias. This consideration is particularly relevant as constructs surrounding stimulant use are multifaceted and complex and may not have been adequately captured in the surveys that were administered as part of the parent study. Furthermore, certain constructs regarding sexual risk behaviors and substance use were not captured within the dataset, such as partnership dyadic characteristics and contexts/settings in which the substance use and sexual activities took place, which need to be considered in the interpretation of our results and represent an important area of future research, given the association of last partnership characteristics with increased stimulant use. Finally, as this cohort comprises a diverse sample of MSM with high rates of substance use, this limits the generalizability of our findings to other subpopulations of MSM.

Conclusions

As stimulant use is an important driver of sexual risk behavior and HIV/STI transmission among certain MSM subpopulations, research evaluating factors that contribute to increased stimulant use is critical to improve the health of this population and to inform targeted, effective HIV prevention interventions. This study is among the first to utilize lasso for variable selection to evaluate factors associated with increased stimulant use among a diverse cohort of MSM. Our analysis adds to the literature by demonstrating that variables commonly collected in HIV and substance use research can be used to build models which predict stimulant use with a reasonable degree of accuracy. Our findings demonstrate that increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing and transactional sex across all models. These results underscore the importance of designing HIV prevention interventions that address the underlying factors that often drive the interdependent relationship between unstable housing, stimulant use, and transactional sex which contribute to ongoing HIV/STI transmission among vulnerable MSM subpopulations. Specifically, these findings suggest the potential utility of interventions that incorporate strategies such as contingency management, which provides linkages to community or financial resources in exchange for not using substances.^{267, 268}

Our analysis revealed that polysubstance use was associated with increased stimulant use among participants living with HIV. These findings suggest that MSM living with HIV may use stimulants in conjunction with other substances as a coping strategy to mitigate negative feelings associated with an HIV diagnosis, HIV-related stigma, or depressive symptoms.^{270, 274} In contrast, our analysis demonstrated that increased stimulant use among HIV-negative participants was associated with sexual risk behaviors, sexualized substance use, and last partner substance use. As increased stimulant use was also associated with having a last partner who used stimulants for the entire cohort, these findings highlight that sexual contexts and partnership dynamics likely drive stimulant use within certain MSM subpopulations. Collectively, these findings indicate that the underlying motivations and factors which contribute to stimulant use patterns among MSM likely differ based on HIV status and suggest that these differences should be accounted for in the design of HIV prevention and treatment interventions. Our results demonstrate the potential role of interventions that reduce HIV-related stigma and integrate substance use treatment into the HIV care continuum for stimulant-using MSM living with HIV. Conversely, stimulant-using HIVnegative MSM may benefit from HIV prevention interventions that address sexualized substance use as well as sexual partnership-based interventions.

Tables and Figures

Variable	Levels	Variable	Levels
Outcome Variable		Circuit party*	Yes, No
Increased stimulant use	Yes, No	New male partners*	Yes, No
Control Variables		Transgender partner*	Yes, No
Age	Continuous	Main partner*	Yes, No
Race/ethnicity	White, Black, Latinx, Other	Regular partner*	Yes, No
HIV	Yes, No	Unknown partner*	Yes, No
Demographics/Mental Healt	h	One-time partner*	Yes, No
Education	< HS, HS, > HS	Number male partners*	0, 1-2, 3-9, 10+
Income	< 10k, 10-30k, > 30k	Group sex while intoxicated**	Yes, No
Sexual orientation	Gay, Bisexual/Other	AI while intoxicated**	Yes, No
Gender identity	Male, Not Male	Last Partner	
Employment	Employed, Unemployed	Main/Regular partner	Yes, No
Unstable housing*	Yes, No	Length of relationship	Days, Months, Years
Incarcerated*	Yes, No	Used alcohol	Yes, No
Intimate partner violence	Yes, No	Used cannabis	Yes, No
Depression	$CESD \le 23$, $CESD > 23$	Used poppers	Yes, No
Substance Use*		Used ecstasy	Yes, No
Vaping or cigarette use	Yes, No	Used ED meds	Yes, No
Binge drinking	Never, ≤ Monthly, Weekly/Daily	Used stimulants	Yes, No
Receiving substance use tx	Yes, No	Used opiates	Yes, No
Cannabis use	Never, < Daily, Daily	Injected drugs	Yes, No
Regular opiate use	Yes, No	Concurrency with last partner	Yes, No
Regular poppers use	Yes, No	Transactional sex with	Yes, No
Regular other rx drug use	Yes, No	Partied with	Yes, No
Sexual Risk		Met in public setting for sex	Yes, No
PrEP/PEP or Undetect VL	Yes, No	Was a one-time partner	Yes, No
STI	Yes, No	Was an unknown person	Yes, No
Exchange sex last 3 months	Yes, No	Never saw again after sex	Yes, No
Concurrent partners*	Yes, No	Knew HIV status	Yes, No

Table 5.1 Predictors included in lasso and elastic net models

HS = High School; CESD = Center of Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale; tx = treatment; rx = prescription; PrEP = Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis; PEP = Post-Exposure Prophylaxis; Undetect VL = Undetectable Viral Load; STI = Sexually Transmitted Infection (any site gonorrhea/chlamydia and/or syphilis); AI = Anal Intercourse; ED = Erectile Dysfunction *last 6 months; **last 3 months

Figure 5.1 Lasso cross-validation plot for entire cohort



Table 5.2 Goodness of fit indices for lasso and elastic net models for entire cohort

Lasso Models							Elasti	c Net
λ	λ=0.	030*	λ=0	.021	λ=0.	016**	-	-
Variables added			Regular poppe	ers use	Regular poppe	ers use	Regular poppers	use
			Last partnersh	ip length	Last partnersh	ip length	Last partnership	length
			Regular use of	ther rx drugs	Regular use of	ther rx drugs	Regular use othe	r rx drugs
					Education		Education	
					Income		Income	
						Know last partner serostatus		
							Last partner used	d poppers
							One-time partne	r last 6 mos
							Group sex while	intoxicated
							Unknown partne	er last 6 mos
	Training	Testing	Training	Testing	Training	Testing	Training	Testing
n	1,028	1,059	985	1,021	949	986	917	947
Deviance	0.95	0.93	0.94	0.91	0.92	0.92	0.93	0.91
Deviance Ratio	0.08	0.09	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10
AUC	0.73	0.79	0.74	0.79	0.75	0.79	0.76	0.81
MCC	0.23	0.30	0.27	0.30	0.26	0.30	0.27	0.34

AUC = Area Under the Receiving Operating Curve; MCC = Matthew's Correlation Coefficient; rx = prescription *Largest λ within 1 standard error; **Minimal λ based on cross-validation

<u>Note</u> all models contain the following variables: age, race/ethnicity, HIV status, cannabis use last 6 months, unstable housing, vaping/cigarette use, transactional sex, anal intercourse while intoxicated, last partner used stimulants, employment status, binge drinking, last partner was unknown person, STI diagnosis, last partner used ecstasy, regular opiate use

Table 5.3 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final lasso model of the entire cohort (N=2,095 study visits)

	No Change (n=1,657)	Increased Use (n=438)	p-value
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median, IQR)	33 (28-40)	33 (28-39)	0.76
Race/Ethnicity			
White	104 (6.3%)	32 (7.3%)	0.13
Black	665 (40.1%)	149 (34.0%)	0.120
Latinx	812 (49.0%)	237 (54.1%)	
Other	76 (4.6%)	20 (4.6%)	
HIV	10 (11070)	20 (1107.0)	
Negative	791 (47.7%)	178 (40.6%)	0.008
Living with HIV	866 (52 3%)	260 (59.4%)	0.000
Demographics	000 (02.070)	200 (33.170)	
Employment status			
Employed	1 327 (80 1%)	311 (71 0%)	<0.001
Unemployed	330 (10.0%)	127(20.0%)	<0.001
Instable bousing	550 (19.970)	12/ (29.070)	
No.	1 454 (07 70/)	226 (74 40/)	~0.001
INO Van	1,454(8/./%)	320 (74.4%)	<0.001
	203 (12.3%)	112 (25.6%)	
<u>ubstance Use</u>			
singe drinking last 6 months	8		
Never	965 (58.2%)	207 (47.3%)	< 0.001
Monthly or less	540 (32.6%)	166 (37.9%)	
Weekly/daily	152 (9.2%)	65 (14.8%)	
aping/Cigarette			
No	1,226 (74.0%)	247 (56.4%)	< 0.001
Yes	431 (26.0%)	191 (43.6%)	
annabis Use			
No	890 (53.7%)	157 (35.8%)	< 0.001
Weekly or less frequent	434 (26.2%)	144 (32.9%)	
Daily	333 (20.1%)	137 (31.3%)	
Regular opiate use		(·)	
No	1.606 (96.9%)	416 (95.0%)	0.048
Yes	51 (3 1%)	22 (5 0%)	
timulant use	51 (5.170)	22 (3.070)	
Never	590 (79 1%)	0.00%	<0 001
Once	38 (5 10/2)	A6 (27 7%)	~0.001
Loss than mostlyly	30(3.170) 25 (470/)	(2/.770)	
Monthly	33(4.7%)	33 (19.9%) 20 (12.19()	
wontniy	25 (5.1%)	20 (12.1%)	
Weekly	27 (3.6%)	35 (21.1%)	
Daily	33 (4.4%)	32 (19.3%)	
exual Risk Behavior			
exually transmitted infectio	n		
No	1,429 (86.2%)	334 (76.3%)	< 0.001
Yes	228 (13.8%)	104 (23.7%)	
anal intercourse while intoxi	cated		
No	915 (55.2%)	132 (30.1%)	< 0.001
Yes	742 (44.8%)	306 (69.9%)	
'ransactional sex			
No	1,484 (89.6%)	311 (71.0%)	< 0.001
Yes	173 (10.4%)	127 (29.0%)	
last partner		· /	
ast partner was unknown n	erson		
No	1.502 (90.6%)	376 (85.8%)	0.003
Ves	155 (9.4%)	62 (14 2%)	0.005
act partner used stimulants	133 (7.7.0)	02 (17.2/0)	
No	1 202 (79 00/.)	225 (51 40/)	<0.001
INO Vac	1,292 (/0.070)	223 (31.470)	~0.001
	303 (22.0%)	213 (48.0%)	
ast partner used ecstasy	4 504 (04 00/)	200 (00 00/)	10 001
No	1,591 (96.0%)	398 (90.9%)	<0.001
Ves	66 (4 0%)	40 (9.1%)	

	OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables				
Age	1.00 (0.98-1.02)	0.97	1.01 (0.98-1.03)	0.68
Race/Ethnicity				
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.77 (0.40-1.50)	0.44	1.08 (0.57-2.06)	0.80
Latinx	1.11 (0.58-2.12)	0.76	1.55 (0.82-2.91)	0.17
Other	0.87 (0.35-2.11)	0.75	1.30 (0.55-3.05)	0.55
HIV				
Negative	Ref		Ref	
Living with HIV	1.44 (1.03-2.02)	0.035	1.30 (0.93-1.81)	0.12
<u>Demographics</u>				
Employment status				
Employed	Ref		Ref	
Unemployed	1.49 (1.09-2.02)	0.011	1.13 (0.82-1.55)	0.45
Unstable housing				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.74 (1.94-3.86)	< 0.001	1.81 (1.27-2.57)	0.001
<u>Substance Use</u>				
Binge drinking				
Never	Ref		Ref	
Monthly or less	1.55 (1.15-2.08)	0.004	1.59 (1.17-2.15)	0.003
Weekly/daily	2.04 (1.30-3.22)	0.002	1.76 (1.13-2.75)	0.013
Vaping/Cigarette				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.29 (1.69-3.10)	< 0.001	1.69 (1.24-2.31)	0.001
Cannabis Use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Weekly or less frequent	2.22 (1.59-3.08)	< 0.001	1.82 (1.31-2.54)	< 0.001
Daily	2.87 (1.98-4.16)	< 0.001	2.24 (1.55-3.25)	< 0.001
Regular opiate use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.07 (1.06-4.04)	0.032	1.00 (0.50-2.01)	1.00
<u>Sexual Risk Behavior</u>				
Sexually transmitted infec	tion			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.09 (1.51-2.88)	< 0.001	1.59 (1.14-2.21)	0.006
Anal intercourse while inter	oxicated			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.01 (2.27-3.98)	< 0.001	1.64 (1.21-2.20)	0.001
Transactional sex				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	4.17 (2.97-5.85)	< 0.001	2.30 (1.60-3.30)	< 0.001
<u>Last Partner</u>				
Last partner was unknown	n person			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.89 (1.27-2.83)	0.002	1.54 (1.03-2.32)	0.037
Last partner used stimular	nts			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.55 (2.69-4.69)	<0.001	2.21 (1.62-3.00)	< 0.001
Last partner used ecstasy				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.45 (1.43-4.20)	0.001	1.25 (0.71-2.18)	0.44

Table 5.4 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final lasso model of the entire cohort (N=2,095 study visits)

Table 5.5 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final	
elastic net model of the entire cohort (N=1,864 study visits)	

	No Change (n=1,474)	Increased Use (n=390)	p-value
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median, IQR)	33 (28-40)	34 (28-39)	0.94
Race/Ethnicity			
White	90 (6.1%)	25 (6.4%)	0.06
Black	585 (39.7%)	126 (32.3%)	
Latinx	733 (49.7%)	221 (56.7%)	
Other	66 (4.5%)	18 (4.6%)	
HIV			
Negative	703 (47.7%)	153 (39.2%)	0.003
Living with HIV	771 (52 3%)	237 (60.8%)	
Demographics	(11 (021070)		
Employment status			
Employed	1 174 (79 6%)	282(72.3%)	0.002
Linomployed	200(20.4%)	108(27.7%)	0.002
Unstable housing	300 (20.470)	100 (2/./70)	
No.	1 206 (07 20/)	201 (74 (0/)	~0.001
INO X	1,286 (87.2%)	291 (74.6%)	<0.001
res	188 (12.8%)	99 (25.4%)	
Income		404 (17 201)	0.000
Less than 10k	5/9 (39.3%)	184 (47.2%)	0.002
10-30k	536 (36.4%)	140 (35.9%)	
More than 30k	359 (24.4%)	66 (16.9%)	
Education			
Less than high school	146 (9.9%)	51 (13.1%)	0.18
High school	470 (31.9%)	124 (31.8%)	
More than high school	858 (58.2%)	215 (55.1%)	
Substance Use			
Binge drinking last 6 months			
Never	853 (57.9%)	185 (47.4%)	< 0.001
Monthly or less	486 (33.0%)	150 (38.5%)	
Weekly/daily	135 (9.2%)	55 (14.1%)	
Vaning/Cigarette	100 (12/0)	00 (11170)	
No	1 098 (74 5%)	220(56.4%)	<0.001
Vec	376 (25 5%)	170 (43.6%)	\$0.001
Cannabia Usa	570 (25.570)	170 (45.070)	
No	781 (53.0%)	138 (35 40%)	<0.001
Woold an loss from out	205 (26 90/)	100 (00.470)	~0.001
weekly or less frequent	372 (20.8%) 209 (20.20/)	128 (32.8%)	
	298 (20.2%)	124 (31.8%)	
Regular opiate use	4 407 (04 00/)	270 (05 40/)	0.47
INO	1,42/ (96.8%)	3/2 (95.4%)	0.17
Yes	47 (3.2%)	18 (4.6%)	
Regular poppers use			
No	1,360 (92.3%)	318 (81.5%)	<0.001
Yes	114 (7.7%)	72 (18.5%)	
Regular use of other prescript	ion drugs		
No	1,413 (95.9%)	359 (92.1%)	0.002
Yes	61 (4.1%)	31 (7.9%)	
Stimulant use			
Never	1,050 (71.2%)	0 (0%)	< 0.001
Once	67 (4.6%)	81 (20.8%)	
Less than monthly	112 (7.6%)	68 (17.4%)	
Monthly	52 (3.5%)	65 (16.7%)	
Weekly	99 (6 7%)	81 (20.8%)	
Daily	94 (6 4%)	95(244%)	
Sevual Rick Rehavior) T (0. T /0)	>> (∠ ⊤ .⊤/0)	
Sevually transmitted infection			
No	1 271 (96 20/)	207(7(20/))	~0.001
INO X	1,2/1 (80.2%)	297 (76.2%)	<0.001
	203 (13.8%)	95 (25.8%)	
Anal intercourse while intoxic	ated	107 (07 10/)	-0.004
INO V	/88 (53.5%)	107 (27.4%)	< 0.001
res	080 (46.5%)	283 (72.6%)	
	107		

Transactional sex			
No	1,322 (89.7%)	277 (71.0%)	< 0.001
Yes	152 (10.3%)	113 (29.0%)	
Unknown partner last 6 m	nonths		
No	1,124 (76.3%)	256 (65.6%)	< 0.001
Yes	350 (23.7%)	134 (34.4%)	
One-time partner last 6 m	onths	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
No	885 (60.0%)	199 (51.0%)	0.001
Yes	589 (40.0%)	191 (49.0%)	
Trade partner last 6 mont	hs	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
No	1,231 (83.5%)	255 (65.4%)	< 0.001
Yes	243 (16.5%)	135 (34.6%)	
<u>Last Partner</u>		. /	
Last partner length of rela	ationship		
Days	856 (58.1%)	236 (60.5%)	0.62
Months	405 (27.5%)	104 (26.7%)	
Years	213 (14.5%)	50 (12.8%)	
Knew last partner's HIV	status		
No	394 (26.7%)	125 (32.1%)	0.037
Yes	1,080 (73.3%)	265 (67.9%)	
Last partner was unknow	n person		
No	1,336 (90.6%)	336 (86.2%)	0.01
Yes	138 (9.4%)	54 (13.8%)	
Last partner used stimula	nts	· /	
No	1,137 (77.1%)	198 (50.8%)	< 0.001
Yes	337 (22.9%)	192 (49.2%)	
Last partner used ecstasy		· · /	
No	1,417 (96.1%)	355 (91.0%)	< 0.001
Yes	57 (3.9%)	35 (9.0%)	
Last partner used popper	s	× /	
No	1,167 (79.2%)	276 (70.8%)	< 0.001
Yes	307 (20.8%)	114 (29.2%)	

	OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables	(/	1		· · · · ·
Age	1.00 (0.98-1.03)	0.92	1.01 (0.98-1.03)	0.53
Race/Ethnicity	. /		. ,	
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.86 (0.42-1.79)	0.69	1.25 (0.61-2.52)	0.54
Latinx	1.33 (0.66-2.71)	0.43	1.91 (0.95-3.83)	0.07
Other	1.01 (0.38-2.65)	0.99	1.57 (0.62-3.99)	0.34
HIV				
Negative	Ref		Ref	
Living with HIV	1.56 (1.09-2.22)	0.014	1.32 (0.93-1.88)	0.12
<u>Demographics</u>				
Employment status				
Employed	Ref		Ref	
Unemployed	1.34 (0.97-1.86)	0.08	1.00 (0.71-1.42)	0.99
Unstable housing				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.67 (1.86-3.85)	<0.001	1.70 (1.17-2.48)	0.006
Income				
Less than 10k	Ref		Ref	
10-30k	0.85 (0.62-1.16)	0.31	1.07 (0.77-1.48)	0.69
More than 30k	0.62 (0.41-0.93)	0.02	0.86 (0.56-1.32)	0.48
Education				
Less than high school	Ref		Ref	
High school	0.71 (0.42-1.21)	0.20	0.82 (0.49-1.35)	0.43
More than high school	0.69 (0.41-1.15)	0.15	0.76 (0.46-1.24)	0.27
<u>Substance Use</u>				
Binge drinking last 6 mon	nths			
Never	Ret		Ret	
Monthly or less	1.55 (1.13-2.12)	0.006	1.61 (1.16-2.22)	0.004
Weekly/daily	2.01 (1.24-3.27)	0.005	1.74 (1.08-2.79)	0.022
Vaping/Cigarette	D (D (
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.37 (1.72-3.27)	<0.001	1./4 (1.25-2.42)	0.001
Cannabis Use	D C		D.C	
No Wall and a families	Ket		Ket	
Weekly or less frequent	2.05 (1.44-2.90)	< 0.001	1./1(1.20-2.44)	0.003
Daily B aanlan aniata waa	2.85 (1.93-4.20)	<0.001	2.1/(1.4/-3.22)	<0.001
Negular opiate use	Def		Def	
NO Voc	1 70 (0 82 2 40)	0.15	0.82 (0.27 1.70)	0.62
	1.70 (0.65-5.49)	0.15	0.82 (0.57-1.79)	0.62
No.	Dof		Dof	
NO	10(207402)	<0.001	1 74 (1 10 2 77)	0.010
Regular use of other press	(2.07-4.92)	<0.001	1.74 (1.10-2.77)	0.019
No	Ref		Ref	
NO	251(136462)	0.003	0.66 (0.33.1.30)	0.23
Sevual Pick Behavior	2.51 (1.30-4.02)	0.005	0.00 (0.55-1.50)	0.23
Sexually transmitted infec	rtion			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.07 (1.47-2.92)	< 0.001	1.51 (1.05-2.15)	0.025
Anal intercourse while int	oxicated	-0.001	1.51 (1.05 2.15)	0.025
No	Ref		Ref	
Ves	3 17 (2 35-4 28)	<0.001	1 70 (1 21-2 38)	0.002
Transactional sex	5117 (2100 1120)		11/0 (1121 2100)	01002
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	4.07 (2.85-5.82)	<0.001	2.20 (1.47-3.28)	<0.001
Unknown partner last 6 m	onths			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.64 (1.22-2.22)	0.001	0.93 (0.66-1.31)	0.67
One-time partner last 6 m	onths			
No	Ref		Ref	

Table 5.6 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final elastic net model of the entire cohort (N=1,864 study visits)

Trade partner last 6 months No Ref Ref Yes $3.10 (2.24.4.30)$ <0.001	Yes	1.49 (1.13-1.97)	0.005	1.09 (0.80-1.48)	0.58
NoRefRefYes $3.10 (2.24 \cdot 4.30)$ <0.001	Trade partner last 6	months		. ,	
Yes $3.10 (2.24-4.30)$ <0.001 $1.20 (0.82-1.75)$ 0.36 Last partnerLast partner length of relationship 0.89 $0.66-1.20$ 0.45 $1.05 (0.76-1.44)$ 0.77 Years $0.89 (0.66-1.20)$ 0.45 $1.05 (0.76-1.44)$ 0.77 Years $0.84 (0.57-1.26)$ 0.41 $1.03 (0.68-1.56)$ 0.88 Knew last partner's HIV status No Ref $$ Ref $$ Yes $0.75 (0.55-1.01)$ 0.06 $0.92 (0.67-1.27)$ 0.62 Last partner was unknown person No Ref $$ Ref $$ NoRef $$ Ref $$ Yes $1.79 (1.17-2.75)$ 0.008 $1.43 (0.90-2.27)$ 0.13 Last partner used stimulants No Ref $$ Ref $$ NoRef $$ Ref $$ $-$ Yes $3.44 (2.57-4.61)$ 0.001 $2.03 (1.46-2.83)$ 0.001 Last partner used ecstasy No Ref $$ Ref $$ NoRef $$ Ref $$ Yes $2.58 (1.45-4.61)$ 0.001 $1.61 (0.88-2.93)$ 0.12 Last partner used poppers No Ref $$ Ref $$ Yes $1.50 (1.09-2.05)$ 0.013 $0.83 (0.59-1.19)$ 0.31	No	Ref		Ref	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Yes	3.10 (2.24-4.30)	< 0.001	1.20 (0.82-1.75)	0.36
Last partner length of relationship Days Ref Ref Months 0.89 (0.66-1.20) 0.45 1.05 (0.76-1.44) 0.77 Years 0.84 (0.57-1.26) 0.41 1.03 (0.68-1.56) 0.88 Knew last partner's HIV status V </td <td>Last Partner</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Last Partner				
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Last partner length o	of relationship			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Days	Ref		Ref	
Years $0.84 (0.57-1.26)$ 0.41 $1.03 (0.68-1.56)$ 0.88 Knew last partner's HIV statusNoRefRefYes $0.75 (0.55-1.01)$ 0.06 $0.92 (0.67-1.27)$ 0.62 Last partner was unknown personNoRefRefYes $1.79 (1.17-2.75)$ 0.008 $1.43 (0.90-2.27)$ 0.13 Last partner used stimulantsNoRefRefYes $3.44 (2.57-4.61)$ <0.001 $2.03 (1.46-2.83)$ <0.001 Last partner used ecstasyNoRefRefYes $2.58 (1.45-4.61)$ 0.001 $1.61 (0.88-2.93)$ 0.12 Last partner used poppersNoRefRefYes $1.50 (1.09-2.05)$ 0.013 $0.83 (0.59-1.19)$ 0.31	Months	0.89 (0.66-1.20)	0.45	1.05 (0.76-1.44)	0.77
Knew last partner's HIV status No Ref Ref Yes $0.75 (0.55 \cdot 1.01)$ 0.06 $0.92 (0.67 \cdot 1.27)$ 0.62 Last partner was unknown person No Ref Ref Yes $1.79 (1.17 \cdot 2.75)$ 0.008 $1.43 (0.90 \cdot 2.27)$ 0.13 Last partner used stimulants No Ref Ref Yes $3.44 (2.57 \cdot 4.61)$ <0.001 $2.03 (1.46 \cdot 2.83)$ <0.001 Last partner used ecstasy No Ref Ref Yes $2.58 (1.45 \cdot 4.61)$ 0.001 $1.61 (0.88 \cdot 2.93)$ 0.12 Last partner used poppers No Ref Ref Yes $2.58 (1.45 \cdot 4.61)$ 0.001 $1.61 (0.88 \cdot 2.93)$ 0.12 Last partner used poppers No Ref Ref No Ref Ref - Yes 1.60	Years	0.84 (0.57-1.26)	0.41	1.03 (0.68-1.56)	0.88
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Knew last partner's l	HIV status			
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	No	Ref		Ref	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Yes	0.75 (0.55-1.01)	0.06	0.92 (0.67-1.27)	0.62
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Last partner was unl	known person			
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	No	Ref		Ref	
Last partner used stimulants Ref Ref Yes 3.44 (2.57-4.61) <0.001	Yes	1.79 (1.17-2.75)	0.008	1.43 (0.90-2.27)	0.13
No Ref Ref Yes 3.44 (2.57-4.61) <0.001	Last partner used sti	mulants			
Yes 3.44 (2.57-4.61) <0.001 2.03 (1.46-2.83) <0.001 Last partner used ecstasy Ref Ref Yes 2.58 (1.45-4.61) 0.001 1.61 (0.88-2.93) 0.12 Last partner used poppers Ref Ref No Ref Ref Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	No	Ref		Ref	
Last partner used ecstasy Ref Ref Yes 2.58 (1.45-4.61) 0.001 1.61 (0.88-2.93) 0.12 Last partner used poppers Ref Ref No Ref Ref Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	Yes	3.44 (2.57-4.61)	< 0.001	2.03 (1.46-2.83)	< 0.001
No Ref Ref Yes 2.58 (1.45-4.61) 0.001 1.61 (0.88-2.93) 0.12 Last partner used poppers Ref Ref No Ref Ref Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	Last partner used ec	stasy			
Yes 2.58 (1.45-4.61) 0.001 1.61 (0.88-2.93) 0.12 Last partner used poppers Ref Ref No Ref Ref Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	No	Ref		Ref	
Last partner used poppers Ref Ref Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	Yes	2.58 (1.45-4.61)	0.001	1.61 (0.88-2.93)	0.12
No Ref Ref Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	Last partner used po	oppers			
Yes 1.50 (1.09-2.05) 0.013 0.83 (0.59-1.19) 0.31	No	Ref		Ref	
	Yes	1.50 (1.09-2.05)	0.013	0.83 (0.59-1.19)	0.31

Figure 5.2 Lasso cross-validation plot for participants living with HIV



Table 5.7 Goodness of fit indices for lasso and elastic net models for participants living with HIV

Lasso Models							Elasti	c Net
λ	λ=0.	047*	λ=0.0	$\lambda = 0.036^{**}$ $\lambda = 0.030$				
Variables added			Regular partne	er last 6 mos	Regular partner	last 6 mos	Regular partner	last 6 mos
					Race/ethnicity		Race/ethnicity	
					Unstable housing	ng	Unstable housing	ıg
					Regular opiate	use	Regular opiate u	ise
						Group sex whil	e intoxicated	
							AI while intoxic	cated
							Male partners la	ist 6 mos
							One-time partn	er last 6 mos
	Training	Testing	Training	Testing	Training	Testing	Training	Testing
n	594	609	591	609	590	609	557	565
Deviance	1.03	1.06	1.01	1.05	0.99	1.05	1.01	1.07
Deviance Ratio	0.04	0.02	0.05	0.03	0.07	0.04	0.05	0.03
AUC	0.71	0.71	0.71	0.71	0.73	0.72	0.74	0.75
MCC	0.21	0.20	0.19	0.19	0.20	0.23	0.19	0.29

AUC = Area Under the Receiving Operating Curve; MCC = Matthew's Correlation Coefficient; AI = Anal Intercourse *Largest λ within 1 standard error; **Minimal λ based on cross-validation

<u>Note</u> all models contain the following variables: binge drinking frequency, vaping/cigarette use, regular poppers use, transactional sex, last partnership type, last partner used ecstasy

	No Change (n=925)	Increased Use (n=274)	p-value
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median, \overline{IQR})	37 (31-42)	35 (30-40)	0.014
Race/Ethnicity			
White	55 (5.9%)	22 (8.0%)	0.25
Black	334 (36.1%)	89 (32.5%)	
Latinx	466 (50.4%)	148 (54.0%)	
Other	70 (7.6%)	15 (5.5%)	
Demographics			
Unstable housing			
No	809 (87.5%)	202 (73.7%)	< 0.001
Yes	116 (12.5%)	72 (26.3%)	
Substance Use	- (/	- ()	
Binge drinking			
Never	623 (67.4%)	153 (55.8%)	0.002
Monthly or less	240 (25.9%)	95 (34.7%)	
Weekly/daily	62 (6.7%)	26 (9.5%)	
Vaning/Cigarette		20 (31070)	
No	660 (71.4%)	146 (53.3%)	< 0.001
Yes	265 (28.6%)	128 (46 7%)	
Regular poppers use	200 (20.070)	120 (10.770)	
No	845 (91.4%)	216 (78.8%)	<0.001
Ves	80 (8 6%)	58 (21.2%)	01001
Regular opiate use	00 (0.070)	50 (21:270)	
No	902 (97 5%)	265 (96 7%)	0.47
Ves	23 (2 5%)	9(33%)	0.17
Stimulant use	25 (2.570)) (3.370)	
Never	606 (65 5%)	0 (0%)	<0.001
Once	36 (3.9%)	46 (16.8%)	~0.001
Less than monthly	95 (10.3%)	45 (16.4%)	
Monthly	34 (3 7%)	53 (10.3%)	
Weekly	3+ (3.770) 81 (8.8%)	58 (21 2%)	
Deily	73(7.0%)	72(26.3%)	
Sevual Rick Rehavior	(3 (1.770)	12 (20.370)	
Regular partner last 6 mont	he		
No	688 (74 40/-)	177 (64 60/-)	0 002
	000 (74.470)	07(25.40/2)	0.002
Transactional sev	237 (23.070)	97 (JJ. 4 70)	
No.	020 (00 50/)	201(72.40/)	<0.001
	020 (07.3%)	201(/3.4%) 73(26.60/)	N0.001
1 CS	97 (10.5%)	/3 (20.0%)	
Last rariner			
Last partner was regular/m	am partner	1(5 (0.00/))	0.07
INO X	49/ (33./%)	105 (00.2%)	0.06
Yes	428 (40.5%)	109 (39.8%)	
Last partner used ecstasy	000 (07 10/)	055 (02 10/)	0.024
INO	889 (96.1%)	255 (93.1%)	0.034
Yes	36 (3.9%)	19 (6.9%)	

Table 5.8 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final lasso model for participants living with HIV (N=1,199 study visits)

	OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables	· · ·	-	· ·	
Age	0.97 (0.94-1.00)	0.07	0.99 (0.96-1.02)	0.34
Race/Ethnicity				
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.78 (0.33-1.82)	0.56	1.28 (0.56-2.91)	0.56
Latinx	1.02 (0.45-2.32)	0.96	1.54 (0.69-3.43)	0.29
Other	0.54 (0.19-1.50)	0.23	0.96 (0.35-2.63)	0.93
<u>Demographics</u>				
Unstable housing				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.91 (1.88-4.48)	< 0.001	2.25 (1.45-3.51)	< 0.001
<u>Substance Use</u>				
Binge drinking last 6				
months				
Never	Ref		Ref	
Monthly or less	1.70 (1.16-2.48)	0.006	1.63 (1.12-2.38)	0.011
Weekly/daily	2.02 (1.05-3.88)	0.035	1.87 (1.00-3.51)	0.05
Vaping/Cigarette				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.06 (1.41-3.00)	<0.001	1.99 (1.36-2.92)	<0.001
Regular poppers use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.29 (2.01-5.40)	<0.001	2.28 (1.38-3.76)	0.001
Regular opiate use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.40 (0.55-3.59)	0.48	0.80 (0.29-2.20)	0.67
<u>Sexual Risk Behavior</u>				
Regular partner last 6 mo	nths			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.74 (1.20-2.51)	0.003	1.38 (0.95-2.02)	0.09
Transactional sex				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.28 (2.13-5.05)	<0.001	2.33 (1.48-3.65)	<0.001
<u>Last Partner</u>				
Last partner was regular/	main partner			
No	Ref		Ret	
Yes	0.71 (0.50-1.00)	0.05	0.70 (0.49-0.99)	0.043
Last partner used ecstasy	D.C.		D.C.	
No	Ket		Ket	
Yes	1.52 (0.73-3.19)	0.27	1.28 (0.60-2.75)	0.52

Table 5.9 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final lasso model for participants living with HIV (N=1,199 study visits)

Table 5.10 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final
elastic net model for participants living with HIV (N=1,122 study visits)

	No Change (n=862)	Increased Use (n=260)	p-valu
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median, IOR)	37 (31-42)	35 (30-40)	0.019
Race/Ethnicity			
White	53 (6.1%)	21 (8.1%)	0.53
Black	320 (37 1%)	86 (33.1%)	0.00
Latinx	447 (51.9%)	140 (53.8%)	
Other	42 (4.0%)	13 (5.0%)	
Demographics	42 (4.770)	15 (5.070)	
Unstable housing			
No	750 (87.0%)	102 (73.8%)	< 0.00
Vec	112 (13.0%)	(75.070)	~0.00
Substance Use	112 (13.070)	00 (20.270)	
<u>Substance Use</u>			
Never	571 (66 20/)	150 (57 70/)	0.041
Never	371(00.270)	130(37.770)	0.041
wonthly or less	232 (20.9%)	8/ (33.5%)	
weekly/daily	59 (6.8%)	25 (8.8%)	
vaping/Cigarette		104 (50 004)	
No	615 (71.3%)	136 (52.3%)	<0.002
Yes	247 (28.7%)	124 (47.7%)	
Regular poppers use			
No	782 (90.7%)	205 (78.8%)	<0.001
Yes	80 (9.3%)	55 (21.2%)	
Regular opiate use			
No	841 (97.6%)	252 (96.9%)	0.57
Yes	21 (2.4%)	8 (3.1%)	
<u>Sexual Risk Behavior</u>			
Regular partner last 6 months			
No	626 (72.6%)	163 (62.7%)	0.002
Yes	236 (27.4%)	97 (37.3%)	
One-time partner last 6 months	· · · ·		
No	572 (66.4%)	139 (53.5%)	<0.00
Yes	290 (33.6%)	121 (46.5%)	
Transactional sex			
No	765 (88.7%)	188 (72.3%)	< 0.00
Yes	97 (11.3%)	72 (27.7%)	
Number male partners last 6 months			
0	226 (26.2%)	46 (17.7%)	< 0.00
1-2	278 (32.3%)	80 (30.8%)	
3-9	225 (26.1%)	65 (25.0%)	
10+	133 (15.4%)	69 (26 5%)	
Group sex while intoxicated	100 (10.770)	07 (20.370)	
No	714 (82 8%)	170 (65 4%)	<0.001
Ves	148 (17 2%)	90 (34.6%)	×0.00.
Anal intercourse while intovicated	110 (17.270)	20 (37.070)	
No.	405 (57 404)	74 (28 50/)	<0.00
INU Vas	490 (07.4%) 367 (12.6%)	/4 (20.3%) 186 (71 50/)	~0.00
Lost Dontron	307 (42.0%)	100 (/1.3%)	
Last Partner			
Last partner was regular/main partner	4(2 (52 70/)	157 (20.00/)	0.07
INO	463 (53.7%)	156 (60.0%)	0.07
Yes	399 (46.3%)	104 (40.0%)	
Last partner used ecstasy			
No	828 (96.1%)	241 (92.7%)	0.025
Yes	34 (3.9%)	19 (7.3%)	

Table 5.11 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final elastic net model for participants living with HIV (N=1,122 study visits)

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value	
Age 0.97 (0.94-1.00) 0.08 0.99 (0.96-1.02) 0.40 Race/Ethnicity Ref - Ref - White Ref - Ref - Black 0.75 (0.32-1.76) 0.50 1.24 (0.54-2.87) 0.62 Latinx 0.98 (0.43-2.25) 0.96 1.59 (0.70-3.60) 0.27 Other 0.80 (0.26-2.48) 0.70 1.19 (0.40-3.58) 0.76 Demographics Usstate Ref - Ref - Unstate housing No Ref - Ref - Never Ref - Ref - Ref - No Ref - Ref - Ref - Yes 3.01 (1.81-4.98) <td>Control Variables</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Control Variables					
Race/Ethnicity Ref - Ref<	Age	0.97 (0.94-1.00)	0.08	0.99 (0.96-1.02)	0.40	
Write Ref Ref Black 0.75 (0.32-1.76) 0.50 1.24 (0.54-2.87) 0.62 Latinx 0.98 (0.43-2.25) 0.96 1.59 (0.70-3.60) 0.27 Other 0.80 (0.26-2.48) 0.70 1.19 (0.40-3.58) 0.76 Demographics Unstable housing Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref Yes 2.84 (1.81-4.46) <0.001	Race/Ethnicity					
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	White	Ref		Ref		
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Black	0.75 (0.32-1.76)	0.50	1.24 (0.54-2.87)	0.62	
Other $0.80 (0.26-2.48)$ 0.70 $1.19 (0.40-3.58)$ 0.76 Demographics Unstable housing No Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref Yes $2.84 (1.81-4.46)$ <0.001	Latinx	0.98 (0.43-2.25)	0.96	1.59 (0.70-3.60)	0.27	
Demographics Vert No Ref - Monthy or less 1.46 (0.99-2.15) 0.06 (0.85.1.86) 0.25 Weekly/daily 1.66 (0.85-3.26) 0.14 1.29 (0.67-2.49) 0.45 Vaping / Cigarette use No Ref - Ref - Ref - Other Colored (0.85.1.86) 0.25 0.001 2.00 (1.35-2.96) 0.001 Regular poppers use No Ref - Ref - Ref - Other Colored (0.99-2.77) 0.05 Regular opiate use No Ref - No No	Other	0.80 (0.26-2.48)	0.70	1.19 (0.40-3.58)	0.76	
Ref Ref - Ref - <th col<="" td=""><td>Demographics</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th>	<td>Demographics</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Demographics				
No Ref - Ref - Ref - Yes 2.84 (1.81-4.46) <0.001	Unstable housing					
Yes 2.84 (1.81-4.46) <0.001 2.12 (1.34-3.36) 0.001 Substance Use Binge drinking frequency Ref - Ref - Never Ref - Ref - Ref - Monthly or less 1.46 (0.99-2.15) 0.06 1.26 (0.85-1.86) 0.25 Vaping/Cigarette use Ref - Ref - No Ref - Ref - Yes 2.17 (1.48-3.19) <0.001	No	Ref		Ref		
Substance Use Binge drinking frequency Never Ref - Ref - Monthly or less 1.46 (0.99-2.15) 0.06 1.26 (0.85-1.86) 0.25 Weekly/daily 1.66 (0.85-3.26) 0.14 1.29 (0.67-2.49) 0.45 Vaping/Cigarette use No Ref - Ref - No Ref - Ref - - Yes 2.17 (1.48-3.19) <0.001	Yes	2.84 (1.81-4.46)	< 0.001	2.12 (1.34-3.36)	0.001	
Binge drinking frequency Never Ref - Ref - Ref - Monthly or less 1.46 (0.99-2.15) 0.06 1.26 (0.85-1.86) 0.25 Weekly/daily 1.66 (0.85-3.26) 0.14 1.29 (0.67-2.49) 0.45 Vaping/Cigarette use No Ref - Ref - No Ref - Ref - - Yes 2.17 (1.48-3.19) <0.001	Substance Use					
Never Ref Ref Ref Monthly or less 1.46 (0.99-2.15) 0.06 1.26 (0.85-1.86) 0.25 Weekly/daly 1.66 (0.85-3.26) 0.14 1.29 (0.67-2.49) 0.45 Vaping/Cigarette use Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref Yes 2.17 (1.48-3.19) <0.001	Binge drinking frequency					
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Never	Ref		Ref		
Weekly/daily 1.66 (0.85-3.26) 0.14 1.29 (0.67-2.49) 0.45 Vaping/Cigaretie use Ref - Ref - Ref - No Ref - Ref - Ref - 0.001 0.001 0.001 Regular poppers use No Ref - Ref - Ref - - 0.05 Regular opiate use No Ref - Ref - Ref - - 0.05 Sexual Risk Behavior Regular partner last 6 months No Ref - Ref - <td>Monthly or less</td> <td>1.46 (0.99-2.15)</td> <td>0.06</td> <td>1.26 (0.85-1.86)</td> <td>0.25</td>	Monthly or less	1.46 (0.99-2.15)	0.06	1.26 (0.85-1.86)	0.25	
Vaping/Cigarette use Ref	Weekly/daily	1.66 (0.85-3.26)	0.14	1.29 (0.67-2.49)	0.45	
No Ref - Ref - Yes 2.17 (1.48-3.19) <0.001	Vaping/Cigarette use	(0.00 0.20)				
Yes 2.17 (1.48-3.19) <0.001 2.00 (1.35-2.96) 0.001 Regular poppers use No Ref - Ref - Yes 3.01 (1.81-4.98) <0.001	No	Ref		Ref		
Regular poppers use Interference Ref Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref 0.001 1.66 (0.99-2.77) 0.05 Regular opiate use No Ref Ref 0.61 0.78 (0.27-2.27) 0.65 Sexual Risk Behavior Regular pattner last 6 months No Ref Ref Nef	Yes	2.17 (1.48-3.19)	<0.001	2.00 (1.35-2.96)	0.001	
No Ref Ref Ref Yes $3.01 (1.81-4.98)$ <0.001	Regular poppers use			2.000 (1.000 2.00)	01001	
Yes 3.01 (1.81-4.98) <0.001 1.66 (0.99-2.77) 0.05 Regular opiate use No Ref Ref Yes 1.30 (0.47-3.53) 0.61 0.78 (0.27-2.27) 0.65 Sexual Risk Behavior Regular partner last 6 months Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref Ref Yes 1.72 (1.18-2.50) 0.005 1.24 (0.82-1.89) 0.31 One-time partner last 6 months Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref Yes 1.81 (1.28-2.56) 0.001 1.26 (0.84-1.90) 0.27 Transactional sex No Ref Ref Yes 3.28 (2.11-5.08) <0.001 1.71 (1.06-2.77) 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months 0 Ref Ref 0 Ref Ref 0.029	No	Ref		Ref		
Regular opiate use No Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref Yes 1.30 (0.47-3.53) 0.61 0.78 (0.27-2.27) 0.65 Sexual Risk Behavior Regular partner last 6 months No Ref Ref No Ref Ref Ref 1.24 (0.82-1.89) 0.31 One-time partner last 6 months No Ref Ref Yes 1.72 (1.18-2.50) 0.005 1.24 (0.82-1.89) 0.31 One-time partner last 6 months No Ref Ref Yes 1.81 (1.28-2.56) 0.001 1.26 (0.84-1.90) 0.27 Transactional sex No Ref Ref Yes 3.28 (2.11-5.08) <0.001	Ves	3 01 (1 81-4 98)	<0.001	1 66 (0 99-2 77)	0.05	
No Ref Ref Yes 1.30 (0.47-3.53) 0.61 0.78 (0.27-2.27) 0.65 Sexual Risk Behavior Regular partner last 6 months 0 Ref Ref No Ref Ref 1.24 (0.82-1.89) 0.31 One-time partner last 6 months No Ref Ref Yes 1.72 (1.18-2.50) 0.001 1.26 (0.84-1.90) 0.27 Transactional sex No Ref Ref No Ref Ref - No Ref Ref - Yes 3.28 (2.11-5.08) <0.001	Regular opiate use	5.01 (1.01 1.50)	-01001	1.00 (0.55 2.77)	0.05	
No Ref - Ref - Yes $1.30 (0.47-3.53)$ 0.61 $0.78 (0.27-2.27)$ 0.65 Sexual Risk Behavior Regular partner last 6 months . . . No Ref - Ref - . Yes $1.72 (1.18-2.50)$ 0.005 $1.24 (0.82-1.89)$ 0.31 One-time partner last 6 months . . Ref - . No Ref - Ref - . . Yes $1.81 (1.28-2.56)$ 0.001 $1.26 (0.84-1.90)$ 0.27 Transactional sex No Ref - Ref - . Yes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001	No	Ref		Ref		
Sexual Risk Behavior Regular partner last 6 months Ref Ref <td>Ves</td> <td>1 30 (0 47 - 3 53)</td> <td>0.61</td> <td>0.78 (0.27-2.27)</td> <td>0.65</td>	Ves	1 30 (0 47 - 3 53)	0.61	0.78 (0.27-2.27)	0.65	
Regular partner last 6 months No Ref Ref Yes $1.72 (1.18-2.50)$ 0.005 $1.24 (0.82-1.89)$ 0.31 One-time partner last 6 months No Ref Ref Yes $1.81 (1.28-2.56)$ 0.001 $1.26 (0.84-1.90)$ 0.27 Transactional sex No Ref Ref Yes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001 $1.71 (1.06-2.77)$ 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months Ref 0 Ref Ref 1-2 $1.49 (0.92-2.42)$ 0.10 $0.75 (0.43-1.30)$ 0.31 $3-9$ $1.56 (0.92-2.64)$ 0.10 $0.51 (0.27-0.96)$ 0.036 $10+$ $2.96 (1.68-5.19)$ <0.001 $0.63 (0.31-1.28)$ 0.20 Group sex while intoxicated No Ref Ref Yes $2.96 (1.98-4.44)$ <0.001 $1.16 (0.71-1.88)$ 0.55	Sexual Risk Behavior	1.50 (0.17 5.55)	0.01	0.70 (0.27 2.27)	0.05	
NoRefRefYes $1.72 (1.18-2.50)$ 0.005 $1.24 (0.82-1.89)$ 0.31 One-time partner last 6 monthsNoRefRefYes $1.81 (1.28-2.56)$ 0.001 $1.26 (0.84-1.90)$ 0.27 Transactional sexNoRefRefYes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001	Regular partner last 6 months					
NoRefRefYes1.81 (1.28-2.56)0.0051.24 (0.82-1.89)0.31One-time partner last 6 monthsNoRefRefYes1.81 (1.28-2.56)0.0011.26 (0.84-1.90)0.27Transactional sexNoRefRefYes3.28 (2.11-5.08)<0.001	No	Ref		Ref		
One-time partner last 6 months Ref - Ref - Yes $1.81 (1.28-2.56)$ 0.001 $1.26 (0.84-1.90)$ 0.27 Transactional sex No Ref - Ref - Yes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001 $1.71 (1.06-2.77)$ 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months 0 Ref - Ref - 0 Ref - Ref - 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months 0 0.10 0.75 (0.43-1.30) 0.31 0 Ref - Ref - 1.2 $1.24 (0.92-2.42)$ 0.10 0.75 (0.43-1.30) 0.31 $3-9$ 1.56 (0.92-2.44) 0.10 0.51 (0.27-0.96) 0.036 $10+$ 2.96 (1.68-5.19) <0.001	Ves	1 72 (1 18-2 50)	0.005	1 24 (0 82-1 89)	0.31	
NoRefRefYes $1.81 (1.28-2.56)$ 0.001 $1.26 (0.84-1.90)$ 0.27 Transactional sex No RefRefYes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001 $1.71 (1.06-2.77)$ 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months 0 RefRef0RefRef 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months 0 0.010 $0.75 (0.43-1.30)$ 0.31 $3-9$ $1.56 (0.92-2.42)$ 0.100 $0.75 (0.43-1.30)$ 0.31 $3-9$ $1.56 (0.92-2.64)$ 0.100 $0.51 (0.27-0.96)$ 0.036 $10+$ $2.96 (1.68-5.19)$ <0.001 $0.63 (0.31-1.28)$ 0.20 Group sex while intoxicatedNoRefRefNoRefRef $-$ Yes $2.96 (1.98-4.44)$ <0.001 $1.16 (0.71-1.88)$ 0.55 Anal intercourse while intoxicatedNoRefRefNoRefRef $-$ Yes $3.75 (2.58-5.43)$ <0.001 $2.93 (1.82-4.71)$ <0.001 Last partner was regular/main partnerNoRefRefYes $0.70 (0.49-0.99)$ 0.046 $0.69 (0.47-1.01)$ 0.06 Last partner used ecstasyD.fD.fD.fD.fD.f	One-time partner last 6 months	1.72 (1.10 2.50)	0.005	1.21 (0.02 1.09)	0.51	
NoRefRefYes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ 0.001 $1.26 (0.84-1.90)$ 0.27 Transactional sexNoRefRefYes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001 $1.71 (1.06-2.77)$ 0.029 Number male partners last 6 months 0 RefRef0RefRef 0.27 1-2 $1.49 (0.92-2.42)$ 0.10 $0.75 (0.43-1.30)$ 0.31 $3-9$ $1.56 (0.92-2.64)$ 0.10 $0.51 (0.27-0.96)$ 0.036 $10+$ $2.96 (1.68-5.19)$ <0.001 $0.63 (0.31-1.28)$ 0.20 Group sex while intoxicated No RefRefNoRefRef Nc Yes $2.96 (1.98-4.44)$ <0.001 $1.16 (0.71-1.88)$ 0.55 Anal intercourse while intoxicated No Ref Nc NoRefRef Nc Yes $3.75 (2.58-5.43)$ <0.001 $2.93 (1.82-4.71)$ <0.001 Last partner was regular/main partnerNoRefRefYes $0.70 (0.49-0.99)$ 0.046 $0.69 (0.47-1.01)$ 0.06 Last partner used ecstasyNoNoNoNo	No	Ref		Ref		
Transactional sex 0.001 1.20 (0.0411.50) 0.27 No Ref Ref Yes 3.28 (2.11-5.08) <0.001	Vec	1 81 (1 28-2 56)	0.001	1 26 (0 84-1 90)	0.27	
NoRefRefYes $3.28 (2.11-5.08)$ <0.001	Transactional sex	1.01 (1.20-2.50)	0.001	1.20 (0.04-1.70)	0.27	
NoRef-Ref- Yes 3.28 (2.11-5.08)<0.001	No	Ref		Ref		
Number male partners last 6 months0RefRef1-21.49 (0.92-2.42)0.100.75 (0.43-1.30)0.313-91.56 (0.92-2.64)0.100.51 (0.27-0.96)0.03610+2.96 (1.68-5.19)<0.001	Ves	3.28(2.11-5.08)	<0.001	1 71 (1 ()6-2 77)	0.029	
Number linke partners has 0 months0RefRef1-21.49 (0.92-2.42)0.100.75 (0.43-1.30)0.313-91.56 (0.92-2.64)0.100.51 (0.27-0.96)0.03610+2.96 (1.68-5.19)<0.001	Number male partners last 6 m	onths	\$0.001	1.71 (1.00-2.77)	0.02)	
0RefRef $1-2$ $1.49 (0.92-2.42)$ 0.10 $0.75 (0.43-1.30)$ 0.31 $3-9$ $1.56 (0.92-2.64)$ 0.10 $0.51 (0.27-0.96)$ 0.036 $10+$ $2.96 (1.68-5.19)$ <0.001 $0.63 (0.31-1.28)$ 0.20 Group sex while intoxicatedNoRefRefYes $2.96 (1.98-4.44)$ <0.001 $1.16 (0.71-1.88)$ 0.55 Anal intercourse while intoxicatedNoRefRefYes $3.75 (2.58-5.43)$ <0.001 $2.93 (1.82-4.71)$ <0.001 Last partner was regular/main partnerNoRefRefYes $0.70 (0.49-0.99)$ 0.046 $0.69 (0.47-1.01)$ 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy		Ref		Ref		
1-2 $1.79 (0.52-2.42)$ 0.10 $0.13 (0.75-1.50)$ 0.31 $3-9$ $1.56 (0.92-2.64)$ 0.10 $0.51 (0.27-0.96)$ 0.036 $10+$ $2.96 (1.68-5.19)$ <0.001 $0.63 (0.31-1.28)$ 0.20 Group sex while intoxicatedNoRefRefYes $2.96 (1.98-4.44)$ <0.001 $1.16 (0.71-1.88)$ 0.55 Anal intercourse while intoxicatedNoRefRefYes $3.75 (2.58-5.43)$ <0.001 $2.93 (1.82-4.71)$ <0.001 Last partner was regular/main partnerNoRefRefYes $0.70 (0.49-0.99)$ 0.046 $0.69 (0.47-1.01)$ 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy	1_2	1.49(0.92-2.42)	0.10	0.75 (0.43 - 1.30)	0.31	
305 $1.50 (0.222.04)$ 0.10 $0.51 (0.2740.50)$ 0.001 $10+$ $2.96 (1.68-5.19)$ <0.001 $0.63 (0.31-1.28)$ 0.20 Group sex while intoxicatedNoRefRefYes $2.96 (1.98-4.44)$ <0.001 $1.16 (0.71-1.88)$ 0.55 Anal intercourse while intoxicatedNoRefRefNoRefRefYesYes $3.75 (2.58-5.43)$ <0.001 $2.93 (1.82-4.71)$ <0.001 Last partner was regular/main partnerNoRefRefYes $0.70 (0.49-0.99)$ 0.046 $0.69 (0.47-1.01)$ 0.06 Last partner used ecstasyDefDefDefDef	3_9	1.49(0.92-2.42) 1.56(0.92-2.64)	0.10	0.73(0.43-1.30) 0.51(0.27-0.96)	0.31	
Group sex while intoxicated 2.96 (1.00-5.19) 60.001 0.05 (0.91-1.26) 0.20 Group sex while intoxicated Ref Ref Yes 2.96 (1.98-4.44) <0.001	10+	2.96(1.68510)	<0.10	0.63(0.31, 1.28)	0.050	
No Ref Ref Yes 2.96 (1.98-4.44) <0.001	Group sey while intovicated	2.70 (1.00-3.17)	<0.001	0.03 (0.31-1.20)	0.20	
No Ref - Ref - Yes 3.75 (2.58-5.43) <0.001	No	Ref		Ref		
Anal intercourse while intoxicated 2.36 (1.30-4.44) 40.001 1.16 (0.71-1.36) 0.35 Anal intercourse while intoxicated No Ref Ref Yes 3.75 (2.58-5.43) <0.001	Vec	2.96 (1.98.4.44)	< 0.001	1 16 (0 71 1 88)	0.55	
No Ref Ref Yes 3.75 (2.58-5.43) <0.001	Anal intercourse while intovicat	2.00 (1.00-4.44)	<0.001	1.10 (0.71-1.00)	0.55	
No Ref Ref Yes 3.75 (2.58-5.43) <0.001 2.93 (1.82-4.71) <0.001 Last partner No Ref Ref Yes 0.70 (0.49-0.99) 0.046 0.69 (0.47-1.01) 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy D.6 D.6 D.6	No.	Dof		Pof		
Last Partner Co.001 2.95 (1.02-4.71) Co.001 Last partner was regular/main partner Ref Ref Yes 0.70 (0.49-0.99) 0.046 0.69 (0.47-1.01) 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy D.6 D.6 D.6	Vec	3 75 (2 59 5 42)	<0.001	2 03 (1 92 4 71)	<0.001	
Last partner was regular/main partner No Ref Ref Yes 0.70 (0.49-0.99) 0.046 0.69 (0.47-1.01) 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy D.f. D.f. D.f. D.f.	Les Dartner	5.75 (2.30-3.43)	~0.001	2.93 (1.02-4./1)	~0.001	
No Ref Ref Yes 0.70 (0.49-0.99) 0.046 0.69 (0.47-1.01) 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy D.6 D.6 D.6	Last partner was regular /main	nartner				
Yes 0.70 (0.49-0.99) 0.046 0.69 (0.47-1.01) 0.06 Last partner used ecstasy D.6	No	Ref		Rof		
Last partner used ecstasy	Vec	0.70 (0.40 0.00)	0.046	0.69(0.47, 1.01)		
Last particle used Costasy	Last partner used costagy	0.70 (0.+2-0.22)	0.040	0.07 (0.47-1.01)	0.00	
No Ret Rot	No	Ref		Rof		
$V_{ee} = 1.61 (0.77 - 3.39) = 0.21 = 1.28 (0.60.2.74) = 0.52$	Vec	1 61 (0 77 3 30)	0.21	1 28 (0 60 2 74)	0.52	

Figure 5.3 Lasso cross-validation plot for HIV-negative participants



Table 5.12 Goodness of fit indices for lasso and elastic net models for HIV-negative participants

			Lasso	o Models			Elasti	c Net
λ	λ=0.	063*	λ=0.0	052**	λ=0	.040	-	-
Variables added			Last partner u	used alcohol	Last partner us	ed alcohol	Last partner used	d alcohol
			-		Education		Education	
					Last partner us	ed poppers	Last partner use	d poppers
					Cannabis use		Cannabis use	
					Unemploymen	t	Unemployment	
							Race/ethnicity	
							Intimate partner	violence
							Sexually transmi	tted infection
							Sexual orientatio	n
							Regular partner	ast 6 mos
							Never saw LP ag	gain after sex
							Last partner excl	nanged drugs
							Depression	
							Last partner used	d poppers
							LP was one-time	e partner
	Training	Testing	Training	Testing	Training	Testing	Training	Testing
n	460	478	453	473	444	468	304	348
Deviance	0.94	0.87	0.93	0.84	0.90	0.82	0.91	0.78
Deviance Ratio	0.06	0.05	0.08	0.07	0.10	0.08	0.11	0.07
AUC	0.72	0.71	0.72	0.73	0.74	0.76	0.91	0.78
MCC	0.23	0.21	0.22	0.20	0.29	0.21	0.11	0.07

AUC = Area Under the Receiving Operating Curve; MCC = Matthew's Correlation Coefficient; LP = Last Partner *Largest λ within 1 standard error; **Minimal λ based on cross-validation

<u>Note</u> all models contain the following variables: income, unstable housing, anal intercourse while intoxicated, exchange sex, group sex while intoxicated, sexual partner concurrency, last partner injected drugs

Table 5.13 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for final lasso model for HIV-negative participants (N=912 study visits)

	No Change (n=746)	Increased Use (n=166)	p-value
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median IOR)	30 (26-36)	29.5 (26-36)	0.63
Bace/Ethnicity	50 (20-50)	27.5 (20-50)	0.05
White	40 (6 6%)	10 (6 0%)	0.06
Plask	(0.070)	10(0.070) 54(22.59/)	0.00
Diack	322 (43.270) 241 (45.70/)	54(52.570) 05(57.20/)	
Launx Other	24(4.07)	95 (57.270) 7 (4.207)	
Other I:	34 (4.0%)	/ (4.2%)	
Education			
Less than high school	41 (5.5%)	24 (14.5%)	< 0.001
High school	222 (29.8%)	45 (27.1%)	
More than high school	483 (64.7%)	97 (58.4%)	
Income			
Less than 10k	253 (33.9%)	77 (46.4%)	0.006
10-30k	286 (38.3%)	57 (34.3%)	
More than 30k	207 (27.7%)	32 (19.3%)	
Employment status			
Employed	609 (81.6%)	114 (68.7%)	< 0.001
Unemployed	137 (18.4%)	52 (31.3%)	
Unstable housing		(51079)	
No	656 (87.9%)	119 (71 7%)	<0.001
Vec	90 (12 1%)	17 (28 3%)	\$0.001
Substance Use	JO (12.170)	47 (20.370)	
Connabia Usa			
V.	252 (47 20/)	40 (20 50/)	~0.001
	35Z (47.2%)	49 (29.5%)	<0.001
Weekly of less frequent	257 (51.8%)	63 (38.0%)	
Daily	157 (21.0%)	54 (32.5%)	
Stimulant use	500 (50 400)	0 (00 ()	
Never	590 (79.1%)	0 (0%)	< 0.001
Once	38 (5.1%)	46 (27.7%)	
Less than monthly	35 (4.7%)	33 (19.9%)	
Monthly	23 (3.1%)	20 (12.1%)	
Weekly	27 (3.6%)	35 (21.1%)	
Daily	33 (4.4%)	32 (19.3%)	
<u>Sexual Risk Behavior</u>			
Sexual partner concurrency last 6 me	onths		
No	473 (63.4%)	84 (50.6%)	0.002
Yes	273 (36.6%)	82 (49.4%)	
Anal intercourse while intoxicated	()		
No	383 (51.3%)	47 (28.3%)	< 0.001
Yes	363 (48.7%)	119 (71.7%)	
Group sex while intoxicated	000 (101175)		
No	635 (85.1%)	107 (64 5%)	<0.001
Vec	111 (14.9%)	59 (35 5%)	-0.001
Transactional sex	111 (14.270)	57 (55.570)	
No	676 (00 6%)	116 (60.0%)	<0.001
Vor	70 (0 40/)	50 (20 10/)	~0.001
Lost Bartner	/0 (9.4%)	50 (50.1%)	
Last Pariner			
Last partner used alcohol		100 (25 40/)	0.004
INO X	5/9 (//.6%)	108 (65.1%)	0.001
Yes	167 (22.4%)	58 (34.9%)	
Last partner used poppers			
No	617 (82.7%)	128 (77.1%)	0.09
Yes	129 (17.3%)	38 (22.9%)	
Last partner injected drugs			
No	689 (92.4%)	134 (80.7%)	< 0.001
V	57 (7 60/)	22 (10 20/)	

	OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables				
Age	1.00 (0.96-1.04)	0.93	1.01 (0.97-1.05)	0.73
Race/Ethnicity	. /			
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.98 (0.30-3.20)	0.97	1.01 (0.34-3.00)	0.99
Latinx	1.86 (0.58-5.94)	0.29	1.54 (0.53-4.49)	0.43
Other	1.11 (0.23-5.37)	0.90	1.05 (0.24-4.56)	0.94
<u>Demographics</u>				
Education				
Less than high school	Ref		Ref	
High school	0.30 (0.13-0.71)	0.006	0.40 (0.17-0.91)	0.03
More than high school	0.33 (0.15-0.75)	0.008	0.41 (0.19-0.92)	0.03
Income				
Less than 10k	Ref		Ref	
10-30k	0.71 (0.43-1.16)	0.17	0.90 (0.54-1.50)	0.68
More than 30k	0.53 (0.29-0.99)	0.047	0.64 (0.33-1.23)	0.18
Employment status				
Employed	Ref		Ref	
Unemployed	1.78 (1.08-2.94)	0.024	1.40 (0.81-2.42)	0.23
Unstable housing				0.20
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.06 (1.78-5.27)	<0.001	1.94 (1.09-3.45)	0.025
Substance Use	5100 (11/0 0127)		10 (10) 5110)	01020
Cannabis Use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Weekly or less frequent	2.25 (1.32-3.82)	0.003	2.15 (1.26-3.66)	0.005
Daily	2.73 (1.51-4.96)	0.001	2.00 (1.11-3.59)	0.02
Sexual Risk Behavior				
Sexual partner concurrency	last 6 months			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.70 (1.11-2.62)	0.016	1.18 (0.75-1.87)	0.47
Anal intercourse while into	xicated			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.54 (1.60-4.02)	< 0.001	1.59 (0.96-2.62)	0.07
Group sex while intoxicate	d			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.73 (2.26-6.15)	< 0.001	1.81 (1.04-3.18)	0.037
Transactional sex				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	5.02 (2.88-8.76)	<0.001	2.53 (1.40-4.55)	0.002
Last Partner				
Last partner used alcohol				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.77 (1.09-2.88)	0.021	1.31 (0.81-2.13)	0.28
Last partner used poppers				0.20
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.70 (1.00-2.91)	0.05	1.31 (0.77-2.23)	0.33
Last partner injected drugs	(1.00 2.71)	0.00		0.55
No	Ref		Ref	
1 NO N/	200(154547)	0.001	1.0((1.02.2.74)	0.042

Table 5.14 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final lasso model for HIV-negative participants (N=912 study visits)

Table 5.15 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by increased stimulant use for fina
elastic net model for HIV-negative participants (N=652 study visits)

	No Change (n=537)	Increased Use (n= 115)	p-value
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median, IQR)	30 (26-35)	30 (26-35)	0.83
Race/Ethnicity		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
White	36 (6.7%)	8 (7.0%)	0.08
Black	237 (44.1%)	36 (31.3%)	
Latinx	241 (44.9%)	66 (57.4%)	
Other	23 (4.3%)	5 (4.3%)	
<u>Demographics</u>			
Education			
Less than high school	28 (5.2%)	17 (14.8%)	0.001
High school	159 (29.6%)	33 (28.7%)	
More than high school	350 (65.2%)	65 (56.5%)	
Income			
Less than 10k	201 (37.4%)	62 (53.9%)	0.004
10-30k	199 (37.1%)	34 (29.6%)	
More than 30k	137 (25.5%)	19 (16.5%)	
Employment status	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	· · · ·	
Employed	431 (80.3%)	73 (63.5%)	< 0.001
Unemployed	106 (19.7%)	42 (36.5%)	
Unstable housing	· · · ·	· · · ·	
No	466 (86.8%)	84 (73.0%)	< 0.001
Yes	71 (13.2%)	31 (27.0%)	
Intimate partner violence			
No	487 (90.7%)	91 (79.1%)	< 0.001
Yes	50 (9.3%)	24 (20.9%)	
Sexual orientation			
Gav	373 (69.5%)	75 (65.2%)	0.37
Bisexual/Other	164 (30.5%)	40 (34.8%)	
Depression			
No	405 (75.4%)	68 (59.1%)	< 0.001
Yes	132 (24.6%)	47 (40.9%)	
Substance Use			
Cannabis Use			
No	253 (47.1%)	35 (30.4%)	0.004
Weekly or less frequent	175 (32.6%)	46 (40.0%)	01001
Daily	109 (20.3%)	34 (29.6%)	
Sexual Risk Behavior	107 (2010 / 0)	51 (2010/0)	
Sexual partner concurrency last 6 mg	onths		
No	330 (61 5%)	59 (51 3%)	0 044
Ves	207 (38 5%)	56 (48 7%)	0.011
Anal intercourse while intoxicated	207 (30.370)	50 (40.770)	
No	289 (53.8%)	35 (30.4%)	<0.001
Vec	248 (46 2%)	80 (69 6%)	<0.001
Group sex while intoxicated	240 (40.270)	00 (07.070)	
No.	466 (86 8%)	74 (64 3%)	<0.001
INO Vez	71(12,20/)	(04.370)	<0.001
Transactional corr	/1 (13.2%)	41 (55.770)	
I ransactional sex	492 (90 90/)	77 ((7.00/)	<0.001
No	482 (89.8%)	// (6/.0%)	<0.001
	55 (10.2%)	38 (33.0%)	
Sexually transmitted infection		00 (00 00/)	0.025
No	4/2 (8/.9%)	92 (80.0%)	0.025
Yes	65 (12.1%)	23 (20.0%)	
Regular partner last 6 months			
No	337 (62.8%)	56 (48.7%)	0.005
Yes	200 (37.2%)	59 (51.3%)	
Sexual partner concurrency last 6 mo	onths		
No	330 (61.5%)	59 (51.3%)	0.044
Yes	207 (38.5%)	56 (48.7%)	
<u>Last Partner</u>			

Last partner used alcohol

No	418 (77.8%)	76 (66.1%)	0.008
Yes	119 (22.2%)	39 (33.9%)	
Last partner used popper	s		
No	452 (84.2%)	89 (77.4%)	0.08
Yes	85 (15.8%)	26 (22.6%)	
Last partner injected drug	zs		
No	494 (92.0%)	93 (80.9%)	<0.001
Yes	43 (8.0%)	22 (19.1%)	
Never saw last partner ag	ain after sex	· /	
No	412 (76.7%)	81 (70.4%)	0.15
Yes	125 (23.3%)	34 (29.6%)	
Transactional sex with las	st partner	. /	
No	502 (93.5%)	92 (80.0%)	<0.001
Yes	35 (6.5%)	23 (20.0%)	
Last partner used stimula	ints	· /	
No	461 (85.8%)	67 (58.3%)	<0.001
Yes	76 (14.2%)	48 (41.7%)	
Last partner was a one-tir	me partner	. /	
No	432 (80.4%)	100 (87.0%)	0.10
Yes	105 (19.6%)	15 (13.0%)	

	OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables		<u> </u>	· · · ·	<u>^</u>
Age	1.00 (0.96-1.05)	0.87	1.01 (0.97-1.06)	0.59
Race/Ethnicity	· · · · ·		· · · · ·	
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.80 (0.24-2.65)	0.71	0.76 (0.23-2.50)	0.65
Latinx	1.53 (0.48-4.93)	0.47	1.17 (0.37-3.72)	0.79
Other	1.06 (0.20-5.56)	0.95	1.22 (0.24-6.16)	0.81
Demographics	· · · · ·			
Education				
Less than high school	Ref		Ref	
High school	0.31 (0.12-0.81)	0.016	0.49 (0.18-1.32)	0.16
More than high school	0.31 (0.13-0.75)	0.009	0.42 (0.16-1.12)	0.08
Income				
Less than 10k	Ref		Ref	
10-30k	0.60 (0.34-1.06)	0.08	0.81 (0.44-1.51)	0.51
More than 30k	0.41 (0.20-0.84)	0.015	0.67 (0.30-1.48)	0.32
Employment status				
Employed	Ref		Ref	
Unemployed	2.36 (1.36-4.10)	0.002	1.83 (0.99-3.40)	0.06
Unstable housing	2100 (1100 1110)	0.002	100 (0000 0110)	0.00
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.64 (1.42-4.91)	0.002	1.14 (0.55-2.35)	0.72
Intimate partner violence	2.01 (1.12 1.91)	0.002	1.11 (0.55 2.55)	0.72
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3 33 (1 62-6 87)	0.001	1 49 (0 66-3 34)	0.33
Sexual orientation	5.55 (1.02 0.07)	0.001	1.15 (0.00 5.51)	0.55
Gay	Ref		Ref	
Bisexual/Other	1.29 (0.72-2.31)	0.40	0.80(0.44-1.46)	0.47
Depression		0.10		0.17
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.52 (1.45-4.36)	0.001	1.43(0.79-2.59)	0.23
Substance Use		00001		0.20
Cannabis Use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Weekly or less frequent	2 46 (1 30-4 63)	0.005	2 60 (1 36-4 98)	0 004
Daily	2.86 (1.41-5.78)	0.003	2.07 (1.01-4.26)	0.048
Sexual Risk Behavior	2100 (1111 0110)	01000	1 (1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(
Sexual partner concurrency la	st 6 months			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1 48 (0 90-2 44)	0.12	0.97 (0.53 - 1.77)	0.93
Anal intercourse while intoxic	ated	0.12	0.57 (0.55 1.77)	0.25
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2 64 (1 58-4 41)	<0 001	1 48 (0 81-2 70)	0.20
Group sex while intoxicated	2.01 (1.50 1.11)	\$0.001	1.10 (0.01 2.70)	0.20
No	Ref		Ref	
Vec	4 60 (2 54-8 33)	<0.001	1.77 (0.86 - 3.63)	0.12
Transactional sex	1.00 (2.57-0.55)	-0.001	1.77 (0.00-5.05)	0.12
No	Ref		Ref	
Ves	5 50 (2 93-10 33)	<0.001	2.75(1.25-6.06)	0 012
Sexually transmitted infection	5.50 (2.75-10.55)	~0.001	2.75 (1.25-0.00)	0.012
No	Ref		Ref	
Ves	207(108-307)	0 029	1.99(1.00-3.93)	0 049
Regular partner last 6 months	2.07 (1.00-3.77)	0.049	1.77 (1.00-3.73)	0.042
No	Rof		Rof	_
Ves	1 85 (1 14 3 01)	0 013	1.09 (0.62.1.90)	0.78
Sevual partner concurrency la	1.05(1.14-3.01)	0.015	1.07 (0.02-1.70)	0.70
No	Pof		Rof	
INU	Kei		IVG1	

Table 5.16 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with increased stimulant use for final elastic net model for HIV-negative participants (N=652 study visits)

Yes	1.48 (0.90-2.44)	0.12	0.97 (0.53-1.77)	0.93
<u>Last Partner</u>				
Last partner used alcohol				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.65 (0.95-2.86)	0.08	0.94 (0.51-1.75)	0.85
Last partner used poppers				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.78 (0.96-3.31)	0.07	1.38 (0.71-2.68)	0.34
Last partner injected drugs				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.46 (1.19-5.11)	0.015	1.00 (0.41-2.45)	1.00
Never saw last partner again a	fter sex			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.39 (0.80-2.40)	0.24	1.15 (0.61-2.16)	0.67
Transactional sex with last par	rtner			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.47 (1.69-7.11)	0.001	0.74 (0.29-1.86)	0.52
Last partner used stimulants				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	4.62 (2.70-7.92)	< 0.001	2.52 (1.29-4.94)	0.007
Last partner was a one-time pa	artner			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	0.62 (0.31-1.23)	0.17	0.62 (0.29-1.34)	0.22



Figure 5.4 Frequency of self-reported stimulant use in last 6 months across study visits for 60 randomly selected participants

Table 5.17 Visit-level participant characteristics stratified by decreased stimulant use for final lasso model for the entire cohort (N=2,251 study visits)

	No Change	Decreased Use	p-value
<u> </u>	(n=1,730)	(n=521)	1
Control Variables	n (%)	n (%)	
Age (median, IQR)	34 (28-40)	33 (28-40)	0.79
Race/Ethnicity			
White	106 (6.1%)	35 (6.7%)	0.24
Black	674 (39.0%)	178 (34.2%)	
Latinx	829 (47.9%)	265 (50.9%)	
Other	121 (7.0%)	43 (8.3%)	
HIV			
Negative	830 (48.0%)	215 (41.3%)	0.007
Living with HIV	900 (52.0%)	306 (58.7%)	
Demographics			
Education			
Less than high school	190 (11.0%)	76 (14.6%)	0.02
High school	555 (32.1%)	180 (34.5%)	
More than high school	985 (56.9%)	265 (50.9%)	
Employment status			
Employed	1.387 (80.2%)	367 (70.4%)	< 0.001
Unemployed	343 (19.8%)	154 (29.6%)	-0.001
Substance Use	515 (19.070)	131 (29:070)	
Singe drinking			
Never	1 011 (58 4%)	262 (50 3%)	< 0.001
Monthly or loss	569 (22 80/)	202(30.370) 192(25.104)	<0.001
Wooldary daily	151 (9 704)	76(33.170)	
Serrabia Llas	131 (0.770)	/0 (14.0/0)	
No	017 (F2 00/)	226 (45 20/)	0.004
	917 (33.0%)	230 (43.3%) 150 (29.99/)	0.004
weekly or less frequent	403 (20.8%)	150 (28.8%)	
	33U (20.2%)	155 (25.9%)	
urrent substance use treatr	nent	464 (00 40/)	0.012
No	1,600 (92.5%)	464 (89.1%)	0.013
Yes	130 (7.5%)	57 (10.9%)	
stimulant use			
Never	1,088 (62.9%)	226 (43.4%)	<0.001
Once	109 (6.3%)	72 (13.8%)	
Less than monthly	123 (7.1%)	91 (17.5%)	
Monthly	94 (5.4%)	43 (8.3%)	
Weekly	154 (8.9%)	57 (10.9%)	
Daily	162 (9.4%)	32 (6.1%)	
Sexual Risk Behavior			
anal intercourse while intox	icated		
No	958 (55.4%)	227 (43.6%)	< 0.001
Yes	772 (44.6%)	294 (56.4%)	
Circuit party last 6 months	, /	. ,	
No	1471 (85.0%)	444 (85.2%)	0.91
Ves	259 (15.0%)	77 (14.8%)	

	OR (95% CI)	p-value	aOR (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables		-	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Age (median, IQR)	0.99 (0.97-1.01)	0.30	0.99 (0.97-1.01)	0.21
Race/Ethnicity				
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.86 (0.46-1.59)	0.63	0.83 (0.47-1.47)	0.53
Latinx	1.04 (0.57-1.90)	0.89	1.02 (0.58-1.77)	0.96
Other	1.14 (0.56-2.33)	0.72	1.27 (0.65-2.49)	0.48
HIV	. ,			
Negative	Ref		Ref	
Living with HIV	1.41 (1.04-1.91)	0.027	1.47 (1.09-1.98)	0.012
<u>Demographics</u>				
Education				
Less than high school	Ref		Ref	
High school	0.82 (0.53-1.27)	0.37	0.83 (0.55-1.25)	0.37
More than high school	0.63 (0.41-0.97)	0.036	0.69 (0.46-1.04)	0.08
Employment status				
Employed	Ref		Ref	
Unemployed	1.59 (1.21-2.10)	0.001	1.53 (1.17-2.01)	0.002
<u>Substance Use</u>				
Binge drinking last 6 months				
Never	Ref		Ref	
Monthly or less	1.21 (0.93-1.58)	0.16	1.22 (0.93-1.59)	0.15
Weekly/daily	1.62 (1.07-2.46)	0.023	1.70 (1.13-2.55)	0.011
Cannabis Use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Weekly or less frequent	1.15 (0.86-1.54)	0.35	1.12 (0.84-1.51)	0.44
Daily	1.31 (0.94-1.82)	0.11	1.28 (0.92-1.77)	0.14
Current substance use treatment	t			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.58 (1.04-2.40)	0.03	1.52 (1.02-2.28)	0.041
<u>Sexual Risk Behavior</u>				
Anal intercourse while intoxicate	ed			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.38 (1.07-1.77)	0.011	1.36 (1.05-1.76)	0.018
Circuit party last 6 months				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	0.88 (0.62-1.23)	0.45	0.85 (0.61-1.19)	0.34

Table 5.18 Unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios of factors associated with decreased stimulant use for final lasso model for the entire cohort (N=2,251 study visits)

Table 5.18 Unadjusted and adjusted regression coefficients of factors associated with last 6 month reported stimulant use frequency for final lasso model for the entire cohort (N=2,720 study visits)

	β (95% CI)	p-value	adj β (95% CI)	p-value
Control Variables				
Age	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	0.20	1.02 (1.00-1.03)	0.012
Race/Ethnicity	. ,		. , ,	
White	Ref		Ref	
Black	0.97 (0.67-1.43)	0.89	1.31 (0.98-1.75)	0.07
Latinx	1.12 (0.78-1.60)	0.53	1.33 (1.00-1.75)	0.048
Other	1.00 (0.65-1.54)	1.00	1.26 (0.88-1.80)	0.21
HIV				
Negative	Ref		Ref	
Living with HIV	1.97 (1.54-2.51)	< 0.001	1.49 (1.25-1.79)	< 0.001
Demographics	1197 (1107 2101)	00001	(1120 1177)	00001
Unstable housing				
No	Ref		Ref	
Ves	1 59 (1 38-1 83)	< 0.001	1 30 (1 14 1 47)	<0.001
Incarcerated last 6 months	1.57 (1.50-1.05)	-0.001	1.50 (1.17-1.77)	-0.001
No	Ref		Ref	_
Vec	1 51 (1 33 1 71)	<0.001	1 26 (1 13 1 41)	<0.001
I es	1.51 (1.55-1.71)	<0.001	1.20 (1.15-1.41)	<0.001
Na	Def		Def	
INO Vaa	Kel	<0.001	Ke I 1 10 (1 04 1 2()	0.012
	1.44 (1.25-1.08)	<0.001	1.19 (1.04-1.30)	0.015
<u>Substance Use</u>				
Cannabis Use	D C		D C	
No	Ref		Ref	
Weekly or less frequent	1.68 (1.48-1.91)	< 0.001	1.34 (1.19-1.51)	< 0.001
Daily	1.69 (1.44-1.98)	<0.001	1.29 (1.12-1.49)	<0.001
Regular other prescription dru	ig use		D (
No	Ret		Ref	
Yes	4.31 (3.36-5.53)	<0.001	2.49 (1.97-3.14)	<0.001
Cigarette/Vaping				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	1.55 (1.33-1.80)	<0.001	1.34 (1.17-1.52)	<0.001
Regular opiate use				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	3.02 (2.32-3.94)	<0.001	1.67 (1.31-2.14)	<0.001
<u>Sexual Risk Behavior</u>				
Anal intercourse while intoxic	ated			
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.28 (2.04-2.53)	<0.001	1.59 (1.43-1.77)	<0.001
Group sex while intoxicated				
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.23 (1.96-2.53)	< 0.001	1.40 (1.23-1.59)	< 0.001
Transactional sex	. ,		. ,	
No	Ref		Ref	
Yes	2.44 (2.11-2.81)	< 0.001	1.52 (1.33-1.75)	< 0.001
Last Partner				
The distant suite				
Used stimulants				
No	Ref		Ref	

Chapter 6.

Conclusions

In summary, this dissertation reports three distinct but related projects designed to understand the influence of stimulant use on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among a cohort of MSM in Los Angeles, California. The analyses detailed in this dissertation had two primary goals. The first goal of the dissertation was to utilize methods, specifically path analysis, latent class analysis, and machine learning techniques, to examine the influence of stimulant use on HIV transmission dynamics within a longitudinal cohort of MSM and to evaluate the extent to which these methods can be used to examine these constructs. The second goal of this dissertation was to provide a more nuanced understanding of the contributions that stimulant use has on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among MSM.

The first analysis examined the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal gonorrhea/chlamydia (GC/CT) using path analysis. Findings from this analysis demonstrated that depression and methamphetamine use contribute to increased sexual risk behaviors which, in turn, are associated with rectal GC/CT. Our results also demonstrated that the factors and patterns which contribute to risk behaviors may differ according to HIV status. Specifically, depression may have a stronger influence on sexual risk behaviors among HIV-negative MSM while methamphetamine may have a more substantial impact on risk behaviors for MSM living with HIV. Collectively, these findings demonstrate the potential utility of combined treatment and prevention efforts that link screening and treatment of stimulant use and depression with HIV/STI prevention and treatment.

The second analysis evaluated risk behaviors associated with patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use utilizing latent class analysis. Findings from this analysis revealed that patterns of sexual activities, and the specific substances that are used during those activities, confer different risk behavior profiles for HIV/STI transmission among this cohort of MSM. Sexualized stimulant use was positively associated with risk factors for HIV/STI transmission such as having an STI, engaging in transactional sex, attending a circuit/hookup/sex party, depressive symptoms, and was negatively associated with health protective behaviors, such as using biomedical prevention to prevent HIV transmission. Our findings additionally demonstrated that Black/Latinx MSM who engaged in sexualized stimulant use were more likely to experience syndemic health conditions, such as having an STI and depressive symptoms, than their Black/Latinx counterparts who did not engage in sexualized stimulant use. These disparities were particularly notable among Black MSM, where stimulant use only or stimulant/alcohol use during oral sex and receptive anal intercourse were negatively associated with the use of biomedical prevention. Findings from this analysis highlight the disproportionate impact that sexualized substance use has on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among MSM of color. These results demonstrate the potential utility of interventions that link substance use treatment with HIV/STI prevention and treatment. Findings from this study also provide critical information regarding sexual risk behaviors and syndemic conditions that surround sexualized stimulant and alcohol use which can be used to develop tailored HIV prevention interventions for stimulant-using MSM, a subpopulation of MSM at high-risk for HIV/STI transmission.

The third analysis in this dissertation compared factors associated with increased stimulant use in relation to HIV status using a machine learning and prediction modelling approach. Findings from this analysis demonstrated that increased stimulant use was positively associated with unstable housing and transactional sex across all models. These results underscore the importance of designing HIV prevention interventions that address the underlying factors that often drive the interdependent relationship between unstable housing, stimulant use, and transactional sex which contribute to ongoing HIV/STI transmission among vulnerable MSM subpopulations. These findings also suggest the potential utility of HIV prevention interventions that incorporate strategies such as contingency management, which provides linkages to financial or community resources in exchange for not using substances. This analysis highlighted differences in factors correlated with increased stimulant use based on HIV status. Specifically, among MSM living with HIV, polysubstance use was associated with increased stimulant use, suggesting that stimulants may be used in conjunction with other substances as a coping strategy to mitigate negative feelings associated with an HIV diagnosis, HIV-related stigma, or depressive symptoms. In contrast, increased stimulant use among HIV-negative MSM correlated with increased sexual risk behaviors, sexualized substance use, and last partner substance use, suggesting that sexual contexts and partnership dynamics may drive stimulant use among HIV-negative MSM. Findings from this analysis indicate that underlying motivations and factors which contribute to stimulant use patterns among MSM likely differ based on HIV status and suggest that these differences should be accounted for in the design of HIV prevention and treatment interventions.

To the best of our knowledge, these analyses were among the first to utilize these statistical methods to examine the impacts of stimulant use on HIV/STI transmission dynamics among a longitudinal cohort of MSM, which represents an important contribution to the literature. Specifically, our first project was one of the first to explicitly evaluate the relative contributions of methamphetamine use, depression, and sexual risk behavior on rectal GC/CT longitudinally using path analysis with a cross-lag panel design, which is an important step in disentangling the relationship between depression and methamphetamine use with HIV/STI transmission. This analysis demonstrated that conducting a path analysis using a cross-lag panel design can be a useful tool to account for time-varying confounding with longitudinal data. A limitation of this approach is the numerous paths across timepoints, necessitating the use of constraints to aid in the interpretation of the results. However, the use of constraints relies on the assumption that estimates

are stable across time and prevents the ability to provide standardized beta coefficients and direct/indirect effects. Our second project was among the first to utilize latent class analysis to evaluate patterns of sexualized stimulant and alcohol use at the level of specific sex acts that occurred. This analysis demonstrated that the use of latent class analysis can be a useful tool to classify individuals based on latent constructs and to evaluate characteristics based on class membership. Given that this cohort was a relatively high-risk cohort of MSM with high prevalence of substance use and sexual risk behaviors, our analysis demonstrated that latent class analysis can be a useful method to identify and analyze heterogeneities within data that may otherwise appear homogeneous. However, latent class analysis relies on the assumption that data is cross-sectional, not serial cross-sectional or longitudinal. While we feel that the use of latent class analysis was justified for this analysis as we utilized visit-level predictors and more complex analyses were outside the scope of this dissertation, our results suggest the potential utility of latent class analysis methods specifically designed for longitudinal data, such as latent transition analysis, for future research. The third project in this dissertation was among the first to utilize lasso for variable selection to evaluate factors associated with increased stimulant use among a diverse cohort of MSM. This project demonstrated that machine learning techniques can be a useful tool to select conceptually relevant predictors that are associated with increased stimulant use and to evaluate how those determinants may differ by HIV status.

The overarching purpose of this dissertation was to take a more nuanced approach toward understanding the contributions of stimulant use on HIV/STI transmission dynamics by utilizing the different statistical approaches we outlined above. Our results underscore the importance of future research and interventions to better understand the contexts in which sexualized stimulant use occurs, specifically those that are designed to understand and address the intersecting vulnerabilities which contribute to ongoing HIV/STI disparities experienced by subpopulations of
stimulant-using MSM. Furthermore, while the links between stimulant use and HIV/STIs have been well established, these analyses demonstrate that factors contributing to stimulant use and its impact on HIV/STI transmission dynamics are complex and likely dependent on the individual contexts in which stimulant use occurs, highlighting the importance of integrating improved substance use screening and treatment paradigms into clinical care and HIV treatment/prevention interventions. Current HIV prevention and treatment services often do not systematically screen for mental health comorbidities or substance use disorders and are often siloed from substance use treatment and mental health services.^{288, 289} Consequently, many substance use disorders and mental health conditions among MSM at risk for or living with HIV remain undetected and untreated, possibly contributing to low adherence to antiretroviral therapy and biomedical prevention, destabilization of financial resources, and poorer perceived quality of life.²⁹⁰ Collectively, findings from this dissertation highlight the importance of incorporating substance use treatment with HIV prevention and treatment efforts for stimulant-using MSM.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *HIV surveillance report, 2018.* 2020.
- 2. Grey JA, Bernstein KT, Sullivan PS, et al. Estimating the population sizes of men who have sex with men in U.S. states and counties using data from the American Community Survey. *JMIR Public Health Surveill* 2016; 2: e14. DOI: 10.2196/publichealth.5365.
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Estimated HIV incidence and prevalence in the United States, 2014-2018.* 2020.
- 4. Koblin BA, Husnik MJ, Colfax G, et al. Risk factors for HIV infection among men who have sex with men. *AIDS* 2006; 20: 731-739.
- Shoptaw S. HIV-positive gay men, MSM, and substance use: perspectives on HIV prevention. In: Wilton L (ed) Understanding Prevention for HIV Positive Gay Men: Innovative Approaches in Addressing the AIDS Epidemic. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2017, pp.75-92.
- 6. Sanchez TH, Zlotorzynska M, Sineath RC, et al. National trends in sexual behavior, substance use and HIV testing among United States men who have sex with men recruited online, 2013 through 2017. *AIDS Behav* 2018; 22: 2413-2425. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-018-2168-4.
- Barbee LA, Khosropour CM, Dombrowksi JC, et al. New human immunodeficiency virus diagnosis independently associated with rectal gonorrhea and chlamydia in men who have sex with men. Sex Transm Dis 2017; 44: 385-389. 2017/06/14. DOI: 10.1097/olq.00000000000614.
- 8. Crepaz N, Marks G, Liau A, et al. Prevalence of unprotected anal intercourse among HIVdiagnosed MSM in the United States: a meta-analysis. *AIDS* 2009; 23: 1617-1629.
- 9. Beyrer C, Sullivan P, Sanchez J, et al. The increase in global HIV epidemics in MSM. *AIDS* 2013; 27: 2665-2678.
- 10. Beyrer C, Baral SD, van Griensven F, et al. Global epidemiology of HIV infection in men who have sex with men. *Lancet* 2012; 380: 367-377. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60821-6.
- 11. Baggaley RF, White RG and Boily MC. HIV transmission risk through anal intercourse: systematic review, meta-analysis and implications for HIV prevention. *Int J Epidemiol* 2010; 39: 1048-1063. 2010/04/22. DOI: 10.1093/ije/dyq057.
- 12. Burgener A, McGowan I and Klatt NR. HIV and mucosal barrier interactions: consequences for transmission and pathogenesis. *Curr Opin Immunol* 2015; 36: 22-30. DOI: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.06.004.
- 13. Goodreau SM, Goicochea LP and Sanchez J. Sexual role and transmission of HIV type 1 among men who have sex with men, in Peru. *J Infect Dis* 2005; 191: S147-S158. DOI: 10.1086/425268.

- 14. Kelley CF, Vaughan AS, Luisi N, et al. The effect of high rates of bacterial sexually transmitted infections on HIV incidence in a cohort of Black and White men who have sex with men in Atlanta, Georgia. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2015; 31: 587-592. DOI: 10.1089/aid.2015.0013.
- 15. Xiridou M, Vriend HJ, Lugner AK, et al. Modelling the impact of chlamydia screening on the transmission of HIV among men who have sex with men. *BMC Infect Dis* 2013; 13: 436. DOI: 10.1186/1471-2334-13-436.
- 16. Tilchin C, Schumacher CM, Psoter KJ, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus diagnosis after a syphilis, gonorrhea, or repeat diagnosis among males including non-men who have sex with men: what is the incidence? *Sex Transm Dis* 2019; 46: 271-277. DOI: 10.1097/OLQ.00000000000964.
- 17. Harney BL, Agius PA, El-Hayek C, et al. Risk of subsequent HIV infection following sexually transmissible infections among men who have sex with men. *Open Forum Infect Dis* 2019; 6. DOI: 10.1093/ofid/ofz376.
- 18. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Sexually transmitted disease surveillance 2018.* 2019. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.
- Cohen MS, Council OD and Chen JS. Sexually transmitted infections and HIV in the era of antiretroviral treatment and prevention: the biologic basis for epidemiologic synergy. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2019; 22 Suppl 6: e25355. 2019/08/31. DOI: 10.1002/jia2.25355.
- 20. Cohen MS, Hoffman IF, Royce RA, et al. Reduction of concentration of HIV-1 in semen after treatment of urethritis: implications for prevention of sexual transmission of HIV-1. *Lancet* 1997; 349: 1868-1873. 1997/06/28. DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(97)02190-9.
- 21. Price MA, Zimba D, Hoffman IF, et al. Addition of treatment for trichomoniasis to syndromic management of urethritis in Malawi: a randomized clinical trial. *Sex Transm Dis* 2003; 30: 516-522. DOI: 10.1097/00007435-200306000-00009.
- 22. Passmore JA, Jaspan HB and Masson L. Genital inflammation, immune activation and risk of sexual HIV acquisition. *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* 2016; 11: 156-162. 2015/12/03. DOI: 10.1097/coh.0000000000232.
- 23. Mayer KH and Venkatesh KK. Interactions of HIV, other sexually transmitted diseases, and genital tract inflammation facilitating local pathogen transmission and acquisition. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2011; 65: 308-316. 2011/01/11. DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00942.x.
- 24. Safren SA, Blashill AJ and O'Cleirigh CM. Promoting the sexual health of MSM in the context of comorbid mental health problems. *AIDS Behav* 2011; 15: 30-34.
- 25. Batchelder AW, Safren S, Mitchell AD, et al. Mental health in 2020 for men who have sex with men in the United States. *Sex Health* 2017; 14: 59-71.
- 26. Graham LF, Aronson RE, Nichols T, et al. Factors influencing depression and anxiety among Black sexual minority men. *Depress Res Treat* 2011; 2011: 587984. DOI: 10.1155/2011/587984.

- 27. Alvy LM, McKirnan DJ, Mansergh G, et al. Depression is associated with sexual risk among men who have sex with men, but is mediated by cognitive escape and self-efficacy. *AIDS Behav* 2011; 15: 1171-1179. 2010/03/11. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-010-9678-z.
- 28. Blashill AJ, Gordon JR and Safren SA. Depression longitudinally mediates the association of appearance concerns to ART non-adherence in HIV-infected individuals with a history of injection drug use. *J Behav Med* 2014; 37: 166-172.
- 29. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. 2018 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: lesbian, gay, and bisexual (LGB) adults. 2019. US Department of Health and Human Services.
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *HIV infection risk, prevention, and testing behaviors among men who have sex with men National HIV Behavioral Surveillance, 23 U.S. cities, 2017.* 2019.
- 31. Los Angeles County Department of Public Health. Meth in LA, http://publichealth.lacounty.gov/sapc/public/meth/?lang=en#meth-in-la (2019).
- 32. Reback CJ, Larkins S and Shoptaw S. Changes in the meaning of sexual risk behaviors among gay and bisexual male methamphetamine abusers before and after drug treatment. *AIDS Behav* 2004; 8: 87-98. DOI: 10.1023/B:AIBE.0000017528.39338.75.
- 33. Drumright LN, Patterson TL and Strathdee SA. Club drugs as causal risk factors for HIV acquisition among men who have sex with men: a review. *Subst Use Misuse* 2006; 41: 1551-1601. 2006/09/28. DOI: 10.1080/10826080600847894.
- Giorgetti R, Tagliabracci A, Schifano F, et al. When "chems" meet sex: a rising phenomenon called "chemsex". *Curr Neuropharmacol* 2017; 15: 762-770. 2016/11/20. DOI: 10.2174/1570159x15666161117151148.
- 35. Garofalo R, Mustanski BS, McKirnan DJ, et al. Methamphetamine and young men who have sex with men: understanding patterns and correlates of use and the association with HIV-related sexual risk. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2007; 161: 591-596. DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.161.6.591.
- Brennan-Ing M, Porter KE, Seidel L, et al. Substance use and sexual risk differences among older bisexual and gay men with HIV. *Behav Med* 2014; 40: 108-115. 2014/08/05. DOI: 10.1080/08964289.2014.889069.
- 37. Hoenigl M, Chaillon A, Moore DJ, et al. Clear links between starting methamphetamine and increasing sexual risk behavior: a cohort study among men who have sex with men. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2016; 71: 551-557. 2015/11/05. DOI: 10.1097/qai.00000000000888.
- Loza O, Curiel ZV, Beltran O, et al. Methamphetamine use and sexual risk behaviors among men who have sex with men in a Mexico-US border city. *Am J Addict* 2020; 29: 111-119. 2020/01/08. DOI: 10.1111/ajad.12985.
- 39. Reback CJ and Fletcher JB. Elevated HIV and STI prevalence and incidence among methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men in Los Angeles County. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2018; 30: 350-356. 2018/08/28. DOI: 10.1521/aeap.2018.30.4.350.

- 40. Ostrow DG, Plankey MW, Cox C, et al. Specific sex drug combinations contribute to the majority of recent HIV seroconversions among MSM in the MACS. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2009; 51: 349-355. DOI: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181a24b20.
- 41. Katz DA, Dombrowski JC, Bell TR, et al. HIV incidence among men who have sex with men after diagnosis with sexually transmitted infections. *Sex Transm Dis* 2016; 43: 249-254. DOI: 10.1097/olq.00000000000423.
- 42. Freeman P, Walker BC, Harris DR, et al. Methamphetamine use and risk for HIV among young men who have sex with men in 8 US cities. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2011; 165: 736-740. 2011/08/04. DOI: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.118.
- 43. Goddard SL, Poynten IM, Petoumenous K, et al. Prevalence, incidence and predictors of anal Chlamydia trachomatis, anal Neisseria gonorrhoeae and syphilis among older gay and bisexual men in the longitudinal Study for the Prevention of Anal Cancer (SPANC). *Sex Transm Infect* 2019; 95: 477-483. 2019/04/26. DOI: 10.1136/sextrans-2019-054011.
- 44. Lai HH, Kuo YC, Kuo CJ, et al. Methamphetamine use associated with non-adherence to antiretroviral treatment in men who have sex with men. *Sci Rep* 2020; 10: 7131. 2020/04/30. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-020-64069-2.
- 45. Starks TJ, Millar BM, Lassiter JM, et al. Preintervention profiles of information, motivational, and behavioral self-efficacy for methamphetamine use and HIV medication adherence among gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2017; 31: 78-86. 2017/01/17. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2016.0196.
- 46. Cen P, Ye L, Su QJ, et al. Methamphetamine inhibits Toll-like receptor 9-mediated anti-HIV activity in macrophages. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 2013; 29: 1129-1137. 2013/06/12. DOI: 10.1089/aid.2012.0264.
- 47. House RV, Thomas PT and Bhargava HN. Comparison of immune functional parameters following in vitro exposure to natural and synthetic amphetamines. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol* 1994; 16: 1-21. DOI: 10.3109/08923979409029897.
- 48. Iwasa M, Maeno Y, Inoue H, et al. Induction of apoptotic cell death in rat thymus and spleen after a bolus injection of methamphetamine. *Int J Legal Med* 1996; 109: 23-28. DOI: 10.1007/BF01369597.
- 49. Liang H, Wang X, Chen H, et al. Methamphetamine enhances HIV infection of macrophages. *Am J Pathol* 2008; 172: 1617-1624. 2008/05/07. DOI: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.070971.
- 50. Lawson KS, Prasad A and Groopman JE. Methamphetamine enhances HIV-1 replication in CD4+ T-cells via a novel IL-1β auto-regulatory loop. *Front Immunol* 2020; 11: 136.
- 51. Nair MP and Saiyed ZM. Effect of methamphetamine on expression of HIV coreceptors and CC-chemokines by dendritic cells. *Life Sci* 2011; 88: 987-994. 2010/10/12. DOI: 10.1016/j.lfs.2010.09.019.
- 52. Nair MPN, Saiyed ZM, Nair N, et al. Methamphetamine enhances HIV-1 infectivity in monocyte derived dendritic cells. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 2009; 4: 129-139. DOI: 10.1007/s11481-008-9128-0.

- 53. Santos G-M, Coffin PO, Das M, et al. Dose-response associations between number and frequency of substance use and high-risk sexual behaviors among HIV-negative substanceusing men who have sex with men (SUMSM) in San Francisco. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2013; 63: 540-544. DOI: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e318293f10b.
- 54. McCarty-Caplan D, Jantz I and Swartz J. MSM and drug use: a latent class analysis of drug use and related sexual risk behaviors. *AIDS Behav* 2014; 18: 1339-1351. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-013-0622-x.
- 55. Wohl AR, Frye DM and Johnson DF. Demographic characteristics and sexual behaviors associated with methamphetamine use among MSM and non-MSM diagnosed with AIDS in Los Angeles County. *AIDS Behav* 2008; 12: 705-712. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-007-9315-7.
- 56. Halkitis PN, Levy MD and Solomon TM. Temporal relations between methamphetamine use and HIV seroconversion in gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. *J Health Psychol* 2016; 21: 93-99. 2014/03/01. DOI: 10.1177/1359105314522675.
- 57. Vu NT, Maher L and Zablotska I. Amphetamine-type stimulants and HIV infection among men who have sex with men: implications on HIV research and prevention from a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Int AIDS Soc* 2015; 18: 19273. 2015/01/23. DOI: 10.7448/ias.18.1.19273.
- Nerlander LMC, Hoots BE, Bradley H, et al. HIV infection among MSM who inject methamphetamine in 8 US cities. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2018; 190: 216-223. 2018/07/29. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.06.017.
- 59. Jones CM. Patterns and characteristics of methamphetamine use among adults United States, 2015–2018. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2020; 69: 317-323.
- 60. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. *Results from the 2018 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: detailed tables.* 2020. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- 61. Mills TC, Paul J, Stall R, et al. Distress and depression in men who have sex with men: the Urban Men's Health Study. *Am J Psychiatry* 2004; 161: 278-285. 2004/02/03. DOI: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.2.278.
- 62. Millar BM, Starks TJ, Grov C, et al. Sexual Risk-Taking in HIV-Negative Gay and Bisexual Men Increases with Depression: Results from a U.S. National Study. *AIDS and Behavior* 2017; 21: 1665-1675. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-016-1507-6.
- 63. Parsons JT, Millar BM, Moody RL, et al. Syndemic conditions and HIV transmission risk behavior among HIV-negative gay and bisexual men in a U.S. national sample. *Health Psychol* 2017; 36: 695-703. DOI: 10.1037/hea0000509.
- 64. Wim VB, Christiana N and Marie L. Syndemic and other risk factors for unprotected anal intercourse among an online sample of Belgian HIV negative men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav* 2014; 18: 50-58. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-013-0516-y.
- 65. Dyer KR and Cruickshank CC. Depression and other psychological health problems among methamphetamine dependent patients in treatment: Implications for assessment and treatment outcome. *Aust Psychol* 2005; 40: 96-108. DOI: 10.1080/00050060500094647.

- 66. McKetin R, Lubman DI, Lee NM, et al. Major depression among methamphetamine users entering drug treatment programs. *Med J Aust* 2011; 195: S51-S55. DOI: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2011.tb03266.x.
- 67. Glasner-Edwards S, Mooney LJ, Marinelli-Casey P, et al. Identifying methamphetamine users at risk for major depressive disorder: findings from the Methamphetamine Treatment Project at three-year follow-up. *Am J Addict* 2008; 17: 99-102. DOI: 10.1080/10550490701861110.
- 68. Rusyniak DE. Neurologic manifestations of chronic methamphetamine abuse. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* 2013; 36: 261-275.
- 69. Sekine Y, Ouchi Y, Sugihara G, et al. Methamphetamine causes microglial activation in the brains of human abusers. *J Neurosci* 2008; 28: 5756-5761.
- 70. Zweben JE, Cohen JB, Christian D, et al. Psychiatric symptoms in methamphetamine users. *Am J Addict* 2004; 13: 181-190.
- 71. Scott JC, Woods SP, Matt GE, et al. Neurocognitive effects of methamphetamine: a critical review and meta-analysis. *Neuropsychol* Rev 2007; 17: 275-297.
- 72. Rawson RA, Gonzales R and Brethen P. Treatment of methamphetamine use disorders: an update. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2002; 23: 145-150.
- 73. Conway KP, Compton W, Stinson FS, et al. Lifetime comorbidity of DSM-IV mood and anxiety disorders and specific drug use disorders: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *J Clin Psychiatry* 2006; 67: 247-257.
- 74. Celentano DD, Latimore AD and Mehta SH. Variations in sexual risks in drug users: emerging themes in a behavioral context. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2008; 5: 212-218.
- 75. Sutcliffe CG, German D, Sirirojn B, et al. Patterns of methamphetamine use and symptoms of depression among young adults in northern Thailand. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2009; 101: 146-151.
- 76. Glasner-Edwards S, Marinelli-Casey P, Hillhouse M, et al. Depression among methamphetamine users: association with outcomes from the Methamphetamine Treatment Project at 3-year follow-up. *J Nerv Ment Dis* 2009; 197: 225-231.
- 77. Cook SH, Valera P, Wilson PA, et al. HIV status disclosure, depressive symptoms, and sexual risk behavior among HIV-positive young men who have sex with men. *J Behav Med* 2015; 38: 507-517.
- 78. Millar BM, Starks TJ, Grov C, et al. Sexual risk-taking in HIV-negative gay and bisexual men increases with depression: results from a US national study. *AIDS Behav* 2017; 21: 1665-1675.
- Wilson PA, Stadler G, Boone MR, et al. Fluctuations in depression and well-being are associated with sexual risk episodes among HIV-positive men. *Health Psychology* 2014; 33: 681.
- 80. Hanson KE, Mansergh G, Koblin BA, et al. Depressive symptoms by HIV serostatus are differentially associated with unprotected receptive and insertive anal sex among substance-

using men who have sex with men in the United States. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2015; 68: e13-e16. 2014/10/17. DOI: 10.1097/qai.00000000000396.

- 81. Chen Y-H and Raymond HF. Associations between depressive syndromes and HIV risk behaviors among San Francisco men who have sex with men. *AIDS Care* 2017; 29: 1538-1542. DOI: 10.1080/09540121.2017.1307925.
- 82. Mustanski B. The influence of state and trait affect on HIV risk behaviors: a daily diary study of MSM. *Health Psychol* 2007; 26: 618-626. 2007/09/12. DOI: 10.1037/0278-6133.26.5.618.
- 83. Folkman S, Chesney MA, Pollack L, et al. Stress, coping, and high-risk sexual behavior. *Health Psychol* 1992; 11: 218-222.
- 84. Semple SJ, Patterson TL and Grant I. Psychosocial predictors of unprotected anal intercourse in a sample of HIV-positive gay men who volunteer for a sexual risk reduction intervention. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2000; 12: 416-430.
- 85. Lee Y-H, Salman A and Fitzpatrick JJ. HIV/AIDS preventive self-efficacy, depressive symptoms, and risky sexual behavior in adolescents: a cross-sectional questionnaire survey. *Int J Nurs Stud* 2009; 46: 653-660. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2008.11.007.
- 86. Safren SA, Reisner SL, Herrick A, et al. Mental health and HIV risk in men who have sex with men. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2010; 55 Suppl 2: S74-S77. DOI: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181fbc939.
- 87. Semple SJ, Zians J, Grant I, et al. Sexual compulsivity in a sample of HIV-positive methamphetamine-using gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Behav* 2006; 10: 587-598. 2006/06/07. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-006-9127-1.
- 88. Weatherburn P, Hickson F, Reid D, et al. Motivations and values associated with combining sex and illicit drugs ('chemsex') among gay men in South London: findings from a qualitative study. *Sex Transm Infect* 2017; 93: 203-206.
- 89. Bourne A, Reid D, Hickson F, et al. "Chemsex" and harm reduction need among gay men in South London. *Int J Drug Policy* 2015; 26: 1171-1176.
- 90. Mimiaga MJ, Fair AD, Mayer KH, et al. Experiences and sexual behaviors of HIV–infected MSM who acquired HIV in the context of crystal methamphetamine use. *AIDS Educ Prev* 2008; 20: 30-41.
- 91. Truong HHM, Kellogg T, Klausner JD, et al. Increases in sexually transmitted infections and sexual risk behaviour without a concurrent increase in HIV incidence among men who have sex with men in San Francisco: a suggestion of HIV serosorting? *Sex Transm Infect* 2006; 82: 461-466. DOI: 10.1136/sti.2006.019950.
- 92. Hoff CC, Chakravarty D, Bircher AE, et al. Attitudes towards PrEP and anticipated condom use among concordant HIV-negative and HIV-discordant male couples. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2015; 29: 408-417. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2014.0315.
- 93. Holt M, Murphy DA, Callander D, et al. Willingness to use HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis and the likelihood of decreased condom use are both associated with unprotected anal

intercourse and the perceived likelihood of becoming HIV positive among Australian gay and bisexual men. *Sex Transm Infect* 2012; 88: 258-263. DOI: 10.1136/sextrans-2011-050312.

- 94. Ramchandani MS and Golden MR. Confronting rising STIs in the era of PrEP and treatment as prevention. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2019; 16: 244-256. DOI: 10.1007/s11904-019-00446-5.
- 95. Lewinsohn PM, Seeley JR, Roberts RE, et al. Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) as a screening instrument for depression among community-residing older adults. *Psychol Aging* 1997; 12: 277-287. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.12.2.277. DOI: 10.1037/0882-7974.12.2.277.
- 96. Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl Psychol Meas* 1977; 1: 385-401. DOI: 10.1177/014662167700100306.
- 97. Choi SK, Boyle E, Burchell AN, et al. Validation of six short and ultra-short screening instruments for depression for people living with HIV in Ontario: results from the Ontario HIV treatment network cohort study. *PLoS One* 2015; 10: e0142706.
- 98. World Health Organization (WHO). The Alcohol, Smoking and Substance Inovlvement Screening Test (ASSIST): manual for use in primary care. In: Humeniuk R, Henry-Edwards S, Ali R, et al. (eds). Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organzation, 2010.
- 99. Selig JP and Preacher KJ. Mediation models for longitudinal data in developmental research. *Res Hum Dev* 2009; 6: 144-164. DOI: 10.1080/15427600902911247.
- 100. Cole DA and Maxwell SE. Testing mediational models with longitudinal data: questions and tips in the use of structural equation modeling. *J Abnorm Psychol* 2003; 112: 558-577.
- 101. Stata Corp. *Stata structural equation modeling reference manual: release 16.* 2019. College Station, Texas.
- 102. Acock AC. Discovering structural equation modeling using Stata. Stata Press Books 2013.
- 103. Wang J and Wang X. Structural equation modeling. 2020.
- 104. Streiner DL. Building a better model: an introduction to structural equation modelling. *Can J Psychiatry* 2006; 51: 317-324. DOI: 10.1177/070674370605100507.
- 105. Stage FK, Carter HC and Nora A. Path analysis: an introduction and analysis of a decade of research. *J Educ Res* 2004; 98: 5-13. DOI: 10.3200/JOER.98.1.5-13.
- 106. Pardo A and Román M. Reflections on the Baron and Kenny model of statistical mediation. *Anales de Psicologia* 2013; 29: 614-623.
- 107. Shrout PE and Bolger N. Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: new procedures and recommendations. *Psychol Methods* 2002; 7: 422-445.
- 108. Agnew-Brune CB, Balaji AB, Mustanski B, et al. Mental health, social support, and HIV-related sexual risk behaviors among HIV-negative adolescent sexual minority males: three U.S. cities, 2015. *AIDS Behav* 2019; 23: 3419-3426. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-019-02525-5.

- Wilson PA, Stadler G, Boone MR, et al. Fluctuations in depression and well-being are associated with sexual risk episodes among HIV-positive men. *Health Psychol* 2014; 33: 681-685. DOI: 10.1037/a0035405.
- 110. Swartz JA and McCarty-Caplan D. A Study of the Longitudinal Patterns of Stimulant and Amyl Nitrite Use and Sexual Behavior Pre- and Post-HIV Seroconversion Among MSM. *AIDS and Behavior* 2018; 22: 1395-1409. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-017-2008-y.
- 111. Colyer SP, Moore DM, Cui Z, et al. Crystal methamphetamine use and initiation among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men living with HIV in a treatment as prevention environment. *Subst Use Misuse* 2020; 55: 2428-2437. DOI: 10.1080/10826084.2020.1833925.
- 112. Peck JA, Reback CJ, Yang X, et al. Sustained reductions in drug use and depression symptoms from treatment for drug abuse in methamphetamine-dependent gay and bisexual men. *J Urban Health* 2005; 82: i100-i108.
- 113. Fletcher JB, Swendeman D and Reback CJ. Associations between major depressive episode, methamphetamine use disorder severity, and engagement in sexual risk-taking among methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav* 2018; 22: 1461-1466. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-017-1974-4.
- 114. Javanbakht M, Shoptaw S, Ragsdale A, et al. Depressive symptoms and substance use: changes over time among a cohort of HIV-positive and HIV-negative MSM. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2020; 207: 107770. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107770.
- 115. Fletcher JB, Clark KA and Reback CJ. Depression and HIV transmission risk among methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men. *Addict Res Theory* 2020: 1-8. DOI: 10.1080/16066359.2020.1807960.
- 116. Barrett BW, Abraham AG, Dean LT, et al. Social inequalities contribute to racial/ethnic disparities in depressive symptomology among men who have sex with men. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* 2021; 56: 259-272. 2020/08/12. DOI: 10.1007/s00127-020-01940-7.
- 117. Rubin LH and Maki PM. HIV, depression, and cognitive impairment in the era of effective antiretroviral therapy. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2019; 16: 82-95. DOI: 10.1007/s11904-019-00421-0.
- 118. Hood JE, Buskin SE, Golden MR, et al. The changing burden of HIV attributable to methamphetamine among men who have sex with men in King County, Washington. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2018; 32: 223-233. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2017.0306.
- 119. Halkitis PN, Fischgrund BN and Parsons JT. Explanations for methamphetamine use among gay and bisexual men in New York City. *Subst Use Misuse* 2005; 40: 1331-1345. DOI: 10.1081/JA-200066900.
- 120. Swartz JA and McCarty-Caplan D. A study of the longitudinal patterns of stimulant and amyl nitrite use and sexual behavior pre-and post-HIV seroconversion among MSM. *AIDS Behav* 2018; 22: 1395-1409.

- 121. Halkitis PN, Green KA and Mourgues P. Longitudinal investigation of methamphetamine use among gay and bisexual men in New York City: findings from project BUMPS. *J Urban Health* 2005; 82: i18-i25. DOI: 10.1093/jurban/jti020.
- 122. Halkitis PN, Mukherjee PP and Palamar JJ. Longitudinal modeling of methamphetamine use and sexual risk behaviors in gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Behav* 2008; 13: 783-791. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-008-9432-y.
- 123. Crepaz N and Marks G. Are negative affective states associated with HIV sexual risk behaviors? A meta-analytic review. *Health Psychol* 2001; 20: 291-299.
- 124. Houston E, Sandfort T, Dolezal C, et al. Depressive symptoms among MSM who engage in bareback sex: does mood matter? *AIDS Behav* 2012; 16: 2209-2215. 2012/02/11. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-012-0156-7.
- 125. Bancroft J, Janssen E, Strong D, et al. The relation between mood and sexuality in gay men. *Arch Sex Behav* 2003; 32: 231-242.
- 126. Pachankis JE, Rendina HJ, Ventuneac A, et al. The role of maladaptive cognitions in hypersexuality among highly sexually active gay and bisexual men. *Arch Sex Behav* 2014; 43: 669-683.
- 127. Fredericksen RJ, Walcott M, Yang FM, et al. Circumstances surrounding high-risk sexual experiences among primary care patients living with and without HIV. *J Gen Intern Med* 2018; 33: 2163-2170. DOI: 10.1007/s11606-018-4675-4.
- Yi H, Sandfort TG and Shidlo A. Effects of disengagement coping with HIV risk on unprotected sex among HIV-negative gay men in New York City. *Health Psychol* 2010; 29: 205-214.
- 129. Carballo-Diéguez A, Ventuneac A, Dowsett GW, et al. Sexual pleasure and intimacy among men who engage in "bareback sex". *AIDS Behav* 2011; 15: 57-65.
- 130. Starks TJ, Rendina HJ, Breslow AS, et al. The psychological cost of anticipating HIV stigma for HIV-negative gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Behav* 2013; 17: 2732-2741. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-013-0425-0.
- 131. Ristuccia A, LoSchiavo C, Kapadia F, et al. Motivations for alcohol use to intoxication among young adult gay, bisexual, and other MSM in New York City: the P18 cohort study. *Addict Behav* 2019; 89: 44-50. DOI: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.09.014.
- 132. Isaiah Green A and Halkitis PN. Crystal methamphetamine and sexual sociality in an urban gay subculture: an elective affinity. *Cult Health Sex* 2006; 8: 317-333.
- 133. Bourne A, Reid D, Hickson F, et al. Illicit drug use in sexual settings ('chemsex') and HIV/STI transmission risk behaviour among gay men in South London: findings from a qualitative study. *Sex Transm Infect* 2015; 91: 564-568.
- 134. Drückler S, van Rooijen MS and de Vries HJ. Chemsex among men who have sex with men: a sexualized drug use survey among clients of the sexually transmitted infection outpatient clinic and users of a gay dating app in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. *Sex Transm Dis* 2018; 45: 325-331.

- 135. Daskalopoulou M, Rodger A, Phillips AN, et al. Recreational drug use, polydrug use, and sexual behaviour in HIV-diagnosed men who have sex with men in the UK: results from the cross-sectional ASTRA study. *Lancet HIV* 2014; 1: e22-e31.
- 136. Arends RM, van den Heuvel TJ, Foeken-Verwoert EGJ, et al. Sex, drugs, and impulse regulation: a perspective on reducing transmission risk behavior and improving mental health among MSM living with HIV. *Front Psychol* 2020; 11: 1005. 2020/06/18. DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01005.
- 137. Jones-Webb R, Smolenski D, Brady S, et al. Drinking settings, alcohol consumption, and sexual risk behavior among gay men. *Addict Behav* 2013; 38: 1824-1830. DOI: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.11.011.
- 138. Wong CF, Kipke MD and Weiss G. Risk factors for alcohol use, frequent use, and binge drinking among young men who have sex with men. *Addict Behav* 2008; 33: 1012-1020. DOI: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2008.03.008.
- 139. Santos G-M, Rowe C, Hern J, et al. Prevalence and correlates of hazardous alcohol consumption and binge drinking among men who have sex with men (MSM) in San Francisco. *PLoS One* 2018; 13: e0202170. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0202170.
- 140. Allen VC, Myers HF and Ray L. The association between alcohol consumption and condom use: considering correlates of HIV risk among Black men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav* 2015; 19: 1689-1700. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-015-1075-1.
- 141. McCarty-Caplan D, Jantz I and Swartz J. MSM and drug use: A latent class analysis of drug use and related sexual risk behaviors. *AIDS and Behavior* 2014; 18: 1339-1351.
- 142. Wilkerson JM, Noor SW, Rhoton JM, et al. Differentially classified methamphetamine-using men who have sex with men: a latent class analysis. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2018; 192: 129-136. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.07.003.
- 143. Tobin KE, Yang C, King K, et al. Associations between drug and alcohol use patterns and sexual risk in a sample of African American men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav* 2016; 20: 590-599. 2015/11/13. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-015-1214-8.
- 144. Card KG, Armstrong HL, Carter A, et al. Assessing the longitudinal stability of latent classes of substance use among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2018; 188: 348-355. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.019.
- 145. Card KG, Armstrong HL, Carter A, et al. A latent class analysis of substance use and culture among gay, bisexual and other men who have sex with men. *Cult Health Sex* 2018; 20: 1424-1439. DOI: 10.1080/13691058.2018.1439186.
- 146. Achterbergh RCA, de Vries HJC, Boyd A, et al. Identification and characterization of latent classes based on drug use among men who have sex with men at risk of sexually transmitted infections in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. *Addiction* 2020; 115: 121-133. DOI: 10.1111/add.14774.
- 147. Trenz RC, Scherer M, Duncan A, et al. Latent class analysis of polysubstance use, sexual risk behaviors, and infectious disease among South African drug users. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2013; 132: 441-448.

- 148. Curtis TJ, Rodger AJ, Burns F, et al. Patterns of sexualised recreational drug use and its association with risk behaviours and sexual health outcomes in men who have sex with men in London, UK: a comparison of cross-sectional studies conducted in 2013 and 2016. *Sex Transm Infect* 2020; 96: 197-203. 2019/11/21. DOI: 10.1136/sextrans-2019-054139.
- Hui B, Fairley CK, Chen M, et al. Oral and anal sex are key to sustaining gonorrhoea at endemic levels in MSM populations: a mathematical model. *Sex Transm Infect* 2015; 91: 365-369. DOI: 10.1136/sextrans-2014-051760.
- 150. Glynn TR, Operario D, Montgomery M, et al. The duality of oral sex for men who have sex with men: an examination into the increase of sexually transmitted infections amid the age of HIV prevention. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2017; 31: 261-267. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2017.0027.
- 151. Crosby RA, Mena L, Geter A, et al. Similarities and differences in sexual risk behaviors between young Black MSM who do and do not have sex with females. *AIDS Behav* 2016; 20: 717-721.
- 152. Rajasingham R, Mimiaga MJ, White JM, et al. A systematic review of behavioral and treatment outcome studies among HIV-infected men who have sex with men who abuse crystal methamphetamine. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2011; 26: 36-52. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2011.0153.
- 153. Aralis HJ, Shoptaw S, Brookmeyer R, et al. Psychiatric illness, substance use, and viral suppression among HIV-positive men of color who have sex with men in Los Angeles. *AIDS Behav* 2018; 22: 3117-3129. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-018-2055-z.
- 154. Okafor CN, Gorbach PM, Ragsdale A, et al. Correlates of preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) use among men who have sex with men (MSM) in Los Angeles, California. *J Urban Health* 2017; 94: 710-715. 2017/06/11. DOI: 10.1007/s11524-017-0172-z.
- 155. Workowski KA and Bolan GA. Sexually transmitted diseases treatment guidelines, 2015. *MMWR Recomm Rep* 2015; 64: 1-137.
- 156. Weller BE, Bowen NK and Faubert SJ. Latent class analysis: a guide to best practice. *J Black Psychol* 2020; 46: 287-311. DOI: 10.1177/0095798420930932.
- 157. Williams GA and Kibowski F. Latent class analysis and latent profile analysis. *Handbook of Methodological Approaches to Community-Based Research: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods* 2016: 143-151.
- 158. Vermunt JK and Magidson J. Latent class analysis. *The Sage Encyclopedia of Social Sciences Research Methods* 2004; 2: 549-553.
- 159. Morgan GB. Mixed mode latent class analysis: an examination of fit index performance for classification. *Struct Equ Modeling* 2015; 22: 76-86. DOI: 10.1080/10705511.2014.935751.
- 160. Schmiege SJ, Meek P, Bryan AD, et al. Latent variable mixture modeling: a flexible statistical approach for identifying and classifying heterogeneity. *Nurs Res* 2012; 61: 204-212. 2012/05/04. DOI: 10.1097/NNR.0b013e3182539f4c.
- 161. Killian MO, Cimino AN, Weller BE, et al. A systematic review of latent variable mixture modeling research in social work journals. *J Evid Based Soc Work* 2019; 16: 192-210.

- 162. Formann AK. Latent class model diagnostics a review and some proposals. *Comput Stat Data Anal* 2003; 41: 549-559. DOI: 10.1016/S0167-9473(02)00186-X.
- 163. Nylund KL, Asparouhov T and Muthén BO. Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: a Monte Carlo simulation study. *Struct Equ Modeling* 2007; 14: 535-569.
- 164. Nylund-Gibson K and Choi AY. Ten frequently asked questions about latent class analysis. *Transl Issues Psychol Sci* 2018; 4: 440-461.
- 165. Lanza ST, Bray BC and Collins LM. *An introduction to latent class and latent transition analysis.* 2013.
- 166. Lanza ST, Collins LM, Lemmon DR, et al. PROC LCA: a SAS procedure for latent class analysis. *Struct Equ Modeling* 2007; 14: 671-694. 2007/01/01. DOI: 10.1080/10705510701575602.
- 167. Clark SL and Muthén B. Relating latent class analysis results to variables not included in the analysis. 2009.
- 168. Nagin DS. Group-based modeling of development. Harvard University Press, 2005.
- 169. Mattison AM, Ross MW, Wolfson T, et al. Circuit party attendance, club drug use, and unsafe sex in gay men. *J Subst Abuse* 2001; 13: 119-126. DOI: 10.1016/S0899-3289(01)00060-8.
- 170. Baral SD, Friedman MR, Geibel S, et al. Male sex workers: practices, contexts, and vulnerabilities for HIV acquisition and transmission. *Lancet* 2015; 385: 260-273.
- 171. Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, et al. Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. *N Engl J Med* 2010; 363: 2587-2599.
- 172. LeMessurier J, Traversy G, Varsaneux O, et al. Risk of sexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus with antiretroviral therapy, suppressed viral load and condom use: a systematic review. *Can Med Assoc J* 2018; 190: E1350-e1360. 2018/11/21. DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.180311.
- 173. Tein J-Y, Coxe S and Cham H. Statistical power to detect the correct number of classes in latent profile analysis. *Struct Equ Modeling* 2013; 20: 640-657. DOI: 10.1080/10705511.2013.824781.
- 174. Yang C-C. Evaluating latent class analysis models in qualitative phenotype identification. *Comput Stat Data Anal* 2006; 50: 1090-1104. DOI: 10.1016/j.csda.2004.11.004.
- 175. Troiano G, Mercurio I, Bacci M, et al. Hidden dangers among circuit parties a systematic review of HIV prevalence, sexual behaviors and drug abuse during the biggest gay events. *J Hum Behav Soc Environ* 2018; 28: 983-991. DOI: 10.1080/10911359.2018.1479671.
- 176. Newcomb ME, Clerkin EM and Mustanski B. Sensation seeking moderates the effects of alcohol and drug use prior to sex on sexual risk in young men who have sex with men. *AIDS Behav* 2011; 15: 565-575. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-010-9832-7.

- 177. O'Byrne P and Holmes D. Desire, drug use and unsafe sex: a qualitative examination of gay men who attend gay circuit parties. *Cult Health Sex* 2011; 13: 1-13. DOI: 10.1080/13691058.2010.510610.
- 178. W. Hawkins B, Armstrong HL, Kesselring S, et al. Substance use as a mechanism for social inclusion among gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada. *Subst Use Misuse* 2019; 54: 1945-1955. DOI: 10.1080/10826084.2019.1621901.
- 179. O'Byrne P and Holmes D. Drug use as boundary play: a qualitative exploration of gay circuit parties. *Subst Use Misuse* 2011; 46: 1510-1522. DOI: 10.3109/10826084.2011.572329.
- 180. Knox J, Boyd A, Matser A, et al. Types of group sex and their association with different sexual risk behaviors among HIV-negative men who have sex with men. *Arch Sex Behav* 2020; 49: 1995-2003.
- 181. Weinberg MS, Worth H and Williams CJ. Men sex workers and other men who have sex with men: how do their HIV risks compare in New Zealand? *Arch Sex Behav* 2001; 30: 273-286. DOI: 10.1023/A:1002748013617.
- 182. Bond KT, Yoon IS, Houang ST, et al. Transactional sex, substance use, and sexual risk: comparing pay direction for an internet-based U.S. sample of men who have sex with men. *Sex Res Social Policy* 2019; 16: 255-267. DOI: 10.1007/s13178-018-0366-5.
- 183. Berg RC, Weatherburn P, Marcus U, et al. Links between transactional sex and HIV/STIrisk and substance use among a large sample of European men who have sex with men. BMC Infect Dis 2019; 19: 686. DOI: 10.1186/s12879-019-4326-3.
- 184. Prestage G, Mao L, Jin F, et al. Sex work and risk behaviour among HIV-negative gay men. *AIDS Care* 2007; 19: 931-934. DOI: 10.1080/09540120701203386.
- 185. Biello KB, Oldenburg CE, Mitty JA, et al. The "Safe Sex" conundrum: anticipated stigma from sexual partners as a barrier to PrEP use among substance using MSM engaging in transactional sex. *AIDS Behav* 2017; 21: 300-306.
- 186. Newman PA, Rhodes F and Weiss RE. Correlates of sex trading among drug-using men who have sex with men. *Am J Public Health* 2004; 94: 1998-2003.
- 187. Smith MD, Grov C and Seal DW. Agency-based male sex work: a descriptive focus on physical, personal, and social space. *J Mens Stud* 2009; 16: 193-210.
- 188. Braine N, van Sluytman L, Acker C, et al. Money, drugs, and bodies: examining exchange sex from multiple perspectives. *J Gay Lesbian Soc Serv* 2010; 22: 463-485.
- 189. Bowring AL, Pasomsouk N, Hughes C, et al. "We might get some free beers": experience and motivation for transactional sex among behaviorally bisexual men in Vientiane, Laos. *Arch Sex Behav* 2017; 46: 1047-1059.
- 190. Minichiello V, Scott J and Callander D. A new public health context to understand male sex work. *BMC Public Health* 2015; 15: 1-11.
- 191. Javanbakht M, Ragsdale A, Shoptaw S, et al. Transactional Sex among Men Who Have Sex with Men: Differences by Substance Use and HIV Status. *J Urban Health* 2019; 96: 429-441. DOI: 10.1007/s11524-018-0309-8.

- 192. Oldenburg CE, Perez-Brumer AG, Biello KB, et al. Transactional sex among men who have sex with men in Latin America: economic, sociodemographic, and psychosocial factors. *Am J Public Health* 2015; 105: e95-e102.
- 193. Nerlander L, Hess KL, Sionean C, et al. Exchange sex and HIV infection among men who have sex with men: 20 US cities, 2011. *AIDS Behav* 2017; 21: 2283-2294. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-016-1450-6.
- 194. Golub SA. PrEP stigma: implicit and explicit drivers of disparity. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2018; 15: 190-197. DOI: 10.1007/s11904-018-0385-0.
- Dombrowski JC, Simoni JM, Katz DA, et al. Barriers to HIV care and treatment among participants in a public health HIV care relinkage program. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2015; 29: 279-287. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2014.0346.
- 196. Tso LS, Best J, Beanland R, et al. Facilitators and barriers in HIV linkage to care interventions: a qualitative evidence review. *AIDS* 2016; 30: 1639-1653. DOI: 10.1097/QAD.00000000001101.
- 197. Cavaleri MA, Kalogerogiannis K, McKay MM, et al. Barriers to HIV care: an exploration of the complexities that influence engagement in and utilization of treatment. *Soc Work Health Care* 2010; 49: 934-945. DOI: 10.1080/00981389.2010.514563.
- 198. Storholm ED, Volk JE, Marcus JL, et al. Risk perception, sexual behaviors, and PrEP adherence among substance-using men who have sex with men: a qualitative study. *Prev Sci* 2017; 18: 737-747. DOI: 10.1007/s11121-017-0799-8.
- 199. Parsons JT, Kowalczyk WJ, Botsko M, et al. Aggregate versus day level association between methamphetamine use and HIV medication non-adherence among gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Behav* 2013; 17: 1478-1487. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-013-0463-7.
- 200. Marquez C, Mitchell SJ, Hare CB, et al. Methamphetamine use, sexual activity, patient– provider communication, and medication adherence among HIV-infected patients in care, San Francisco 2004–2006. *AIDS Care* 2009; 21: 575-582. DOI: 10.1080/09540120802385579.
- 201. Reback CJ, Larkins S and Shoptaw S. Methamphetamine abuse as a barrier to HIV medication adherence among gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Care* 2003; 15: 775-785. DOI: 10.1080/09540120310001618621.
- 202. Closson EF, Mitty JA, Malone J, et al. Exploring strategies for PrEP adherence and dosing preferences in the context of sexualized recreational drug use among MSM: a qualitative study. *AIDS Care* 2018; 30: 191-198. DOI: 10.1080/09540121.2017.1360992.
- 203. Tomkins A, George R and Kliner M. Sexualised drug taking among men who have sex with men: a systematic review. *Perspect Public Health* 2018; 139: 23-33. DOI: 10.1177/1757913918778872.
- 204. Fletcher JB and Reback CJ. Depression mediates and moderates effects of methamphetamine use on sexual risk taking among treatment-seeking gay and bisexual men. *Health Psychol* 2015; 34: 865-869. doi:10.1037/hea0000207. DOI: 10.1037/hea0000207.

- 205. Walters SM, Braksmajer A, Coston B, et al. A syndemic model of exchange sex among HIV-positive men who have sex with men. *Arch Sex Behav* 2020; 49: 1965-1978.
- 206. Oginni OA, Mapayi BM, Afolabi OT, et al. Association between risky sexual behavior and a psychosocial syndemic among Nigerian men who have sex with men. *J Gay Lesbian Ment Health* 2019; 23: 168-185. DOI: 10.1080/19359705.2018.1552640.
- 207. Lelutiu-Weinberger C and Golub SA. Enhancing PrEP access for Black and Latino men who have sex with men. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr* 2016; 73: 547-555. DOI: 10.1097/QAI.00000000001140.
- 208. Boone MR, Cook SH and Wilson P. Substance use and sexual risk behavior in HIV-positive men who have sex with men: an episode-level analysis. *AIDS Behav* 2013; 17: 1883-1887. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-012-0167-4.
- 209. Maksut JL, Eaton LA, Siembida EJ, et al. Health care discrimination, sex behavior disclosure, and awareness of pre-exposure prophylaxis among Black men who have sex with men. *Stigma Health* 2018; 3: 330-337.
- 210. Cahill S, Taylor SW, Elsesser SA, et al. Stigma, medical mistrust, and perceived racism may affect PrEP awareness and uptake in Black compared to White gay and bisexual men in Jackson, Mississippi and Boston, Massachusetts. *AIDS Care* 2017; 29: 1351-1358.
- 211. Remy LM, Majee W, Teti M, et al. Perceptions of Black men who have sex with men about accessing and taking PrEP: a qualitative study. *J HIV AIDS Soc Serv* 2020; 19: 263-282. DOI: 10.1080/15381501.2020.1824843.
- 212. Brooks RA, Nieto O, Landrian A, et al. Experiences of pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP)– related stigma among Black MSM PrEP Users in Los Angeles. J Urban Health 2020; 97: 679-691.
- 213. Fields EL, Hussen SA and Malebranche DJ. Mind the gap: HIV prevention among young Black men who have sex with men. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2020; 17: 632-642. DOI: 10.1007/s11904-020-00532-z.
- 214. Stall R, Mills TC, Williamson J, et al. Association of co-occurring psychosocial health problems and increased vulnerability to HIV/AIDS among urban men who have sex with men. *Am J Public Health* 2003; 93: 939-942.
- 215. Mustanski B, Garofalo R, Herrick A, et al. Psychosocial health problems increase risk for HIV among urban young men who have sex with men: preliminary evidence of a syndemic in need of attention. *Ann Behav Med* 2007; 34: 37-45.
- Scheer JR, Clark KA, Maiolatesi AJ, et al. Syndemic profiles and sexual minority men's HIV-risk behavior: a latent class analysis. *Arch Sex Behav* 2021. DOI: 10.1007/s10508-020-01850-4.
- 217. Chandler CJ, Meunier É, Eaton LA, et al. Syndemic health disparities and sexually transmitted infection burden among Black men who have sex with men engaged in sex work in the U.S. *Arch Sex Behav* 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s10508-020-01828-2.

- 218. Sullivan MC and Eaton LA. Intersecting barriers to PrEP awareness and uptake in Black men who have sex with men in Atlanta, GA: a syndemic perspective. *Int J Behav Med* 2020. DOI: 10.1007/s12529-020-09925-1.
- 219. Rucinski KB, Eaton LA, Learner ER, et al. Transactional sex and incident chlamydia and gonorrhea among Black men who have sex with men in Atlanta, Georgia. *Sex Transm Dis* 2020; 47: 355-360.
- 220. Matthews DD, Herrick A, Coulter RW, et al. Running backwards: consequences of current HIV incidence rates for the next generation of Black MSM in the United States. *AIDS Behav* 2016; 20: 7-16.
- 221. Muthén B and Muthén LK. Integrating person□centered and variable□centered analyses: growth mixture modeling with latent trajectory classes. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2000; 24: 882-891.
- 222. Wilson DP, Law MG, Grulich AE, et al. Relation between HIV viral load and infectiousness: a model-based analysis. *Lancet* 2008; 372: 314-320. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61115-0.
- 223. Attia S, Egger M, Müller M, et al. Sexual transmission of HIV according to viral load and antiretroviral therapy: systematic review and meta-analysis. *AIDS* 2009; 23: 1397-1404.
- 224. Eisinger RW, Dieffenbach CW and Fauci AS. HIV viral load and transmissibility of HIV infection: undetectable equals untransmittable. *JAMA* 2019; 321: 451-452. DOI: 10.1001/jama.2018.21167.
- 225. LeMessurier J, Traversy G, Varsaneux O, et al. Risk of sexual transmission of human immunodeficiency virus with antiretroviral therapy, suppressed viral load and condom use: a systematic review. *Can Med Assoc J* 2018; 190: E1350-E1360. DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.180311.
- Chartier M, Araneta A, Duca L, et al. Personal values and meaning in the use of methamphetamine among HIV-positive men who have sex with men. *Qual Health Res* 2009; 19: 504-518. DOI: 10.1177/1049732309333018.
- 227. Royston P. Multiple imputation of missing values. *Stata J* 2004; 4: 227-241. DOI: 10.1177/1536867X0400400301.
- 228. Schafer JL. Multiple imputation: a primer. Stat Methods Med Res 1999; 8: 3-15.
- 229. Kenward MG and Carpenter J. Multiple imputation: current perspectives. *Stat Methods Med Res* 2007; 16: 199-218. DOI: 10.1177/0962280206075304.
- 230. Glick SN, Burt R, Kummer K, et al. Increasing methamphetamine injection among non-MSM who inject drugs in King County, Washington. Drug Alcohol Depend 2018; 182: 86-92. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.10.011.
- 231. Anderson-Carpenter KD, Fletcher JB and Reback CJ. Associations between methamphetamine use, housing status, and incarceration rates among men who have sex with men and transgender women. *J Drug Issues* 2017; 47: 383-395.
- 232. Wu E, El-Bassel N, McVinney LD, et al. The association between substance use and intimate partner violence within Black male same-sex relationships. *J Interpers Violence* 2014; 30: 762-781. DOI: 10.1177/0886260514536277.

- 233. Patterson TL, Semple SJ, Zians JK, et al. Methamphetamine-using HIV-positive men who have sex with men: correlates of polydrug use. *J Urban Health* 2005; 82: i120-i126. DOI: 10.1093/jurban/jti031.
- 234. Ober A, Shoptaw S, Wang P-C, et al. Factors associated with event-level stimulant use during sex in a sample of older, low-income men who have sex with men in Los Angeles. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2009; 102: 123-129. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.02.002.
- 235. Semple SJ, Strathdee SA, Zians J, et al. Social and behavioral characteristics of HIV-positive MSM who trade sex for methamphetamine. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse* 2010; 36: 325-331. DOI: 10.3109/00952990.2010.505273.
- 236. Wray TB and Monti PM. Characteristics of sex events, partners, and motivations and their associations with HIV-risk behavior in a daily diary study of high-risk men who have sex with men (MSM). *AIDS Behav* 2019; 24: 1851-1864.
- 237. Hastie T, Tibshirani R and Wainwright M. *Statistical learning with sparsity: the lasso and generalizations.* CRC press, 2015.
- 238. Zou H and Hastie T. Regularization and variable selection via the elastic net. J R Stat Soc Series B Stat Methodol 2005; 67: 301-320. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9868.2005.00503.x.
- 239. Bickel PJ, Ritov Ya and Stoker TM. Tailor-made tests for goodness of fit to semiparametric hypotheses. *Ann Stat* 2006; 34: 721-741.
- 240. Breiman L. Statistical modeling: the two cultures (with comments and a rejoinder by the author). *Stat Sci* 2001; 16: 199-231.
- 241. Muthukrishnan R and Rohini R. LASSO: a feature selection technique in predictive modeling for machine learning. In: 2016 IEEE International Conference on Advances in Computer Applications (ICACA) 24-24 Oct. 2016 2016, pp.18-20.
- 242. Tibshirani R. Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso: a retrospective. *J R Stat Soc Series B Stat Methodol* 2011; 73: 273-282. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9868.2011.00771.x.
- 243. James G, Witten D, Hastie T, et al. An introduction to statistical learning. Springer, 2013.
- 244. Stata Corp LLC. Lasso reference manual. Stata Press, 2019.
- 245. Hastie T, Tibshirani R and Friedman J. *The elements of statistical learning: data mining, inference, and prediction.* Springer Science & Business Media, 2009.
- 246. Melkumova L and Shatskikh SY. Comparing ridge and LASSO estimators for data analysis. *Procedia Eng* 2017; 201: 746-755.
- 247. Friedman J, Hastie T and Tibshirani R. Regularization paths for generalized linear models via coordinate descent. *J Stat Softw* 2010; 33: 1-22.
- 248. Lasko TA, Bhagwat JG, Zou KH, et al. The use of receiver operating characteristic curves in biomedical informatics. *J Biomed Inform* 2005; 38: 404-415. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbi.2005.02.008.

- 249. Sinha AP and May JH. Evaluating and tuning predictive data mining models using receiver operating characteristic curves. *J Manag Inf Syst* 2004; 21: 249-280. DOI: 10.1080/07421222.2004.11045815.
- 250. Boughorbel S, Jarray F and El-Anbari M. Optimal classifier for imbalanced data using Matthews Correlation Coefficient metric. *PLoS One* 2017; 12: e0177678. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0177678.
- 251. Yao J and Shepperd M. Assessing software defection prediction performance: why using the Matthews correlation coefficient matters. *Proceedings of the Evaluation and Assessment in Software Engineering*. Trondheim, Norway: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020, p. 120–129.
- 252. Chicco D and Jurman G. The advantages of the Matthews correlation coefficient (MCC) over F1 score and accuracy in binary classification evaluation. *BMC Genomics* 2020; 21: 6.
- 253. Cheng T, Wood E, Nguyen P, et al. Increases and decreases in drug use attributed to housing status among street-involved youth in a Canadian setting. *Harm Reduct J* 2014; 11: 12. DOI: 10.1186/1477-7517-11-12.
- 254. Semple SJ, Strathdee SA, Zians J, et al. Social and behavioral characteristics of HIV-positive MSM who trade sex for methamphetamine. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse* 2010; 36: 325-331. 2010/10/20. DOI: 10.3109/00952990.2010.505273.
- 255. Li MJ, Okafor CN, Gorbach PM, et al. Intersecting burdens: homophobic victimization, unstable housing, and methamphetamine use in a cohort of men of color who have sex with men. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2018; 192: 179-185. 2018/09/29. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.07.039.
- 256. Baams L, Wilson BDM and Russell ST. LGBTQ youth in unstable housing and foster care. *Pediatrics* 2019; 143: e20174211. DOI: 10.1542/peds.2017-4211.
- 257. Romero AP, Goldberg SK and Vasquez LA. LGBT people and housing affordability, discrimination, and homelessness. 2020.
- 258. McCabe SE, Bostwick WB, Hughes TL, et al. The relationship between discrimination and substance use disorders among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. *Am J Public Health* 2010; 100: 1946-1952.
- 259. Hughes T, McCabe SE, Wilsnack SC, et al. Victimization and substance use disorders in a national sample of heterosexual and sexual minority women and men. *Addiction* 2010; 105: 2130-2140.
- 260. Fast D, Small W, Wood E, et al. Coming 'down here': young people's reflections on becoming entrenched in a local drug scene. Soc Sci Med 2009; 69: 1204-1210. DOI: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.07.024.
- 261. Johnson G and Chamberlain C. Homelessness and substance abuse: which comes first? *Australian Social Work* 2008; 61: 342-356.
- 262. Bungay V, Malchy L, Buxton JA, et al. Life with jib: a snapshot of street youth's use of crystal methamphetamine. *Addict Res Theory* 2006; 14: 235-251.

- 263. Barman-Adhikari A, Begun S, Rice E, et al. Sociometric network structure and its association with methamphetamine use norms among homeless youth. *Soc Sci Res* 2016; 58: 292-308.
- 264. Mimiaga MJ, Reisner SL, Tinsley JP, et al. Street workers and internet escorts: contextual and psychosocial factors surrounding HIV risk behavior among men who engage in sex work with other men. *J Urban Health* 2009; 86: 54-66.
- 265. Bobashev GV, Zule WA, Osilla KC, et al. Transactional sex among men and women in the South at high risk for HIV and other STIs. *J Urban Health* 2009; 86: 32-47. DOI: 10.1007/s11524-009-9368-1.
- 266. Javanbakht M, Ragsdale A, Shoptaw S, et al. Transactional sex among men who have sex with men: differences by substance use and HIV status. *J Urban Health* 2019; 96: 429-441. 2018/08/24. DOI: 10.1007/s11524-018-0309-8.
- Reback CJ, Peck JA, Fletcher JB, et al. Lifetime substance use and HIV sexual risk behaviors predict treatment response to contingency management among homeless, substancedependent MSM. *J Psychoactive Drugs* 2012; 44: 166-172. DOI: 10.1080/02791072.2012.684633.
- 268. Tracy K, Babuscio T, Nich C, et al. Contingency management to reduce substance use in individuals who are homeless with co-occurring psychiatric disorders. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse* 2007; 33: 253-258. DOI: 10.1080/00952990601174931.
- 269. Berry MS, Bruner NR, Herrmann ES, et al. Methamphetamine administration dose effects on sexual desire, sexual decision making, and delay discounting. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol* 2020. DOI: 10.1037/pha0000398.
- 270. Glynn TR, Llabre MM, Lee JS, et al. Pathways to health: an examination of HIV-related stigma, life stressors, depression, and substance use. *Int J Behav Med* 2019; 26: 286-296.
- 271. Earnshaw VA, Eaton LA, Collier ZK, et al. HIV stigma, depressive symptoms, and substance use. *AIDS Patient Care STDS* 2020; 34: 275-280. DOI: 10.1089/apc.2020.0021.
- 272. Mereish EH, Goldbach JT, Burgess C, et al. Sexual orientation, minority stress, social norms, and substance use among racially diverse adolescents. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2017; 178: 49-56. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.04.013.
- 273. Green KE and Feinstein BA. Substance use in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations: an update on empirical research and implications for treatment. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2012; 26: 265-278.
- 274. Jerome RC, Halkitis PN and Siconolfi DE. Club drug use, sexual behavior, and HIV seroconversion: a qualitative study of motivations. *Subst Use Misuse* 2009; 44: 431-447. DOI: 10.1080/10826080802345036.
- 275. Edelman EJ, Cole CA, Richardson W, et al. Stigma, substance use and sexual risk behaviors among HIV-infected men who have sex with men: a qualitative study. *Prev Med Rep* 2016; 3: 296-302. DOI: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016.03.012.

- 276. Latkin CA, Kuramoto SJ, Davey-Rothwell MA, et al. Social norms, social networks, and HIV risk behavior among injection drug users. *AIDS Behav* 2010; 14: 1159-1168. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-009-9576-4.
- 277. Hegazi A, Lee MJ, Whittaker W, et al. Chemsex and the city: sexualised substance use in gay bisexual and other men who have sex with men attending sexual health clinics. *Int J STD AIDS* 2017; 28: 362-366. 2016/05/15. DOI: 10.1177/0956462416651229.
- 278. Socias ME and Milloy MJ. Substance use and adherence to antiretroviral therapy: what is known and what is unknown. *Curr Infect Dis Rep* 2018; 20: 36. DOI: 10.1007/s11908-018-0636-7.
- 279. Shoptaw S and Reback CJ. Methamphetamine use and infectious disease-related behaviors in men who have sex with men: implications for interventions. *Addiction* 2007; 102: 130-135. DOI: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2006.01775.x.
- Derrick JL, Wittkower LD and Pierce JD. Committed relationships and substance use: recent findings and future directions. *Curr Opin Psychol* 2019; 30: 74-79. DOI: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.03.002.
- 281. Shariati H, Armstrong HL, Cui Z, et al. Changes in smoking status among a longitudinal cohort of gay, bisexual, and other men who have sex with men in Vancouver, Canada. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2017; 179: 370-378. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.07.025.
- 282. Gamarel KE and Mitchell JW. Comparisons between smoking patterns among sexual minority females and males in romantic relationships. *Health Educ Behav* 2018; 46: 176-184. DOI: 10.1177/1090198118757821.
- 283. Fulcher K, Shumka L, Roth E, et al. Pleasure, risk perception and consent among group sex party attendees in a small Canadian urban centre. *Cult Health Sex* 2019; 21: 650-665. DOI: 10.1080/13691058.2018.1508749.
- 284. Brown RE, Turner C, Hern J, et al. Partner-level substance use associated with increased sexual risk behaviors among men who have sex with men in San Francisco, CA. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2017; 176: 176-180. DOI: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.02.016.
- 285. Mitchell JW, Pan Y and Feaster D. Actor–partner effects of male couples substance use with sex and engagement in condomless anal sex. *AIDS Behav* 2016; 20: 2904-2913. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-016-1355-4.
- 286. Mitchell JW, Boyd C, McCabe S, et al. A cause for concern: male couples' sexual agreements and their use of substances with sex. *AIDS Behav* 2014; 18: 1401-1411. DOI: 10.1007/s10461-014-0736-9.
- 287. Halkitis PN, Green KA and Carragher DJ. Methamphetamine use, sexual behavior, and HIV seroconversion. *Journal of Gay & Lesbian Psychotherapy* 2006; 10: 95-109. DOI: 10.1300/J236v10n03_09.
- 288. Hitch AE, Gause NK and Brown JL. Substance use screening in HIV care settings: a review and critique of the literature. *Curr HIV/AIDS Rep* 2019; 16: 7-16. DOI: 10.1007/s11904-019-00434-9.

- 289. Dawson-Rose C, Draughon JE, Zepf R, et al. Prevalence of substance use in an HIV primary care safety net clinic: a call for screening. *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care* 2017; 28: 238-249. DOI: 10.1016/j.jana.2015.12.001.
- 290. Walter KN and Petry NM. Lifetime suicide attempt history, quality of life, and objective functioning among HIV/AIDS patients with alcohol and illicit substance use disorders. *Int J STD AIDS* 2015; 27: 476-485. DOI: 10.1177/0956462415585668.